
Please ask for  Democratic Services: Telephone (01362) 656295 
e-mail: democraticservices@breckland.gov.uk 

Website: www.breckland.gov.uk 
 
 

 

 
AGENDA 

 

NOTE: In the case of non-members, this agenda is for information only 

 

Committee - CABINET 

Date & Time - MONDAY, 26TH SEPTEMBER, 2022 AT 
10.00AM 

Venue - CARNEGIE ROOMS, CAGE LANE, 
THETFORD, IP24 2EA 
 

PUBLIC QUESTIONS 

There will be an opportunity for members of the public to ask 
questions of the Cabinet from 9.30 to 10.00am. 

 

 
THIS MEETING WILL BE STREAMED LIVE VIA THE LINK BELOW AND WILL BE ACTIVATED AT 
THE START OF THE MEETING 

 
https://www.breckland.gov.uk/Streaming-of-committee-meetings 

 

Members of the Committee requiring further information, or with specific 
questions, are asked to raise these with the appropriate officer at least 
two working days before the meeting.  If the information requested is 

available, this will be provided, and reported to Committee. 

 
 

The Cabinet 
  
Cllr Sam Chapman-Allen (Chairman) 
Cllr Paul Claussen (Vice-Chairman) 
Cllr Gordon Bambridge 
Cllr Philip Cowen 
Cllr Paul Hewett 
 

Cllr Jane James 
Cllr Ian Sherwood 
Cllr Sarah Suggitt 
Cllr Alison Webb 
 

 

 
Democratic Services  
Elizabeth House, Walpole Loke, 
Dereham Norfolk, NR19 1EE 
 

 

Date: Wednesday 14 September 2022  

Public Document Pack

mailto:democraticservices@breckland.gov.uk
https://www.breckland.gov.uk/Streaming-of-committee-meetings




 
Cabinet 

26 September 2022 

 

 

PART A - ITEMS OPEN TO THE PUBLIC 

 

 Page(s) 
herewith 

1. MINUTES  5 - 14 

 To confirm the Minutes of the meeting held on 25 July 2022. 
 

 

2. APOLOGIES   

 To receive apologies for absence.   
 

 

3. URGENT BUSINESS   

 To note whether the Chairman proposes to accept any item as urgent 
business, pursuant to Section 100(B)(4)(b) of the Local Government Act 
1972. 
 

 

4. DECLARATION OF INTERESTS   

 The duties to register, disclose and not to participate for the entire 
consideration of the matter, in respect of any matter in which a Member has 
a disclosable pecuniary interest are set out in Chapter 7 of the Localism Act 
2011.  Members are also required to withdraw from the meeting room as 
stated in the Standing Orders of this Council. 
 

 

5. NON-MEMBERS WISHING TO ADDRESS THE MEETING   

 To note the names of any non-members who wish to address the meeting. 
 

 

6. CHAIRMAN'S ANNOUNCEMENTS (IF ANY)   

7. BRECKLAND COMMUNITY FUNDING APPLICATIONS (STANDING 
ITEM)  

 

 To consider the grants put forward (if any).   
 

 

8. QUARTER 1 PERFORMANCE REPORT  15 - 29 

 Report of Councillor Jane James, Executive Member for Customer and 
Corporate Services. 
 

 

9. QUARTER 1 FINANCIAL PERFORMANCE REPORT 2022-23  30 - 40 

 Report of Councillor Phil Cowen, Executive Member for Finance, Revenue 
& Benefits. 
 

 

10. ATTLEBOROUGH LEISURE PROJECT  41 - 53 

 Report of Councillor Alison Webb, Executive Member for Health & 
Communities. 
 

 

11. BRECKLAND BRIDGE BUSINESS PLAN REPORT  54 - 89 

 Report of Councillor Paul Hewett, Executive Member for Property, Projects 
& Procurement. 
 

 



Cabinet 
26 September 2022 

 
 
 Page(s) 

herewith 

12. BRECKLAND LOCAL PLAN: PARTIAL REVIEW  90 - 95 

 Report by Sarah Suggitt, Executive Member for Strategic & Operational 
Planning. 
 

 

13. CORPORATE PEER CHALLENGE  96 - 122 

 Report of The Leader Councillor Sam Chapman-Allen and Chief Executive 
Maxine O’Mahony. 
 

 

14. NEXT MEETING   

 To note that the date of the next meeting of Cabinet will be held on Monday 
21 November at 9.30am at Swaffham Town Hall, 4 London Street, 
Swaffham, PE37 7DQ. 
 
There will be an opportunity for the public to ask questions of the Cabinet 
from 9.30am, the main meeting will follow at 10.00am. 
 

 

 



 
 
 

 

1 

BRECKLAND COUNCIL 
 

At a Meeting of the 
 

CABINET 
 

Held on Monday, 25 July 2022 at 9.30 am in 
The Breckland Conference Centre, Anglia Room, Elizabeth House, Walpole Loke, 

Dereham, NR19 1EE 
 

PRESENT  
Cllr Sam Chapman-Allen 
(Chairman) 
Cllr Paul Claussen (Vice-
Chairman) 
Cllr Gordon Bambridge 
Cllr Philip Cowen 
 

Cllr Jane James 
Cllr Ian Sherwood 
Cllr Sarah Suggitt 
Cllr Alison Webb 
 

 
Also Present  
Cllr Timothy Birt 
Cllr Bill Borrett 
Cllr Vera Dale 
 

Cllr Philip Morton 
Cllr Peter Wilkinson 
Cllr Helen Crane 
 

 
In Attendance  
Andrew D'Arcy - Planning Policy Manager 
Andrew Holdsworth - Assistant Director Economy and Growth 
Stephen James - Executive Director 
Rory Ringer - Democratic Services Manager (Deputy Monitoring 

Officer) 
Sarah Wolstenholme-Smy - Legal Services Manager (Deputy Monitoring 

Officer) 
Simon Wood - Director of Planning & Building Control 
Teresa Smith - Democratic Services Team Leader 

 
 Action By 

 

  
59/22 MINUTES   
  
 The minutes of the meeting held on 6 June 2022 were confirmed as a correct 

record and signed by the Chairman.  
 

  
60/22 APOLOGIES   
  
 An apology for absence was received from Councillor Hewett.   
  
61/22 URGENT BUSINESS   
  
 None.  
  
62/22 DECLARATION OF INTERESTS   
  
 None declared.  
  

5

Agenda Item 1



Cabinet 
25 July 2022 

 
 

2 

 Action By 

 
63/22 NON-MEMBERS WISHING TO ADDRESS THE MEETING   
  
 The Chairman welcomed non-Members to the meeting.  
  
64/22 CHAIRMAN'S ANNOUNCEMENTS (IF ANY)   
  
 On behalf of the residents of Breckland, the Chairman conveyed his thanks to 

the Norfolk Fire & Rescue Service who had worked in incredible conditions 
over the past few days. He also extended his thanks to voluntary 
organisations such as the Red Cross and 4x4 Rescue who had also 
supported the terrible fire within Ashill and gave recognition in how the 
community had rallied round and supported each other. 
 
He pointed out that Breckland Officers continued to work together with the 
Parish Council to provide support to those impacted by the fire.  

 

  
65/22 BRECKLAND COMMUNITY FUNDING APPLICATIONS (STANDING ITEM)   
  
 Councillor Webb, the Executive Member for Health and Communities 

informed Members that nine Bursary applications had been awarded as part 
of the Queen’s Platinum Jubilee celebrations and was proud to support those 
people in moving forward with their development. 
 
A total of £27,871 had been awarded in the recent Inspiring Communities 
match funding round which aimed to support community projects.  A number 
of examples were highlighted: 

 £1462 had been awarded to Carbrooke Millennium Green to restore 

wildflower areas along with the maze for children. 

 £5000 had been awarded to Dereham Baptist Church to support the 

running of the debt centre. 

 £5000 had been awarded to Dereham Hockey Club for the planting of 

boarders. 

 £4974 had been awarded to Prison Start to provide support to ex-

offenders. 

Councillor Webb said that the next round would commence from 15 
September and Ward Members were encouraged to support applications 
from their community groups. 
 
Councillor Cowen thanked the team in assessing the grants and added that 
the award to Caston Village Hall would help to maximise the use of the Hall 
for the residents of the village. 
 
Councillor Crane also added her thanks and encouraged Members to visit 
Carbrooke Millennium Green as it was a lovely place to visit. 
 
Councillor Bambridge said that the Community funding would support first 
responders in a remote area towards a 5-mile radius of Foxley and Brisley. 
 
 

 

  

6



Cabinet 
25 July 2022 

 
 

3 

 Action By 

 
66/22 BRECKLAND LOCAL PLAN REVIEW: PARTIAL (SINGLE POLICY) 

REVIEW  
 

  
 Councillor Sarah Suggitt, Executive Member for Strategic and 

Operational Planning presented the report that sought approval for the 
publication of the pre-submission (Regulation 19) Partial Review of the 
Local Plan. 
 
It was explained that the Policy INF03 included a requirement for the 
Council to undertake a partial review of the plan with regard to housing, 
non-travelling gypsy and travellers, accessibility of homes standards 
and economic development. 
 
Following the adoption of the Plan in November 2019 a range of options 
that were available in respect of the Review of the Plan had been 
considered by Cabinet in June 2020. 
 
There were a number of other considerations that had emerged since 
the Council had resolved to undertake a Full Review of the Plan in June 
2020 including the need for a clearer understanding of the implications 
of Covid 19, the continued uncertainty on the standard housing 
requirement, an updated National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) 
and announcements on First Homes, as well as the publication and 
consultation on proposals for reform of the planning system in England 
(Planning for the Future) which had been due in August 2020. 
 
Following receipt of representations, it was intended that the Local Plan 
would then be submitted for examination and in order to ensure compliance 
with the provisions of policy INF03 this would be no later than the end of 
November 2022. 
 
Options: 
 
1) To approve publication of the pre-submission (Regulation 19) Partial 

Review of the Local Plan. 
2) To not approve publication of the pre-submission (Regulation 19) 

Partial Review of the Local Plan. 
 
Reasons for Recommendation(s) 
 
The preparation of a Local Plan was a statutory requirement and must 
follow a statutory procedure, including public consultation and 
examination. 

 
RESOLVED: 
 
1) that the publication of the Local Plan partial review as set out at 

Appendix A of the report be approved; 
 

2) to publish and invite representations upon the local plan partial 
review document together with the integrated assessment of the 
Breckland local partial review for a six-week period in accordance 
with Regulation 19 of the Town and Country Planning (Local 
Planning) (England) Regulations 2012 be agreed; 

 

7



Cabinet 
25 July 2022 

 
 

4 

 Action By 

 

 

3) that the appropriate period for the full update the Local Plan review 
should cover the period 2021 - 2046. 

  
67/22 BRECKLAND STATEMENT OF COMMUNITY INVOLVEMENT   
  
 Councillor Sarah Suggitt, Executive Member for Strategic and Operational 

Planning presented the report that sought Cabinet approval for a revised 
Statement of Community Involvement (SCI) in respect of plan making and 
Development Management. 
 
It was explained that the Statement of Community Involvement was required 
to be updated to include legislative changes.  A total of 141 representations 
had been received from 23 consultees.  
 
Councillor Birt noted that the report highlighted that the business sector 
ranged in size from the self-employed, smaller businesses and to larger 
organisations. As a self-employed person himself he had not been contacted 
in his business capacity to understand how he could get involved in planning.  
He asked how this group of people would be targeted to ensure they were 
involved. 
 
The Planning Policy Manager stated that he would ask those from small 
businesses or self-employed to contact the Council to ensure that they were 
kept in the loop.  The Director for Planning and Building Control added that 
traditionally those from smaller businesses or those that were self-employed 
had not been engaged, however, he would work closely with colleagues 
within Regeneration to identify those smaller businesses to ensure that such 
communication was put in place.   
 
The Chairman added that the Chamber of Commerce and Federation of 
Small Businesses would hold a database of the small businesses and 
suggested that they could offer support and share information.  It was agreed 
that contact would be made with these groups.  
 
Councillor Cowen stated that since Covid, working from home had become 
acceptable and as a result business rates were not required therefore such 
data would not be available.  He urged the Regeneration Team to 
communicate with small businesses so that knowledge could be shared once 
the Local Plan had been finalised.  
 
Options 

1) To approve a revised Statement of Community Involvement in respect 

of plan making and Development Management. 

2) To not approve a revised Statement of Community Involvement in 

respect of plan making and Development Management. 

Reason for Recommendation: 
 
The Preparation of a Local Plan and effective community engagement in the 
planning process was a statutory requirement. Plans must be underpinned by 
an appropriate evidence base, inclusive of an SCI, much of which was 
required at an early stage of the preparation process to inform future 

 

8



Cabinet 
25 July 2022 

 
 

5 

 Action By 

 
decisions over development strategies and allocations. 
 
RESOLVED that the Statement of Community Involvement be approved 
and adopted in respect of plan making and Development Management. 

  
68/22 NNDR DISCRETIONARY RELIEF   
  
 Councillor Philip Cowen, Executive Member for Finance, Revenue and 

Benefits presented the report that recommended to Full Council that the 
proposed update to Breckland’s Local Discretionary Rate Relief (LDRR) 
Policy and recognised Snetterton Heath Employment Zone (SHEZ) as a 
‘Growth Location’ be approved. 
 
He explained that in common with other local authorities Breckland Council 
introduced a local discretionary rate relief scheme in 2019 and just short of 
£190k had been granted.  He added that since 2019, Breckland had been 
successful in attracting funding to enhance the provision of electrical 
infrastructure to both Thetford and Snetterton, thereby unleashing potential 
for significant growth in employment within the District.  
 
The report built upon that success and had expanded the potential for rate 
relief across three additional strands: 
 

 The addition of enhanced provision for businesses seeking to relocate 

to or expand within identified growth locations, for example the 

Snetterton Heath Employment Zone (SHEZ) 

 Amending the assessment criteria for awarding relief, and 

 Updating the 2019 policy to reflect legislative changes 

Having developed the infrastructure that would see the increase in electricity 
supply, it was imperative that Breckland sought to compete on a more equal 
footing with other parts of the region, to remain competitive in the 
marketplace and realise the potential of those infrastructure investments.  
 
Councillor Claussen, the Deputy Leader and Executive Member for Economic 
Development and Growth added that it allowed the area to be more 
competitive in attracting businesses to the District which was vital. 
 
Councillor Birt asked how it would measure the effect and interventions of 
businesses that moved to the area.  He also asked if businesses should be 
encouraged to align with Breckland Policies on NetZero 2035 rather than 
national policy. 
 
The Assistant Director for Economy and Growth said that the policy 
developed in 2019 encouraged significant investment, and by building on this 
policy it would help to create new jobs, floorspace and possibly achieve a 
higher wage bracket and provide significant benefit to the economy.   
 
The Chairman added that the detail would be considered by Officers and the 
Deputy Leader on where best to provide support to businesses.  Ultimately, it 
was key to ensure that businesses were aware that the Council was there to 
support them and open growth and investment opportunities. 
 

 

9



Cabinet 
25 July 2022 

 
 

6 

 Action By 

 
Councillor Sherwood said that whilst Breckland had its own NetZero 2035 
policy businesses and individuals were also being encouraged to consider 
their own policy. 
 
Councillor Borrett added that by investing in the substation to bring power into 
businesses had shown the Council’s commitment to bring businesses to 
Breckland.  
 
Options: 
 

1) Recommend to Council that the updated LDRR Policy be adopted as 

proposed.  

2) Recommend to Council that the existing LDRR Policy be updated in a 

different manner to that suggested. 

3) Recommend to Council that they do not update the existing LDRR 

Policy.  

Reasons for Recommendation: 
 
The proposed amendments to the existing LDRR Policy will increase the 
attractiveness of the district as a destination for businesses to locate and 
grow 

 
Recognising places such as Snetterton Heath Employment Zone as ‘Growth 
Locations’ will complement other work ongoing and accelerate the rate of 
occupation. 
 
Delegating authority to the Assistant Director for Economy & Growth and the 
Assistant Director for Finance will enable the policy to be updated as 
necessary in the future in respect of any changes in legislation.  
 
RESOLVED to RECOMMEND TO FULL COUNCIL that: 
 

1) the proposed update and additions to the Local Discretionary Rate 

Relief Policy be approved; 

2) the Snetterton Heath Employment Zone be recognised as a ‘Growth 

Location’, and that authority be delegated to the Executive Member for 

Economic Development & Growth and the Executive Member for 

Finance, Revenue and Benefits to define additional ‘Growth Locations’ 

in the future. 

3) authority be delegated to the Assistant Director for Economy & Growth 

and the Assistant Director for Finance to update the LDRR Policy in 

line with any future legislative changes. 

  
69/22 NEW BUCKENHAM NEIGHBOURHOOD PLAN   
  
 Councillor Sarah Suggitt, Executive Member for Strategic Operational 

Planning presented the report that asked Members to "make" the New 
Buckenham Neighbourhood Plan as part of the statutory Development Plan 

 

10



Cabinet 
25 July 2022 

 
 

7 

 Action By 

 
for Breckland and update the district policies map with the relevant policies. 
 
The New Buckenham Neighbourhood Plan was designated in 2017 and 
following formal public consultation and an independent examination, a 
referendum was held on the 8 July.  There was a turnout of 44% with 92% in 
favour to support the New Buckenham Neighbourhood Plan. 
 
Councillor Suggitt also read a statement from Councillor Askew, who was 
delighted to endorse the recommendation and thanked the Neighbourhood 
Plan Team and Breckland Council Officers. 
 
Councillor Bambridge and Councillor Webb both fully endorsed the 
recommendations and commended the work that had been undertaken. 
 
Options: 
 
1) Council agrees to “make” the New Buckenham Neighbourhood Plan 

and be “made” as part of the statutory Development Plan for 
Breckland Council, as required by paragraph (4)(a) of section 38A of 
the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004 as “…more than 
half of those voting to have voted in favour of the plan …”, and to 
undertake the required publication, advise the Parish Council and 
other prescribed persons and subsequently update the district 
policies map. 

 
2) Council does not make the New Buckenham Neighbourhood Plan 

where “…it considers that the Plan would breach or would otherwise 
be incompatible with any EU obligation or any of the Convention 
Rights (within the meaning of the Human Rights Act 1998).” 

 
Reasons for Recommendation: 
 
It was recommended that Members endorse Option 1 as there was a 
positive vote in favour for ‘making’ the New Buckenham Neighbourhood 
Plan through a Referendum and there was considered to be compliance, 
rather than being incompatibility, with European obligations and Human 
Rights conventions. 
 
RESOLVED that: 

 

1) New Buckenham Neighbourhood Plan be confirmed, as written at the 
time of the referendum, be “made” as part of the statutory Development 
Plan for Breckland Council, as required by paragraph (4)(a) of section 
38A of the 2004 Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act (Option1); 
 

2) the decision as required by paragraph (9) of section 38A 2004 Planning 
and Compulsory Purchase Act be published; 

 

3) New Buckenham Parish Council and any other prescribed persons to 
meet the requirements of paragraph (10) of section 38A of the 2004 
Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act be advised; and 

 
RECOMMEND to FULL COUNCIL that: 

 

4) the Breckland District Policies Map to meet the requirements of 

11



Cabinet 
25 July 2022 

 
 

8 

 Action By 

 
paragraph 9 Town and Country (Local Planning) (England) Regulations 

2012 be amended. 

  
70/22 UK SHARED PROSPERITY FUND   
  
 Councillor Claussen, Deputy Leader and Executive Member for Economic 

Development and Growth presented the report that sought approval to 

undertake the necessary steps to submit an investment plan for UK Shared 

Prosperity Funding and the operation of that fund in Breckland from 2022/23 

to 2024/25. 

The funding of £1,621,471 had been provided by the Government that 

supported and would be used to support local place and skills.  The 

investment plan would look to support the following five key themes, which in 

turn also supported the Council’s Corporate objectives.  The key themes 

were: 

 Breckland Skills 

 Future Breckland & Town Centre Investments 

 Low Carbon Regeneration 

 Inspiring Communities 

 Business Support & Cluster Development 

Andrew Holdsworth, the Assistant Director for Economy and Growth provided 
a brief presentation that gave further information of the proposal. 
 
Councillor Wilkinson felt it was a vital piece of work and looked forward to 
seeing it develop. 
 
Councillor Birt asked for further detail in regard to the comment made within 
the report of Low Carbon Regeneration and asked what series of 
interventions had been set and how much it would cost. 
 
Councillor Claussen informed Councillor Birt that the information could not be 
supplied at the moment and that the detail would follow. 
 
Councillor Cowen welcomed the report and felt it naturally followed on from a 
previous report (agenda item 10) and would enable to drive investment and 
attract new business, enterprise and technology and how to develop 
businesses that took advantage of low energy investment.   
 
The Assistant Director for Economy and Growth said that a full business case 
was yet to be designed but it was hoped to bring in specific expertise to allow 
solutions to decarbonise.  Feedback from businesses had been received and 
had indicated that they would be willing to make co-investments if technical 
expertise could be sought. 
 
Councillor Borrett was pleased that the Government had allocated £1.6m for 
investment within the District.   

 

12



Cabinet 
25 July 2022 

 
 

9 

 Action By 

 
 
The Chairman shared his appreciation to the Assistant Director and his Team 
and thanked the businesses that had engaged.  The Government had 
recognised that District Councils were best placed to distribute the funding 
where it was needed and would go some way to provide the Council with the 
support growth and change. 
 
Councillor Morton asked when Members would see the final submission.  It 
was noted that the information would be shared in due course. 
 
Options 

1) To approve the recommendations.  

2) To seek a different investment approach to the one proposed.  

3) Do nothing.  

Reasons for Recommendation 
 
Agreeing to the proposed investment approach will enable the Council to 
benefit from significant investment in local priorities. It will allow us to develop 
a work programme, with partners, based around a few core priorities which 
link to evidenced needs and opportunities. It will allow the development of 
detailed delivery plans and interventions over time and retain a degree of 
flexibility and fluidity to respond to needs as they arise.  
 
RESOLVED that: 
 
1)  the proposed approach to utilising UK Shared Prosperity in Breckland, 

and recommend to Council to accept all related grant funding available to 

Breckland. 

2) Delegation be given to the Chief Executive, in consultation with the 

Leader, for the finalisation and submission of Breckland’s investment plan 

to DLUHC. 

3) Delegation be given to the Assistant Director of Economy & Growth, in 

consultation with the Deputy Leader, the administration, delivery and 

operation of the fund.  

4) Cabinet supports the proposed creation of a ‘Future Breckland Board’ and 

recommends to Council that Breckland appointments the Leader and 

Chief Executive to this body.  

RECOMMEND to Full Council that: 
 
5) all related grant funding available to Breckland utilising the UK Shared 

Prosperity be accepted. 

6) Breckland appoints the Leader and Chief Executive to the Future 

Breckland Board as and when it is formed.   

 

13



Cabinet 
25 July 2022 

 
 

10 

 Action By 

 
  
71/22 ANGLIA REVENUES AND BENEFITS PARTNERSHIP   
  
 The minutes of the Anglia Revenue and Benefits Partnership Joint Committee 

meeting held on 21 June 2022 were noted. 
 

  
72/22 NEXT MEETING   
  
 The arrangements for the next meeting on Monday 19 September in the 

Carnegie Rooms, Cage Lane, Thetford IP24 2EA were noted.  There would 
be an opportunity for the public to ask questions of the Cabinet from 9.30am, 
and the main meeting would commence at 10.00am.  

 

 
 
The meeting closed at 10.37 am 
 
 
 

CHAIRMAN 

14



BRECKLAND DISTRICT COUNCIL 
 
Report of:  Councillor Jane James- Executive Member for Customer and Corporate 

Services 
 
To: Overview and Scrutiny- 21st July 2022 
 Cabinet- 19th September 2022 
  
Author: Ryan Pack- Innovation and Change Business Partner 
 
Subject:  Performance Overview Report- Quarter 1 2022/23  
 
Purpose: To provide members of the commission with an overview of the council’s 

performance for the period 1st April 2022- 30th June 2022. 
 

 
Recommendation: 
 
1) Members of the cabinet are asked to note the report. 

 

 
1.0  BACKGROUND 
 
1.1  The Quarter 1 2022/23 Performance Report detailed in Appendix A aims to provide 

Members, businesses, and residents with an overview of how the Council is performing 
against several key strategic indicators. These indicators include the delivery of frontline 
services, financial performance and progress made towards achieving the overarching 
aims and objectives of the Council as set out in the Corporate Plan.  
 
In addition, the covering report will highlight areas of improved and high performance and 
where performance is challenging.  
 

1.2 Due to the publication date of this report, some indicators were unable to be captured. 
These will be given as a verbal update to Overview and Scrutiny and will be included in 
the Cabinet version of the report in September. 
 

 
2.0 Areas of success 
 
2.1 During Q1, the council saw strong performance in relation to major applications 

determined within the timescale. Despite a fall compared to last quarter and Q1 21/22, 
minor planning applications also performed above target this quarter. 
 

2.2  Both IT system availability and reports submitted within the deadline continued to perform 
strongly. 
 

 
3.0 Areas requiring improvement 
 
3.1 Q1 saw continuing challenging performance around the customer contact centre call 

times. As detailed, in appendix A, steps continue to be taken to alleviate the demand for 
the service. 
 

15

Agenda Item 8



3.2 There was also a rise in the number of complaint responses failing to meet their deadline. 
Previously, this has been an area of strong performance and as set out within appendix A, 
normal levels of service have now resumed. 

 
 
4.0 OPTIONS 
 
4.1 To note the content of the report 
 
4.2        Do nothing 
 
5.0 EXPECTED BENEFITS 
 
5.1  The Corporate Improvement and Performance Team will use the content of this report to 

identify areas of improvement. 
 
6.0 IMPLICATIONS 
 
6.1    Carbon Footprint / Environmental Issues  
6.1.1 Carbon Footprint / Environmental Issues have been considered and it is the opinion of the 

author that there are no implications. 
 
6.2     Constitution & Legal 
6.2.1  Constitutional and Legal issues have been considered and it is the opinion of the author that   

there are no implications. 
  
6.3 Contracts 
6.3.1 Contracts issues have been considered and it is the opinion of the report author that   there 

are no implications. 
 
6.4  Corporate Priorities 
6.4.1 The report presents progress monitoring of key performance indicators from the corporate 

priorities which highlight the areas of focus in the new BAU Covid era. 
 
6.5  Financial  
6.5.1  The report contains information on Council’s performance which does convey some 

information relating to financial matters. 
 
6.6 Health & Wellbeing 
6.6.1 The report contains information on Council’s performance which does convey some 

information relating to health and wellbeing. 
 
6.7  Reputation  
6.7.1 Performance issues can cause some reputational consequence. It is the purpose of this 

report to highlight performance issues at an early stage. 

 

6.8 Risk Management  
6.8.1 Performance issues may be subject to risk management measures to protect      

Council interests. 

 
6.9  Staffing 
6.9.1 The report contains information on Council’s performance which does convey some 

information relating to staffing. 
 

16



 
7.0 WARDS/COMMUNITIES AFFECTED 
 
7.1 No Wards or Communities are affected. 
 
8.0 ACRONYMS  
 
8.1 KPI- Key performance indicator 
 

Background papers:-  

 
Lead Contact Officer 
Name and Post:  Ryan Pack- Innovation and Change Business Partner 
Telephone Number:  
Email: Ryan.Pack@Breckland.gov.uk 
 
Key Decision: No  
 
Exempt Decision: No  
 
 
Appendices attached to this report:  

 
Appendix A Quarter 1 22/23 performance report 
Appendix B Water usage indicator breakdown 
 

17



Appendix A 
 

BDC Performance and Business Intelligence Report 
Q1 22-23 

 
 

 

Q1 22/23 report summary- 

 

The below table is a breakdown of the RAG (Red, Amber, Green) ratings for the attached performance report-  

Colour What these means Number of 
indicators 

Red Indicator requires improvement 3 

Amber Indicator is performing slightly below target 2 

Green Indicator is performing at or above target 5 

No RAG assigned to target This indicator is not part of the RAG rating due to the appropriateness of targeting this indicator  13 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

18



Appendix A 
 

BDC Performance and Business Intelligence Report 
Q1 22-23 

 

Inspiring Communities- Key Performance Indicators- 22/23   
 

 Bigger is 
better/Smaller 
is better 

Q1 
21/22 

Q4 
21/22 

Q1 
22/23 

Change 
against Q1 
21/22 

Change 
against Q4 
21/22 

Target Comments 

Leisure centre 
participation 

Bigger 92,612 170,082 165,276 +72,664 -4,806 Annual 
target 

The council defines its participation metric as any 
individual visit to any of its sites. Customer 
satisfaction, which has previously been recorded as a 
performance measure, is not currently being recorded 
by the council across any sites. This is an agreed part 
of the leisure recovery strategy. 
 
 A quarterly survey is however completed for Sport 
England’s Moving Communities strategy. When 
satisfaction reporting recommences, it will be 
included within the commentary for this indicator.  
 
 
 
 
 

Number of Cases 
Prevented from 
Homelessness 

N/A 35 52 56 +21 +4 N/A The service continues to work hard due to the high 
number of applicants contacting the council for 
Housing advice.  
 
Whilst there was a slight rise in Q1, the level of cases 
prevented remains within the norm when looking at 
levels over several years. 
 

19



Appendix A 
 

BDC Performance and Business Intelligence Report 
Q1 22-23 

 

 Bigger is 
better/Smaller 
is better 

Q1 
21/22 

Q4 
21/22 

Q1 
22/23 

Change 
against Q1 
21/22 

Change 
against Q4 
21/22 

Target Comments 

Number of notices served 
for category one hazards 

Bigger - - 17 - - - The council continues to work on its Tascomi system 
to ensure that accurate reporting of this indicator can 
be achieved. As a result of these project delays, the 
council is unable to report on % of Category 1 Hazard 
repairs complied with. To allow for scrutiny, this 
indicator has been altered to the number of notices 
served for category one hazards.  
 
Category one hazards are those where the most 
serious harm outcome is identified, for example, 
death, permanent paralysis, permanent loss of 
consciousness, loss of a limb or serious fractures.   

Number of DFG 
applications completed 

Bigger - - 29 - - - The council continues to work on its Tascomi system 
to ensure that accurate reporting of this indicator can 
be achieved. As a result of these project delays, the 
council is unable to report on the specific % of 
approved DFG applications completed within 140 
days. To allow for scrutiny, this indicator has been 
altered to the # of DFG applications completed whilst 
the project is ongoing.  
 
The team continue to work through a number of DFG 
applications. Once these have reached 140 days, we 
will be able to report the original indicator moving 
forwards.  

 

 

20



Appendix A 
 

BDC Performance and Business Intelligence Report 
Q1 22-23 

 

Thriving Places- Key Performance Indicators- 22/23  

 Bigger is 
better/Smaller 
is better 

Q1 
21/22 

Q4 
21/22 

Q1 
22/23 

Change 
against 
Q1 21/22 

Change 
against Q4 
21/22 

Target Comments 

% of Major applications 
determined within 13 
weeks or agreed 
extension 

Bigger 94.44% 95.83% 100% +5.66% +4.17% 70% Major planning application performance continued 
strongly in Q1. For Q1, 18 planning applications 
were determined. 

% of Minor applications 
determined within 8 
weeks or agreed 
extension 

Bigger 88.07% 92%  82.55% -5.52% -9.45% 80% Minor planning application performance continued 
strongly in Q1. For Q1, 146 planning applications 
were determined. 

Trade waste customer 
conversion rate 

Bigger - 29.5% 55% - +25.5% N/A Q1 saw an upturn in trade waste conversion rates. 
During this period there were 31 successful quotes 
out of the 56 given out. This included businesses 
who will join us at the end of their current 
commercial waste contracts. 

% of successful bin 
collections 

Bigger - 98.77% 91.66% - -7.11% 98% Q1 saw a period of mixed performance regarding 
successfully collected bins. April saw a collection 
rate of 94.14% (slightly below target) and May saw 
a collection rate of 97.91%. 
 
In June, the contractor Serco experienced a 
difficult period of COVID-related absences across 
its collection crews. As a result, the collection rate 
fell to 82%. This, therefore, resulted in an overall 
quarter of 91% successful collection rate. For 
context, this indicator is marked amber but would 

21



Appendix A 
 

BDC Performance and Business Intelligence Report 
Q1 22-23 

 

have been marked as red had the rate fallen below 
90%.  
 
The result of this June sickness meant that most of 
the bins not collected on the scheduled day were 
collected immediately the following day after the 
scheduled collection. This was to ensure that the 
impact on residents was minimal. Collections have 
stabilised since 24th June and the collections going 
into July have been completed on a daily. As a 
result, service levels are expected to return to their 
normal levels in Q2. 

Fly-tipping investigations 
with a successful 
outcome 

Bigger - 18 21 - +3 N/A In Q1, 23 instances of fly-tipping met the threshold 
for investigation. Of these 23, 21 resulted in a 
successful outcome. During Q1, the number of 
instances of fly-tipping and the tonnage of fly-
tipping fell compared to Q4 21/22. 

Food Businesses Rated 
'Generally Satisfactory' 
or above 

Bigger 98.86% 99.06% 98.96% -0.10% -0.10% N/A Q1 saw a small dip in the number of businesses 
achieving a 3-star or above rating. In total, 1,155 
food businesses were registered in the district as 
of the time of writing. A full breakdown of ratings 
can be found below- 
5* - 900 
4* - 192 
3*- 51 
2*- 7 
1*-5 

% of planned work 
completed according to 
agreed timescales 

Bigger - 100% 100% - - N/A This indicator is in relation to the % of planned 
works related to health and safety intervention 
programmes that are completed or resolved within 
their agreed timescales.  All 63 planned targeted 

22



Appendix A 
 

BDC Performance and Business Intelligence Report 
Q1 22-23 

 

works were completed by the H&S officers as part 
of the HSE intervention program (which included 
COVID Spot checks and H&S advise/requests).   

 

Breckland 2035- Key Performance Indicators- 22/23  

 Bigger is 
better/Smaller 
is better 

Q1 
21/22 

Q4 
21/22 

Q1 22/23 Change 
against 
Q1 21/22 

Change 
against 
Q4 21/22 

Target Comments 

Gas usage (kWh) Smaller 101,872 381,105 224,717 +122,845 -156,388 N/A These indicators relate to the usage on 
Breckland sites including Elizabeth House and 
Breckland House. This does not include any 
usage for leisure centres due to usage falling to 
a 3rd party. 
 
At the time of publication, data related to Q1 
electricity usage had not been received from the 
supplier. This will be given as a verbal update to 
Overview and Scrutiny. 

Electricity usage 
(kWh) 

Smaller 234,182 291,835 - - - N/A 

Water usage 
(Cubic m3) 

Smaller - - - - - N/A Please see attached appendix. Please note that 
this is a partial indication of water usage for Q1. 
This is a result of billing and usage levels not 
being received from suppliers at the publication 
date for this report. 

No of enforcement 
actions taken  

N/A - 15 21 - +6 N/A Enforcement action includes but is not limited to 
FPN (Fixed Penalty Notices) and warning letters 
and is related to a wider variety of areas. 

 

23



Appendix A 
 

BDC Performance and Business Intelligence Report 
Q1 22-23 

 
 

 

Working Smarter- Key Performance Indicators- 22/23  

 Bigger is 
better/Smaller 
is better 

Q1 
21/22 

Q4 
21/22 

Q1 22/23 Change 
against 
Q1 21/22 

Change 
against 
Q4 21/22 

Target Comments 

% of reports sent 
within deadlines 

Smaller - 100% 100% 0 0 100% During Q1, all 35 committee reports were sent 
within their deadline for the 15 committees 
that occurred within this period.  

Days lost to 
sickness per FTE 

Smaller 1.84 1.85 1.6 -0.24 -0.25 1.35 Please note that as per the discussion at 
Overview and Scrutiny during the Q4 21/22 
performance report, this target has been 
revised from 2.01 per quarter per FTE to 1.35 
per quarter.  
 
This new target now represents the average 
days lost to sickness per FTE for councils that 
fall within Breckland CIPFA nearest neighbours 
group. These are councils of a similar size and 
makeup to Breckland and therefore serve as a 
more accurate benchmark. 
 
This figure does not include staff sickness for 
Anglia Revenue Partnerships or other 
contracted services. 

IT systems 
availability (%) 

Bigger - 100% 100% 0 0 100% This indicator relates to both scheduled and 
unscheduled downtime of our IT systems and 

24



Appendix A 
 

BDC Performance and Business Intelligence Report 
Q1 22-23 

 

website.  

Number of days CC 
performance 
drops below 90 % 

Smaller - 50 days/ 
63 days 

51 days/ 
60 days 

- - N/A Q1 saw continued issues in relation to the 
number of days where customer contact 
successfully answered 90% of incoming phone 
calls. During this period average wait time 
increased to 475 seconds and the abandonment 
rate increased to 24.75%. This has resulted in a 
5% reduction in the number of calls answered 
compared to last quarter. In total, the contact 
centre received 16,907 calls during Q1, with 
4,185 resulting in abandonment. It is important 
to remember when considering abandonment 
rates that residents may choose to request a 
callback, receive automated advice which 
answers their query or choose to perform their 
request in an alternative way e.g. through our 
website. 
 
As previous reports have stated, recruitment 
into the contact centre has been an ongoing 
process. It is expected by August that 7 FTE will 
have joined the contact centre. However, the 
impact of these new staff is not expected to be 
felt until October/November due to the nature 
of the role and the training required. The 
contact centre leadership team have also taken 
decisions such as revising the current training 
schedule to allow for staff to be trained quicker 
and more effectively. Furthermore, the 
leadership team have reduced holiday 

25



Appendix A 
 

BDC Performance and Business Intelligence Report 
Q1 22-23 

 

allowances and appointments to support 
demand on busy days. Team leaders have now 
also helped take calls during busy periods.  
 
The service has also been impacted by national 
changes such as calls related to the £150 energy 
payment, which has increased the volume of 
calls normally seen at this time of the year.  

% of automated 
customer web 
chats 

Bigger - 85% 83% - -2% N/A There was a slight drop in Q1 performance for 
the number of automated webchats. This is 
broken down as 856 instances of live chat and 
4,171 instances of automated web chat. Whilst 
a slight dip is disappointing, it is within the 
realms of expected performance and is still a 
new service which the council offers. 

% of Freedom of 
information  
requests (FOI) 
responded to 
within the time 
limit (20 days or 
extension) 

Bigger 98% 99% 99% +1% +0% 100% During, Q1 the council successfully responded 
to 76/77 FOI requests within their agreed time 
limit. The average time to close a freedom of 
information request was 5.6 days.  

% of Subject 
Access Requests 
(SAR) responded 
to within the time 
limit (1 month or 
extension) 

Bigger 100% 100% 100% 0 0 100% The number of subject access requests received 
by the council remains a low number compared 
to complaints and freedom of information 
requests.  

% of Complaint 
requests 
responded to 

Bigger 96% 92% 81% -15% -11% 100%  During Q1, there was notable disruption to the 
number of complaints responded to within 
timescales. This was due to numerous factors 

26



Appendix A 
 

BDC Performance and Business Intelligence Report 
Q1 22-23 

 

within the time 
limit 

including sickness and annual leave amongst 
key staff, meaning that complaints could not be 
signed off. Furthermore, some of these 
complaints required investigation by partners 
and third parties, some of whom were not fully 
aware of the complaints process and 
timescales. In these cases, officers were not 
aware that they could request an extension to 
complete their investigations. This is reflected 
in the average time to close a complaint in Q1, 
which was 11.5 days, compared to 5 days in Q4. 
 
As a result, only 56/69 complaints received 
were responded to within their agreed 
timescales. 28% of these complaints were 
either partially or fully upheld. Of the 69 
complaints received, 3 were escalated from  
stage one to stage two. 

 

Not included in the Q1 23/24 performance report- 

 Commercial Property Average Yield (Property)- Measure is reported annually 

 Investment Supported (Economy and Growth)- Measure is reported annually 

 Jobs Supported (Economy and Growth)- Measure is reported annually 

 Trees planted (Climate)- Measure is reported seasonally (Q3/Q4) 

 Vexatious customer registrations- Reported as part of the Q4 report annually. 

27



Appendix B- Water usage   

   

   

   

Breckland Business Centre, Dereham 
Water 
Supply Sewerage Supply 

  Usage 

Period 

Volume 
used (Cubic 

m3) 
Volume used 

(Cubic m3) 

July to October 2021 230 207.00 

October 2021 to January 2022 113 101.70 

January to April 2022 13.333 12.00 

  356.333 320.7 

   

Breckland Business Centre, Thetford 
Water 
Supply Sewerage Supply 

  Usage 

Period 

Volume 
used (Cubic 

m3) 
Volume used 

(Cubic m3) 

21 May to 9 August 2021 78 70.20 

10 August to 9 November 2021 99 89.10 

10 November 2021 to 9 February 2022 122 109.80 

10 February 2022 to 9 May 2022 40.315 36.28 

  339.315 305.383 

   

   

Ecotech Business Units, Swaffham 
Water 
Supply Sewerage Supply 

  Usage 

Period 

Volume 
used (Cubic 

m3) 
Volume used 

(Cubic m3) 

May to August 2021 59 53.1 

August to November 2021 78 70.2 

November 2021 to February 2022 64 57.6 

February to May 2022 43.82 39.44 

  244.82 220.338 

   

Riverside, Thetford 
Water 
Supply Sewerage Supply 

  Usage 

Period 

Volume 
used (Cubic 

m3) 
Volume used 

(Cubic m3) 

June to September 2021 2 1.80 

September to December 2021 0 0.00 

December 2021 to March 2022 4 3.60 

March to June 2022 1.457 1.31 

  7.457 6.711 

28



   
   

Elizabeth House, Dereham 
Water 
Supply Sewerage Supply 

  Usage 

Period 

Volume 
used (Cubic 

m3) 
Volume used 

(Cubic m3) 

April to July 2021 -63 (56.70) 

July to October 2021 77 69.30 

October 2021 to January 2022 68 61.20 

January to April 2022 9.57 8.63 

  91.57 195.83 

 

29



BRECKLAND DISTRICT COUNCIL 
 
Report of:  Councillor Phillip Cowen, Executive Member for Finance Revenues and 

Benefits  
 
To: Cabinet, 19 September 2022 
 
Author: Alison Chubbock, Assistant Director Finance 
 
Subject:  Quarter 1 Financial Performance Report 2022-23 
 
Purpose: This report provides information on the forecast full year financial position 

of the Council as at 30 June 2022 
 

 
Recommendation(s):  
 
1) That the report and appendix be noted. 
 

 
1.0  BACKGROUND 
 
1.1   Throughout the year quarterly monitoring reports are completed forecasting the expected 

year end out-turn against the budgets.  This report provides information on the forecast 
full year financial performance for revenue, capital and treasury, with the detail being 
included in the attached appendix, alongside information on our major Balance Sheet 
risks.   
 
Following a new requirement in the CIPFA Treasury Management Code of Practice and 
the CIPFA Prudential Code for Capital Finance 2021, the Treasury section of the report 
includes a new set of Prudential Indicators which we are required to report on quarterly. 

 
1.2 Revenue 

The full year out-turn based on current projections at this stage of the year is an above 
budget spend within services of £122k, which increases to £304k when the efficiencies 
and funding are included.  These forecasts are based on information held at quarter one 
and are therefore subject to change until 31 March 2023.  Full details of variances are 
shown in appendix A.   
 
Considering the considerable challenges still faced by Local Authorities over this financial 
year from continued increased demand on temporary accommodation, funding 
uncertainty, external weather related pressures and inflationary increases (particularly fuel 
inflation), this is a positive financial position despite the above budget spend.  We have 
been able to mitigate resource and cost pressures through corporately prioritising 
available funding and resources to the most in need areas, continuing to support our 
priorities, our residents and our businesses. 
 
Progress against achieving our efficiencies has been strong to date, with £301k (61%) 
achieved at quarter 1.  All efficiencies are in progress but are only reported here as 
achieved once the relevant approval has been completed. Throughout the remainder of 
the year any new efficiencies will be utilised to offset this existing target and in the budget 
setting later this year the targets will be reviewed to ensure they remain applicable and 
achievable. 

 

30

Agenda Item 9



1.4  We are continuing to experience high levels of demand within the Housing Service. This 
picture is one being seen nationally and is not just in the Breckland area.  The result of the 
higher number of customers needing to be placed into temporary accommodation is that 
we are unable to reclaim the costs in full through Housing Benefit, hence the additional 
costs shown in Appendix A in this area.   

 
  In response to these pressures we have secured some properties through Solo Housing 

from September (12 single rooms) at a cost far lower than nightly paid accommodation 
and we are seeking to secure a further circa 20 larger properties to temporarily house 
families which are some of our higher nightly paid costs from October/November.  These 
larger properties can also be split to be used to house a number of singles.   

   
  As part of the Evolve programme under the housing strand we are also actively pursuing 

purchases of properties in key areas of the district to be used for temporary 
accommodation which will reduce our costs significantly due to different Housing Benefit 
levels for properties owned by the Council.  There is a report to Full Council in October 
requesting release of funding for this purpose. 

 
1.5  NNDR income is tracking on budget at this early stage of the year.  However our Council 

Tax income collection was lower in April and May but higher by the end of June.  This 
could be a result of uncertainty over the £150 Council Tax Rebate scheme and will be 
closely monitored.  Our council tax hardship fund continues to be offered to residents in 
need. 

 
1.6  The General Fund is currently at £2.8m, slightly above our minimum recommended 

balance of £2.5m and therefore we are forecasting that the above budget spend shown in 
this report can be funded from the General Fund. 

 
1.8  Capital 
 
  This early forecast out-turn shows spend of £11,318k (101%) against the budget and 

appendix A details the main variances.  The forecast over spend is due to the successful 
delivery of the Disabled Facilities Grants funding, reflecting the success of employing staff 
in this key area to allocate the funding to residents in need in a timely way.  We are 
investigating areas of additional funding, but if we are not able to secure any, then the 
remaining funding will be targeted to the highest priority residents and spend will be kept 
within funding envelope for the year. 

  
1.9  Treasury 
 
 The investment interest budget is forecasting below budget income of £39k as detailed in 

the appendix to this report.  This relates to external loans to a 3rd party which are still 
expected to be made, but the timing is later than when budgeted leading to lost interest of 
£138k, which is mostly offset by higher interest rates than when the budget was set.   

 
1.10  Balance Sheet Management 
 
 This section provides information on the higher risk areas of our Balance Sheet and 

financial sustainability. 
 
2.0 OPTIONS 
 
2.1  That the report and appendix be noted. 
 
2.2 Do nothing. 

31



 
3.0 REASONS FOR RECOMMENDATION(S) 
 
3.1  To provide timely information to Members on the overall financial position of the Council, 

enabling resource re-allocation to priorities where necessary and protecting the General 
fund balance. 

 
3.2 To enable approved capital projects to continue to deliver in the new financial year. 
 
4.0 EXPECTED BENEFITS 
 
4.1  To ensure Members are updated regularly and in a timely fashion on the overall Council 

financial position. 
 

4.2   To make the best use of the funding available to the Council and to protect the General 
fund minimum balance. 

 
5.0 IMPLICATIONS 
 
 In preparing this report, the report author has considered the likely implications of the 
 decision - particularly in terms of Carbon Footprint / Environmental Issues; 
 Constitutional & Legal; Contracts; Corporate Priorities; Crime & Disorder; Data Protection; 
 Equality & Diversity/Human Rights; Financial; Health & Wellbeing; Reputation; Risk 
 Management;  Safeguarding; Staffing; Stakeholders/Consultation/Timescales; 
 Transformation Programme;  Other. Where the report author considers that there may be 
 implications under one or more of these headings, these are identified below. 
 
5.2  Corporate Priorities 
5.1.1 The Council’s budget and associated spend supports the Council’s priorities. 
 
5.3  Financial  
5.2.1 The report and appendix are financial in nature and include the financial implications. 
 
5.8 Risk Management  
5.3.1 Financial risks are included within the report. 
  
5.9 Stakeholders / Consultation / Timescales 
5.4.1 Budget holders have been consulted on their variances and the reasons for those     

variances. 
 
6.0 WARDS/COMMUNITIES AFFECTED 
 
6.1 N/A 
 
7.0 ACRONYMS  
 
7.1 CIPFA – Chartered Institute of Public Finance & Accountancy 
7.2 DFG – Disabled Facilities Grant 
7.3 DMADF – Debt Management Account Deposit Facility 
7.4 NNDR – National Non-Domestic Rates 
7.5 SONIA – Sterling Over Night Index Average 
 

Background papers:- See The Committee Report Guide for guidance on how to complete 
this section 

32

file://///BDCVMMGOV01/Committee/Committee/Report%20Guide/2014/THE%20COMMITTEE%20REPORT%20GUIDE_JUNE%202014.doc
file://///BDCVMMGOV01/Committee/Committee/Report%20Guide/2014/THE%20COMMITTEE%20REPORT%20GUIDE_JUNE%202014.doc


 
Lead Contact Officer 
Name and Post:  Alison Chubbock, Assistant Director Finance 
Telephone Number: 07967 325037 
Email: alison.chubbock@breckland.gov.uk 
 
Key Decision: No 
Exempt Decision: No  
 
This report refers to Mandatory Service and Discretionary Services 
 
Appendices attached to this report:  
Appendix A Forecast financial report for 2022-23 full year. 
 
 
 

33



Breckland Council 
Financial report for the year ended 31 March 2023 

 
This report has four sections 

o Section 1 – Revenue budget 
o Section 2 – Capital budget 
o Section 3 – Treasury update 
o Section 4 – Balance Sheet Management 

Figures in brackets denote either income, an under spend or above budget income. 
Positive figures denote either spend, an over spend or below budget income. 

Section 1 - Revenue 
 
Table 1 – Forecast Revenue Outturn  

  Budget 
Forecast  
Out-turn 

Forecast 
Variance 

  £'000 £'000 £'000 

Cost of Services     

1) Strategic Policy (151) (148) 3 

2) Health & Housing 2,440 2,642 202 

3) Inspiring Communities 214 232 18 

4) Economy & Growth 1,604 1,550 (54) 

5) Finance 2,792 2,864 72 

6) People & Governance 3,852 3,857 5 

7) Contracts & Operations 3,068 3,120 52 

8) Property & Infrastructure (403) (655) (252) 

9) Housing Benefits 159 701 542 

In Year Mitigations    
10) Grant funding - (50) (50) 

11) Re-profiling of budgets - (339) (339) 

12) Vacancy factor savings - (75) (75) 

13) Total Cost of Services before reserves 13,575 13,699 124 

14) Contributions to/from reserves (51) (53) (2) 

15) Total Cost of Services 13,524 13,646 122 

Funding & Appropriations    

16) Appropriations 1,584 1,574 (10) 

17) Government grants (6,734) (6,736) (2) 

18) Council Tax (4,778) (4,778) - 

19) Retained Business Rates (3,402) (3,402) - 

20) Total Funding (13,330) (13,342) (12) 

21) Net Cost of Services 194 304 110 

22) Efficiencies to be achieved (194) - 194 

Contribution (to)/from the General Fund - 304 304 

 
Significant variances are detailed over the page. 
 
Salaries 
The budgeted vacancy factor for 2022-23 is 4% for Breckland staff and 2.5% for Anglia Revenues 
Partnership (ARP) staff. 
The achieved vacancy factor for this year is currently on target for both Breckland and for 
Anglia Revenues Partnership (ARP) staff and is forecast to be exceeded by the end of the year.   

34



 

Table 2 - Significant Variances 
 
 
Cost Centre 

Total 
Budget 

£ 

Total 
Variance 

£ 

 
 
Comments 

1) Housing Benefit Claims 159,054 541,821 

Continued increase in demand in temporary accommodation which is being seen nationally.  
This variance assumes demand remains the same all year, but additional properties are in 
place through direct rental or purchased properties to use in place of nightly paid 
accommodation from Q3. 

2) Waste, street cleansing, 
parks & open spaces and 
Garden waste 1,660,464 234,591 

Combination of inflationary cost increases (mainly fuel) on the contract alongside reduced 
garden waste tonnage resulting from the extremely dry weather. 

3) Efficiencies (193,804) 193,804 

This is the remaining efficiency planned to be achieved throughout the year, with £301k 
(61%) achieved to date. All efficiencies are in progress but are only reported here as 
achieved once the relevant approval has been completed. 

4) Housing Option, Elm House & 
Hostels 428,521 168,513 See note against (1) Housing Benefit Claims. 

5) Breckland Bridge (158,024) 137,664 
Shortfall in Breckland Bridge loan interest resulting from delays to signing legal agreements 
to allow works to commence on site, work is expected to start in Q4. 

6) Food Safety 253,460 24,034 
Overspend to date on contract inspections.  Spend and purchase orders will be reviewed to 
reduce costs over the year. 

7) Marketing and 
communications 192,935 17,821 Additional edition of inspiring communities 

8) Grant Funding - (50,000) 
Additional one off grant funding received which has been allocated to fund existing 
programmes of work 

9) Vacancy Factor - (75,000) Higher than budgeted vacancy factor 

10) PFI 397,674 (86,897) 
One off income resulting from insurance benchmarking, partially offset by inflationary 
pressures. 

11) Recycling (Materials 
Recycling Facility) (277,789) (93,543) 

Increased recycling credits income and lower processing costs currently.  There is a risk that 
processing costs could increase as the year progresses. 

12) Corporate Finance 479,308 (118,965) 
Increased interest receivable on general investments due to rates increasing and higher cash 
balances. 

13) Commercial Property, 
Business Centres and Offices (2,260,937) (285,762) 

Higher occupancy levels have increased income and reduced rates costs, partially offset by 
increases in utilities costs. 

14) Re-profiling of budgets - (339,000) 

Due to national cost pressures which could not have been foreseen such as significant 
inflationary increases, dry weather and the cost of living crisis, we are seeing higher costs 
than budgeted, particularly on fuel inflation and temporary accommodation related costs.  As 
a result we have reviewed all budgets and re-profiled spend where possible. 

15) Other miscellaneous (680,862) 34,662 Other smaller value variances combined 

TOTAL - 303,743  

35



 

Table 3 – Progress Against Efficiency Targets 
 
The original efficiency target for the year was £495k and to date £301k has been achieved (61%). 
 

 
 
 
All efficiencies are in progress but are only reported here as achieved once the relevant approval has been 

completed.   
 
Collection Funds 
 
Council Tax 
The Council Tax collection fund account had a residual surplus of £713k overall at the end of 2021-
22, with Breckland’s share being £73k.  The forecast for 2022-23 will be calculated after 6 months to 
allow for the effects of the council tax rebate scheme to settle. 
 
Retained Business Rates 
The retained Business Rates (NNDR) collection fund account had a residual deficit of £4,555k overall 
at the end of 2021-22, with Breckland’s share being £1,822k.  This balance was unusually high due 
to the Covid reliefs announced after the budgets were set, Government have provided grants to 
offset this cost to the Council.   
The forecast for 2022-23 will be calculated after 6 months to allow for the effects of the Covid 
Additional Relief Fund (CARF) scheme to settle. 
 

 
 
 
 

0

100,000

200,000

300,000

400,000

500,000

600,000

Original Target Achieved to Date

2022-23 Progress Against Efficiencies

36



 

Section 2 - Capital 
 

Table 1 - Progress against 22-23 approved capital programme 

  

 
Budget   

£ 

Forecast 
Out-turn 

£ 

Forecast 
(under)/overspend 

£ 

Economy & Growth 2,117,131 2,117,131 - 

Property & Infrastructure 3,585,625 3,585,625 - 

Contracts & Operations 2,637,223 2,637,223 - 

Health & Housing 2,578,318 2,686,425 108,107 

Strategic Policy 200,000 200,000 - 

Capital Loans 73,864 73,864 - 

TOTAL 11,192,161 11,317,785 108,107 

 
Forecast outturn  £11,317,785 or 101% 

 
Table 2 - The variance is shown below: 

 
 
Project 

(under)/ 
over spend 

£ 

Carry over to 
Future 

£ 

 

Disabled Facilities 
Grants (DFG’s) 

108,107 - Forecast currently to over deliver on the DFG’s 
for the full year.   
This is being closely monitored and forecasts will 
be adjusted as time moves forward.  There are 
options in this area to bring within budget by the 
end of the year 

    

Total £108,107 - = £108,107 Total 

 
 

37



 

Section 3 – Treasury 
 
Security 
The low actual risk for the Council’s portfolio of investments reflects its cautious approach to 
counterparty selection which in turn is reflected in lower investment returns. 

 
Maximum 
risk level 

Actual 
risk level Variance 

   Investments maturing in < 1 year 0.060% 0.007% 0.053% 

 
Liquidity 
The Council had an average of £6.92m instant access cash available during the reporting period.  
This was slightly higher than our usual requirement of £5m due to profiling of large cash outflows 
expected on the Council Tax rebate scheme.  The council did not use its overdraft facility in this 
reporting period.  The weighted average life (WAL) of investments was 38 days. 

 
Yield 

 Budget Forecast Variance 

Interest receivable 2022-23 £190,726 £151,599 £39,127 

Overnight SONIA 0.888% 0.756% 0.132% 

 
The below budget income relates to expected loans to 3rd parties at market rates which are delayed 
£138k, offset by overachieved general investment interest due to interest rates increasing.  
 
Our exposure to different counterparties is shown in the graph below. 
 

   
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

21,501,000 , 
60.1%

6,000,000 , 
16.8%

270,000 , 
0.8%

4,000,000 , 
11.2%

0 , 0.0% 3,981,000 , 
11.1%

Counterparty Exposure

banks - UK

Banks - Non UK

Loans to 3rd Parties

building societies

Local authorities

DMADF

Currently 
27% of 

investments 
have a 

maturity of 
less than 1 

week. 

38



 

Prudential Indicators 
The CIPFA Treasury Management Code of Practice and the CIPFA Prudential Code for Capital 
Finance 2021 require us to report on our Prudential Indicators on a quarterly basis.   
 
Prudential Indicator 1 – Capital Expenditure and Financing  
Reported in section 2 of this report 
 
Prudential Indicator 2 – Capital Financing Requirement (CFR) 

£’000 2021-22 Actual 2022-23 Estimate 2023-24 Estimate 2024-25 Estimate 

Opening CFR (223) 202 2,276 1,834 

Movement 425 2,074 (442) (659) 

Closing CFR 202 2,276 1,834 1,175 

 
A positive CFR indicates an underlying need to borrow, but the Council is presently able to borrow 
internally from its cash balances and avoid the need to borrow externally. 
 
Prudential Indicator 3 – Ratio of Financing Costs to net revenue stream 

Estimate 1.19%  

Quarter 1 forecast 1.49% Due to lower interest from 3rd party loans 

 
Financing costs are net interest payable (on PFI) less interest receivable. Net Revenue stream is 
income from government grants, Council Tax and Business Rates. 
 
Prudential Indicator 4 – Actual External Debt 
£nil 
 
Prudential Indicator 5 – Gross Debt Against CFR 
Gross debt should not, except in the short term, exceed the total of the CFR in the preceding year 
plus the estimate of any additional CFR for 2022-23 and the following 2 financial years. 
The Council remains compliant with this indicator. 
 
Prudential Indicator 6 – Ratio of Net Income from Commercial and Service Investments to Net 
Revenue Stream 

Estimate 17.20%  

Quarter 1 forecast 18.89% Higher due to increased commercial property income 

 
Prudential Indicator 7 – Operational Boundary 

Estimate £7,227k  

Quarter 1 forecast £7,227k This is the PFI scheme debt 

 
Prudential Indicator 8 – Authorised Limit 

Estimate £9,227k  

Quarter 1 forecast £9,227k This is the PFI scheme debt plus bank overdraft 

 
 
  

39



 

Section 4 – Balance Sheet Management 
 
This section focuses on the areas of our Balance Sheet which could pose risks to our financial 
sustainability.  The main areas of risk are determined as: 
 

Balance Sheet 
Area 

Measure Mitigations 

Non-Current 
Assets 

It is important that these are 
maintained in a suitable condition to 
deliver services and rental income. 

Annual capital programme to 
ensure maintenance & 
replacement activity is captured 
and planned. 

Cash & 
Investments 

A shortfall in cash would represent an 
imminent problem to paying 
expenditure. 

Daily cashflow monitoring in 
place.  Investments placed so 
they mature at different times to 
ensure a constant cash inflow. 
Treasury Management Policy in 
place and Prudential Indicators 
monitored. 

Provisions Unexpected events may give rise to 
unexpected costs, which in turn could 
reduce usable reserves. 

Regular dialogue to highlight 
potential new provisions (i.e. 
legal cases, NNDR Appeals). 

Borrowing It is important that the medium-term 
financial plan includes provision for 
repayment of debt and interest. 

Currently internal borrowing is 
being utilised and no debt 
payments are required. 

Usable reserves Some reserves are held to protect 
against one off major events (i.e. loss 
of business rates through a major 
business leaving the area/ceasing 
trading). 
Other reserves provide funding for 
corporate priorities and development, 
without these balances future 
development is difficult to achieve. 

Regularly monitored and usage 
reported in Proforma B 
alongside remaining reserve 
balance. 
Report in financial performance 
report on large unplanned use of 
reserves. 

General Fund This is currently set at a minimum 
balance of £2.5m and should only be 
utilised in emergency situations. 

Regularly monitored and any 
use would be reported through 
the financial performance report. 

 
Currently the main risk area for Breckland is usable reserves and capital reserve, as due to 
budgetary pressures there are no plans currently to replenish any reserves or capital funding, which 
could lead to less funding in future to deliver new priorities and developments. 
 
Actions 

 Actions being taken to reduce and mitigate the revenue costs this year to reduce the forecast 
underspend, in order to protect the General Fund minimum balance of £2.5m. 

 

40



BRECKLAND DISTRICT COUNCIL 
 
Report of:  Cllr Alison Webb - Executive Member for Health & Communities 
 
To: Cabinet on the 19th of September 2022, Full Council on the 6th of October 

2022 
 
Authors: Ben Cooper-Welch - PFI Contract Monitoring Officer, James Watkins - 

Project Manager 
 
Subject:  Attleborough Leisure Project - Progression to deliverability, enhanced 

leisure provision. 
 
Purpose: To agree to the progression of the Attleborough Leisure Project to the point 

of delivery. This is aligned with the Council’s Thriving Places priority 
 
 

 
Recommendation(s): 
  

1) That it is agreed to progress the project using the Academy site and use the initial plans 
to produce detailed designs, instruct the necessary surveys to work through pre-
planning, planning submission, procurement of the main contractor and reach the point 
of delivery. 
 

2) To agree to front fund at risk the S106 £1,640,680. 
 
 

Recommend to FULL COUNCIL:  
 
3) That Full Council agree to the progression of the Attleborough Leisure Project as outlined 

above. 
 

4) To approve the capital budget of £2,612,900 and the associated funding as detailed in 
the Proforma B (Appendix E). 

 
5) To release £650,000 from the Inclusive Growth Reserve for the Attleborough Leisure 

Centre and seek contributions from interested parties to cover the residual funding 
requirement. 
 

6) To release £200,000 from the Inclusive Growth Reserve for district sports provisions and 
delegate authority to the executive member for health and communities and the assistant 
director for contracts and operations to allocate these resources to designated projects. 

 

 
1.0 BACKGROUND 
 

The Neil Allen Associates report identified the improvement for leisure provision in 
Attleborough. After this, Max Associates were commissioned to undertake a feasibility 
study finalised in 2019 following stakeholder consultation, site visits, and a desktop study; 
identified current and latent demand, outlined a preferred facility mix, identified the 
preferred site with design development and included capital costs proposals. 

 
The current Attleborough Sports Hall / Academy site was identified as the preferred site, 
and discussions with the Academy commenced. During this discussion, the Academy 

41

Agenda Item 10



expressed a desire to engage and improve leisure facilities for the school and the 
community on the site. 
 
The project team set up a governance board including members from Breckland Council, 
Norfolk County Council, Attleborough Town Council, The Academy, The Sapientia Trust, 
The Consultant (Max associates) and The Architect (Saunders Boston Architects) to 
manage and develop the project. A full feasibility study was concluded in 2019, leading to 
the production of the designs in Appendices A-D. 
 
Breckland does not own the proposed site, but it’s in the community’s interest to provide 
this improved leisure provision in the town, so we have been working with NCC and the 
Academy to look at this option. The S106 from Attleborough SUE was ringfenced for a 
provision on the Academy site. 

 
In March 2020, this project was paused due to Covid-19, with Attleborough Academy 
absorbed into the Sapientia Trust in June 2020 and conversations continuing since 2021. 

 
Max Associates undertook a piece of work reviewing the 2019 feasibility report and updating 
capital costs since the pandemic, which saw a rise in inflation on materials.  

 
Updated design developments and capital costs have been drafted and received, and 
current and potential funding options have been identified. 
 
A 9-a-side 3G artificial grass pitch is currently out of scope but could develop into a further 
project phase. The FF is instructing a desktop study to inspect the site’s viability in the 
Autumn of 2022. If this was to progress, it is anticipated that there would be a significant 
positive impact on the revenue case.  
 
Should this go forward, it would be heavily grant-funded via the Football Foundation and 
would involve Attleborough Town FC as a partner club.  
 

 
2.0 OPTIONS 
 
2.1 That it is agreed to progress the project using the Academy site and use the initial plans to 

produce detailed designs, instruct the necessary surveys to work through pre-planning, 
planning submission, procurement of the main contractor and reach the point of delivery. 

 
To agree to front fund at risk the S106 £1,640,680. 

 
To approve the capital budget of £2,612,900 and the associated funding as detailed in the 
Proforma B.  
 
To release £650,000 from the Inclusive Growth Reserve for the Attleborough Leisure 
Centre and seek contributions from interested parties to cover the residual funding 
requirement. 
 
To release £200,000 from the Inclusive Growth Reserve for district sports provisions and 
delegate authority to the executive member for health and communities and the assistant 
director for contracts and operations to allocate these resources to designated projects. 
 

 
2.2 Do nothing. 

 
 

42



3.0 REASONS FOR RECOMMENDATION(S) 
 
3.1 To enable the deliverability of the project and provide an improved and enhanced leisure 

provision to meet the community’s needs. This does take into account the current and 
future population of the town. 

 
3.2 To provide a leisure offer which will be non-subsidised in a mature year (year 5) as a 

minimum. 
 

3.3 Breckland holds a strong working relationship with Academy, which enables the project 
team to work at pace to deliver this project. 

 
3.4 Delivering this project now would mitigate to a certain level against the increase in project 

costs caused by inflation; any delay is predicted to increase project costs. 
 

3.5 Health and well-being have been at the forefront of community support since COVID. This 
new leisure provision would increase residents’ available facilities to improve their health 
and well-being. 

 
3.6 The location of this site would enable Attleborough to integrate the leisure and the high 

street to deliver “Leisure on the high street”. 
 

3.7 The release of £200,000 for district-wide sports provisions could enable the 3G football 
pitch element of the project to progress along with other district sports provision projects 
currently in development. 

 
 
4.0 EXPECTED BENEFITS 
 
4.1 An improved leisure offer for the town will help to meet the identified demand for the 

current and future population of the local community. 
 
4.2 Once delivered, this should be provided on a non-subsidised basis in a mature year (year 

5) as a minimum which will be a cost saving to the Council.  
 

4.3 The Council will improve the facilities and the revenue business case before the current 
lapses in the management service agreement. 

 
4.4 There are a number of facilities in surrounding towns with a mix of facilities. This proposal 

seeks to complement other facilities where possible rather than compete, ensuring that 
the facility remains commercially viable. 

 
4.5 The 3G pitch projects can progress, which, if delivered, would increase the provisions 

available to the community via the leisure centre and improve the service revenue case. 
 
 
5.0 IMPLICATIONS 
 
 In preparing this report, the report author has considered the likely implications of the 

decision - particularly in terms of: 
 

Carbon Footprint / Environmental Issues; Constitutional & Legal; Contracts; Corporate 
Priorities; Crime & Disorder; Data Protection; Equality & Diversity/Human Rights; 
Financial; Health & Wellbeing; Reputation; Risk Management; Safeguarding; Staffing;  
Stakeholders/Consultation/Timescales; Other.   

43



 
Where the report author considers that there may be implications under one or more of 
these headings, these are identified below. 

 
 
5.1 Carbon Footprint / Environmental Issues  

 
5.1.1 The Council does not own the land or the building; therefore, it will not be included in the 

Breckland 2035 carbon emissions register. However, the Council will provide the leisure 
offer via a third-party leisure operator, so sustainability measures should be explored 
during the next development stage to aid implementation decisions from members pre-
delivery. 
 

5.1.2 It is proposed that during the detailed design stage, the project team should instruct a 
sustainability study to produce a feasibility report on sustainability options for the new 
facility. These options will be continually explored up to the point of delivery.  

 
5.1.3 If decarbonisation or energy-saving projects are identified via the sustainability survey, 

which is cost-effective and affordable, they will be considered by the Council. 
 
5.1.4 It is not anticipated that vast tree removal will be required. However, should any tree 

removal be required, trees will be planted elsewhere (at a 2:1 ratio) to ensure 
sustainability. 

 
5.1.5 The current building is aged, and any new facility will improve the sustainability of the 

building  
  
  
5.2 Contracts 

 
5.2.1 Procurement of the consultants has already been commissioned as they have completed 

feasibility works. Any extension of works with them to advance to work on pre-planning 
works and planning submission will not require further procurement as it will be 
considered an extension of works. However, procurement of the other professional 
consultants and the surveys necessary to take the project into a planning application will 
follow the Council’s standard procurement processes, including benchmarking fees 
against previous projects. 

 
5.2.2 The existing dual-use contract with NCC is due to run out in 2026 - this project would 

enable Breckland to exit that agreement by mutual consent and enter into a new dual 
agreement with Sapientia trust. 

 
5.2.3 A competitive tender will be required for the contractor for the project. This will be led by 

the procurement team and go through a full tender evaluation process as required. 
 
5.2.4 Exit negotiations will be held between Breckland and NCC to exit the current agreement 

allowing Breckland to provide a leisure offer from the current site. 
 
5.2.5 A competitive tender would be required as we enter a new agreement for the leisure 

operator the run the facility on behalf of the Council.  
 
 
 
 
 

44



5.3 Corporate Priorities 
 

5.3.1 The Attleborough Leisure Project directly meets the ‘Thriving Places’ corporate priority for 
the Council. It also meets the ‘Inspiring Communities’ corporate policy by providing 
additional services that can improve the health and well-being of the local community. 

 
 
5.4 Crime and Disorder  

 
5.4.1 Although there are no known regular issues with crime and disorder at the location, it is 

generally acknowledged that enhanced sports/leisure facilities and improved access hours 
can decrease local Anti-Social Behaviour (ASB) activity. Should a 3G project progress 
alongside this project, casual league play can be introduced at traditional peak ASB 
hours, which has been proven to reduce ASB activity at these times.  

 
 
5.5 Financial  

 
5.5.1 A summary of the project capital costs and funding is shown below. For full details, please 

refer to the Proforma B in Appendix E 
  
 

Construction including design fees £2,233,000 
Internal fees and Project Management £65,000 
Additional inflation allowance £114,900 
Fitness Equipment £200,000 

TOTAL COSTS £2,612,900 
Funding from Academy (£89,000) 
S106 Funding (£1,689,057) 

TOTAL Shortfall £834,843 

 
 
 
5.6 Health & Wellbeing 

 
5.6.1 An enhanced and improved leisure offer is expected to increase health and well-being 

opportunities for the town and the local community. As well as meeting a variety of 
national strategies this project remains in line with the ‘Thriving Places’ priority for the 
Council. As well as a new gymnasium and spin-specific studio, there will be a fitness 
studio which could also be utilised for community groups, mental well-being sessions and 
other interested parties.    

 
 
5.7 Reputation  

 
5.7.1 It is expected that the local community would receive the project extremely well as a 

whole. An improved leisure offer has been long sort after by the town. Whilst every effort 
has been made to ensure feasibility work includes the current and future populations. 
There could be a small number that view the improvements could be implemented 
differently – which would be at odds with our expert consultant’s study outcomes. The 
Analysis from the consultants during the feasibility study shows that the proposed facility 
is designed to meet the town’s needs now and into the future. 

 
The budget envelope for this project has always been challenging, and ensuring the 
project remains deliverable has remained a priority.  

45



5.8 Risk Management  
 

5.8.1 Whilst the current relationship with the Academy and the Academy trust has always been 
and remains strong, the project will require official authorisation from them to move into 
delivery.  
 
In addition, NCC will need to issue the relevant licences and consents to allow these 
works to Commence; NCC is part of this project’s governance board, so they already 
support these measures. 
 
We have open continued communication with the trust and recently received an updated 
letter of commitment from them for the project to progress, so no issues are expected. 

 
5.8.2 Capital costs will be frontloaded at risk. To be recuperated via S106 monies, which are 

currently expected during the financial year 2025/26    
 
 
5.9 Safeguarding 

 
5.9.1 Safeguarding of the site will remain paramount during delivery and operation. It will be 

important to ensure that the fencing at the front of the site is removed but to work with the 
Academy and Academy Trust to ensure safeguarding measures are in place and are 
adequate to meet the needs required. In operation, further safeguards will be in place to 
ensure school and community use run simultaneously whilst being safe.   

 
 
5.10 Staffing 

 
5.10.1 The site will be operated by a third-party leisure operator, which will be awarded following 

a competitive tender process per the Council’s requirements.  
 

Dedicated project management resources have been deployed internally to support the 
development and management of this project up to the delivery on site, which the 
Academy will then manage. 

  
 
5.11 Stakeholders / Consultation / Timescales 

 
5.11.1 Breckland Council, Sapientia, Attleborough Academy, NCC, ATC 

 
Stakeholder consultations with community groups and local sports groups were 
undertaken in 2019, and at this time, no further consultation is being considered 
necessary. 
 
The Full Council will decide on this report on the 6th of October.  
 
It is anticipated that if the Council moves forward with this project, a planning decision can 
be achieved in 2023, with construction commencing in 2024 to meet an opening date of 
the facility in 2025.  
 
 

6.0 WARDS/COMMUNITIES AFFECTED 
 
6.1 Attleborough Queens and Besthorpe 
 Attleborough Burgh and Haverscroft 

46



  
7.0 ACRONYMS  
 
7.1 3G AGP (Third Generation Artificial Grass Pitch) 
7.2 ASB (Anti-Social Behaviour) 
7.3 FF (Football Foundation) 
7.4 FA (Football Association) 
7.5 ATC (Attleborough Town Council) 
7.6 NCC (Norfolk County Council) 
 

Background papers: -  

 
Lead Contact Officer 
Name and Post:  James Watkins – Project Manager 
Telephone Number: 07391 414257 
Email:   James.Watkins@breckland.gov.uk 
 
Key Decision: Yes  
 
Exempt Decision: No  
 
This report refers to a Discretionary Service  
 
 
 
Appendices attached to this report:  
  

Appendix A        1696-SBA-XX-XX-DR-A-010 Proposed Floor Plans Opt 1 
Appendix B        1696-SBA-XX-XX-DR-A-101-Section 
Appendix C        1696-SBA-XX-XX-DR-A-201-Elevation 
Appendix D        1696-SBA-XX-XX-DR-A-502-Site Plan 
Appendix E         2022 09 01 Attleborough Leisure - Pro B 
 

47



Existing Sports Hall
574 m²

Infant playing field

Cemetery

Queen's Square 
Car Park

Car Park

Indicative position & 
size of trees

Area Schedule

Fitness Suite 200 m²
Multipurpose Studio             120 m²
Spin 60 m²

G.I.F.A 456m²
G.E.F.A 470m²

26 m²

Equipment
Store

12 m²

Boiler
38 m²

Store

120 m²

Studio / Community
Room

VIEWS

Spectators seating & new 
glass screen

Remove Existing 
Metal Fencing 

Reinstall metal fence 
and gate in this location

Optional entrance 
to sixth form centre 

13 m²
Draft Lobby

Tree to be removed

VIEWS

60 m²
Spin

56 m²
Circulation

200 m²
Fitness Suite

VIEWS

BUILDING AND SURROUNDING 
CONTEXT INDICATIVE ONLY 
NO SURVEY PROVIDED

Existing Tree Stump to be 
removed. Location TBC

Relocate lamp post. 
Location TBC

Existing timber and 
concrete post fence

Double doors removed and 
replaced with full height toughened 

glass windows.

New double doors

4 m²

Reception

6 m²

Acc.
Changing

Room

38 m²

Changing
2

3 m²

WC

3 m²

WC

41 m²

Changing
1

3 m²

WC

3 m²

WC

By Department Legend

Changing/WC

Circulation

Fitness

Offices

Spin

Studio
Block up 
windows

Block up 
windows

No. Note

1 All dimensions to be verified on site by GENERAL CONTRACTOR prior to any work, setting 
out or shop drawings being prepared.

2 Drawings not to be scaled. Work to figured dimensions only.

3 © copyright SAUNDERS BOSTON LIMITED. All rights reserved.
This drawing remains the property of SAUNDERS BOSTON LIMITED at all times and may not 
be reproduced or copied in whole or in part without their prior written consent.

4 This drawing and related specifications are for use only in the stated location.

5 This drawing is to be read in conjunction with all other Consultants drawings and 
specifications.

6 Drainage has not been surveyed and any/all pipe locations and below ground drainage runs 
are indicative.

7 It is assumed that all works will be carried out by a competent contractor who will be working, 
where appropriate, to an approved method statement.

Architects

Saunders
Boston

Eastern Gate House, 119 Newmarket Road,
Cambridge  CB5 8HA

T:01223 367733

The Generator, The Gallery, King’s Wharf
The Quay, Exeter EX2 4AN

T:01392 348627

www.saundersboston.co.uk office@saundersboston.co.uk 

SBA Project Code Drawn

Checked

Date

Suitability 
Code

RevisionScale

Client

Job

Drawing

project originator zone level roletype number

-SBA

A1 : 200 @A1

1696

PRELIMINARY
MH

MNL

12/10/21

Breckland Council

Attleborough Leisure Centre

Proposed Ground Floor Plan - Option 1

1696 -XX -XX-DR-A -010

0 2 4 6 10m

Scale  1:200

No. Revision Date Chk Auth

A Issued for Costing 20.01.22

1 : 200

Proposed Ground Floor Plan Option 1

48



200 m²

Fitness Suite

120 m²

Studio /
Community

Room 56 m²

Circulation

3
2
0
0
.0

3
0
0
.0

5
5
0
.0

3
5
0
.0

Structural Zone

Roof Zone

Service Zone

200x 200mm Counter batten 
at 600mm centres.

Topdeck or similar

PROPOSED EXTENSION 
REFURBISHED 

CHANGING ROOMS

EXISTING SPORTS HALL 

PROPOSED
LINK

1
5
0
.0

Upstand

No. Note

1 All dimensions to be verified on site by GENERAL CONTRACTOR prior to any work, setting 
out or shop drawings being prepared.

2 Drawings not to be scaled. Work to figured dimensions only.

3 © copyright SAUNDERS BOSTON LIMITED. All rights reserved.
This drawing remains the property of SAUNDERS BOSTON LIMITED at all times and may not 
be reproduced or copied in whole or in part without their prior written consent.

4 This drawing and related specifications are for use only in the stated location.

5 This drawing is to be read in conjunction with all other Consultants drawings and 
specifications.

6 Drainage has not been surveyed and any/all pipe locations and below ground drainage runs 
are indicative.

7 It is assumed that all works will be carried out by a competent contractor who will be working, 
where appropriate, to an approved method statement.

Architects

Saunders

Boston

Eastern Gate House, 119 Newmarket Road,
Cambridge  CB5 8HA

T:01223 367733

The Generator, The Gallery, King’s Wharf
The Quay, Exeter EX2 4AN

T:01392 348627

www.saundersboston.co.uk office@saundersboston.co.uk 

SBA Project Code Drawn

Checked

Date

Suitability 
Code

RevisionScale

Client

Job

Drawing

project originator zone level roletype number

-SBA

A1 : 50 @A1

1696

PRELIMINARY
MH

JS

20/01/22

Breckland Council

Attleborough Leisure Centre

Sections

1696 -XX -XX-DR-A -101

1 : 50

Section AA

No. Revision Date Chk Auth

A Issued for Costing 20.01.22
0 0.5 1 1.5 2.5m

Scale  1:50

BUILDING AND SURROUNDING 

CONTEXT INDICATIVE ONLY NO 

SURVEY PROVIDED

49



4
5
5
0

PROPOSED EXTENSION EXISTING SIXTH FORM CENTREEXISTING SPORT CENTRE

PROPOSED 
LOBBY PROPOSED LINK 

2

101

PROPOSED EXTENSIONEXISTING SIXTH FORM CENTRE EXISTING SPORT HALL
PROPOSED 

LOBBY

PROPOSED 
LOBBY 

REFURBISHED 
CHANGING ROOMSEXISTING SPORTS HALL 

201

1

201

2

201 3

No. Note

1 All dimensions to be verified on site by GENERAL CONTRACTOR prior to any work, setting 
out or shop drawings being prepared.

2 Drawings not to be scaled. Work to figured dimensions only.

3 © copyright SAUNDERS BOSTON LIMITED. All rights reserved.
This drawing remains the property of SAUNDERS BOSTON LIMITED at all times and may not 
be reproduced or copied in whole or in part without their prior written consent.

4 This drawing and related specifications are for use only in the stated location.

5 This drawing is to be read in conjunction with all other Consultants drawings and 
specifications.

6 Drainage has not been surveyed and any/all pipe locations and below ground drainage runs 
are indicative.

7 It is assumed that all works will be carried out by a competent contractor who will be working, 
where appropriate, to an approved method statement.

Architects

Saunders
Boston

Eastern Gate House, 119 Newmarket Road,
Cambridge  CB5 8HA

T:01223 367733

The Generator, The Gallery, King’s Wharf
The Quay, Exeter EX2 4AN

T:01392 348627

www.saundersboston.co.uk office@saundersboston.co.uk 

SBA Project Code Drawn

Checked

Date

Suitability 
Code

RevisionScale

Client

Job

Drawing

project originator zone level roletype number

-SBA

AAs indicated @A1

1696

PRELIMINARY
MH

JS

04/14/14

Breckland Council

Attleborough Leisure Centre

Elevations

1696 -A -201

1 : 100

Front Elevation

No. Revision Date Chk Auth

A Issued for Costing 20.01.22

1 : 100

Rear Elevation

0 1 2 3 5m

Scale  1:100

1 : 100

Side Elevation
1 : 500

Key Plan

BUILDING AND SURROUNDING 
CONTEXT INDICATIVE ONLY NO 
SURVEY PROVIDED

50



Infant playing field

Cemetary

Queen's Square Car Park

Car Park

Proposed 
Extension

Proposed Draft 
Lobby

No. Note

1 All dimensions to be verified on site by GENERAL CONTRACTOR prior to any work, setting 
out or shop drawings being prepared.

2 Drawings not to be scaled. Work to figured dimensions only.

3 © copyright SAUNDERS BOSTON LIMITED. All rights reserved.
This drawing remains the property of SAUNDERS BOSTON LIMITED at all times and may not 
be reproduced or copied in whole or in part without their prior written consent.

4 This drawing and related specifications are for use only in the stated location.

5 This drawing is to be read in conjunction with all other Consultants drawings and 
specifications.

6 Drainage has not been surveyed and any/all pipe locations and below ground drainage runs 
are indicative.

7 It is assumed that all works will be carried out by a competent contractor who will be working, 
where appropriate, to an approved method statement.

Architects

Saunders

Boston

Eastern Gate House, 119 Newmarket Road,
Cambridge  CB5 8HA

T:01223 367733

The Generator, The Gallery, King’s Wharf
The Quay, Exeter EX2 4AN

T:01392 348627

www.saundersboston.co.uk office@saundersboston.co.uk 

SBA Project Code Drawn

Checked

Date

Suitability 
Code

RevisionScale

Client

Job

Drawing

project originator zone level roletype number

-SBA

A1 : 500 @A1

1696

PRELIMINARY
MH

JS

18/01/22

Breckland Council

Attleborough Leisure Centre

Site Plan

1696 -XX -XX-DR-A -502

Site Plan

1:500

0 5 10 15 25m

Scale  1:500

No. Revision Date Chk Auth

A Issued for Costing 20.01.22

BUILDING AND SURROUNDING 

CONTEXT INDICATIVE ONLY NO 

SURVEY PROVIDED

51



PROFORMA B 

This appraisal is valid for 1 month from issue date 
If there are changes to the original report it may invalidate this document & must be reviewed by Finance. 

 
14/09/2022 

 
Page 1 of 2 

D:\moderngov\Data\AgendaItemDocs\9\9\0\AI00035099\$mi
3sc4xp.docx 

 

BRECKLAND COUNCIL FINANCIAL COMMENTS & APPRAISAL 
 

THIS DOCUMENT PROVIDES THE FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS 
 IN RESPECT OF THE ATTACHED REPORT 

     
FROM:  Alison Chubbock (Assistant Director Finance) 
REPORT: Attleborough Leisure Project 
REPORT DATE: 1 September 2022 
 
 
Revenue 

£ Year 1 £ Year 2  £ Year 3 £ Year 4 
onwards 

Income     

Revenue business case (137,360) (186,120) (203,810) (207,550) 
Academy contribution to shared costs (7,600) (7,690) (7,780) (7,870) 
Saving on existing running costs (76,500) (76,500) (76,500) (76,500) 
Costs     
Revenue business case 190,020 204,870 207,830 208,760 

Total Revenue (31,440) (65,440) (80,260) (83,160) 

     
 £ Year 1 £ Year 2  £ Year 3 £ Year 4 
Capital 2022-23 2023-24 2024-25 2025-26 

Income     
Contribution from Academy (-) (89,000) (-) (-) 
Existing S106 receipts (48,375) (-) (-) (-) 
Future S106 receipt (-) (-) (-) (1,300,000) 
Estimated indexation on future S106 (-) (-) (-) (340,680) 
Contribution from Inclusive Growth Res (-) (650,000) (-) (-) 
Costs     
Construction costs - 882,000 882,000 - 
Design & professional fees 50,000 215,000 - - 
Construction contingency - - 204,000 - 
Other fees (legal, procurement, etc) - 25,000 - - 
Project Management - 20,000 20,000 - 
Additional inflation contingency - - 114,900 - 
Fitness equipment - - 200,000 - 

Total Capital 1,625 403,000 1,420,900 (1,640,682) 

Considered By: Cabinet and Council 
Date: 01-09-2022 and 06-10-2022 

 
Financial Services Comments 
The total capital project costs of £2,612,900 are taken from the Max Associates report, plus 
some additional allowance for our internal costs such as Project Management and procurement 
costs, etc. 
 
The table above assumes construction costs of £1,764,000 are split evenly over 2023-24 and 
2024-25, the budgets will be updated once the timings of work are fully understood as the 
project progresses. 
 
The report recommends that the Council contributes to the project capital costs from the 
Inclusive Growth Reserve up to a maximum of £650,000.  It is recommended that the remaining 
project funding shortfall of £184,843 should be identified prior to the project starting.   
The £200,000 recommendation for other sports provision is also available within the reserve, 
allowing for other earmarked amounts this would leave £465k available in this reserve for other 
projects.   
 

52



PROFORMA B 

This appraisal is valid for 1 month from issue date 
If there are changes to the original report it may invalidate this document & must be reviewed by Finance. 

 
14/09/2022 

 
Page 2 of 2 

D:\moderngov\Data\AgendaItemDocs\9\9\0\AI00035099\$mi
3sc4xp.docx 

 

The revenue costs assume an opening date of 1 April 2025 and are based on the Max 
Associates report.  The Academy contribute towards costs for utilities, insurance and cleaning 
and this income is included in the table above leading to the facility breaking even by year 3.  
The existing costs of the current facility will be saved and therefore the overall revenue position 
will provide a saving against current costs contributing towards the Councils efficiency 
programme. 
 
The table above does not assume any budget relating to the 3G artificial grass pitch, if this 
element was to progress a separate report will be provided which would detail the costs, 
funding and ongoing revenue income. 
 
Financial Risk 
The Council is forward funding this project based on the expectation that the S106 contribution 
of £1.3m plus indexation will be received around 2025-26.  If the S106 is not received for any 
reason then the Council would be faced with the need to fund the entire project in full, covering 
the shortfall of £1.6m.   
 
The £1.3m S106 funding is an indoor sport contribution from the Attleborough SUE and is due 
to be paid prior to the occupation of the 250th dwelling.  The table above assumes an indexation 
value based on forecasts of the indexation rate up to April 2025, this value could be higher or 
lower depending on the actual indexation rate and the date the S106 is due for payment. 
 
Allowances have been made for inflation on the construction costs, plus general contingency, 
however there remains the risk that costs are higher than estimates leading to higher capital 
costs and more funding being required. 
 
Revenue costs are estimated based on usage and forecasts, there is a risk these estimates are 
not accurate and the costs of the facility are higher on an ongoing basis, leading to higher 
annual costs for the Council. 
 
Based on current forecast cash balances it is anticipated that the Council will be able to forward 
cash flow this project without any detrimental impact, however interest on balances will be 
foregone during this period and that lost income is not shown in the table above. 
 

53



BRECKLAND DISTRICT COUNCIL 
 
Report of: Paul Hewett, Executive Member for Property, Projects & Procurement 
 
To:    Cabinet   September 2022 
    
Author:  Steve Gale, Land & Development Manager 
 
Subject: Breckland Bridge Ltd Business Plan Update 
 
Purpose: Approve the updated Breckland Bridge Ltd Business Plan 
 

 
Recommendations:  
 
Cabinet recommends to Council to approve the updated Breckland Bridge Ltd Business 
Plan for 2022 - 2027. 
 

 
1.0 BACKGROUND 
 
1.1 Breckland Council became one of two shareholders in Breckland Bridge Ltd (‘Bridge’) 

in April 2015 forming a joint venture partnership with Land Group LLP for the delivery 
of property development schemes on Council-owned property assets.   Breckland 
Bridge Ltd has (as per the requirement of the shareholder agreement which 
underpins the governance of the partnership) presented its annual update of the 
company Business Plan which now covers the future five-year period of 2022 to 
2027.  This requires approval by both shareholders.   

 
1.2 This partnership has previously successfully delivered on time and budget the 

construction of the Riverside scheme in Thetford, the design, construction and sale of 
15 new residential units in Mileham and 10 new residential units in Attleborough.  
Due to demand in the market and prudent financial planning these residential 
schemes exceeded the approved scheme values.   

 
1.3 The Business Plan contains the projects which will be delivered in the next period of 

the partnership.  There has been no change to the projects that are in scope for 
delivery.  The key change is the delivery programme which has been amended to 
represent delays that have and continue to influence on the development 
programme.  These include Covid and Covid recovery, construction cost increases 
not matching sales values increases, highways approval delays and more recently 
nutrient neutrality.  These are not specific to Breckland Bridge and these issues are 
having an impact across the development and construction market.  The overall 
affect has been a movement in the delivery programme of approximately 11 months.  
The next programmed scheme is Whissonsett Road, Colkirk which is expected to 
start construction in September 2022 with phase 1 of 11 residential units.   The 
development programme is kept under regular review by the company directors and 
any opportunities to accelerate are considered.  This is depending on market 
conditions and with a view to reducing the overall period of activity where possible. 
This is always subject to the company’s overall development risk being at an 
acceptable level and that the company policy of not more than two schemes in 
development at any one time is not exceeded. 

54

Agenda Item 11



 
1.4 Upcoming programmed schemes are: 
  

 Colkirk: 21 residential units over 2 phases. 
 

 Litcham: 2 sites comprising of 8 residential units. Work is currently ongoing to 
submit a reserved matters planning application. 
 

 Banham: 45 residential units via a land assembly agreement with adjacent 
landowner. A detailed planning application was submitted in January 2022. 
 

 Shipdham: 36 residential units and a new access. Planning permission for the 
new access was granted in October 2021 and the access scheme is granted 
funded and construction will be undertaken as soon as Norfolk County Council 
Highways can undertake their required off-site works. 
 

 Kenninghall: 15 residential units but could increase to 35 if a land assembly 
agreement is agreed and authorised. 

  
1.5 Another part of the Breckland Bridge business plan is the Small Sites workstream 

whereby the company undertakes reviews of the smaller land holdings with a view to 
disposing of the smaller sites for income generation (with or without a planning 
permission).  To date three sites have been identified as benefiting from planning 
approval prior to disposal and are going through that process.  Currently a further 
nine sites have been identified for immediate disposal during 2022/23.  To date three 
sites have been disposed generating gross receipts £82,076.  Appendix B shows all 
the remaining sites in scope for this workstream activity. 

  
1.6 To obtain further commercial returns Breckland Bridge has innovatively entered into a 

third-party agreement with an adjoining landowner at Banham to take forward the 
development at Gaymer Close. Under this agreement Breckland Bridge is 
responsible for securing planning permission across the combined land holding and 
provision of public open space.  A similar agreement is proposed with adjacent 
landowners at Kenninghall. 

 
1.7 Appendix A is the main Business Plan document.  There are several appendices to 

the main Business Plan which can be made available on request for review.  
 

1.8 Recognising the impact that construction and development has on the environment, 
the company has recognised the need to take greater responsibility for limiting the 
impact of the companies’ activities on the environment.  Consequently, the company 
has developed a new Environmental Policy which is included in this Business Plan 
update.  

 
1.8 The performance of the partnership is managed by the Council’s three nominated 

directors who are currently, Mr Jason Cole (Executive Director), Cllr Philip Cowen 
(Executive Member for Finance) and Mr Stuart Bizley (Surveyor and Independent 
Director) who meet with the other directors nominated by the other shareholder (Land 
Group LLP) on a quarterly basis.   

   
 
   

55



 
2.0 OPTIONS 
 
2.1 Option 1: Cabinet recommends to Council to approve the updated Breckland Bridge 

Ltd Business Plan for 2022-2027. 
 
2.2 Option 2: Cabinet does not recommend to Council to approve the updated Breckland 

Bridge Ltd Business Plan for 2022-2027.  
 
 Clause 26 of the Shareholders Agreement sets out the implications if the Council 

does not approve the updated Business Plan.  In summary, in this situation the draft 
Business Plan is referred to the directors of the company with feedback to enable the 
company to provide a further draft.  Whilst this is occurring the latest approved 
Business Plan continues to be effective.  If any further draft is not agreed by the 
shareholders, then the Chief Executives/Managing Directors of each of the 
shareholders shall seek to resolve the matter.   If they are still unable to resolve the 
matter a deadlock is deemed to have arisen which has serious implications for the 
partnership where a shareholder can call for the transfer of the other shareholders 
shares. 

 
 
3.0 REASONS FOR RECOMMENDATIONS 
 
3.1 The main reasons for approving the Business Plan are as follows: 
 

 Overall performance of the partnership is good with three successfully delivered 
projects, further activity to churn the small sites and wider property development 
support and advice received from the partnership.   

 The next Business Plan is viable, based on the assumptions upon which it has 
been modelled and providing the risks are managed and the controls embedded 
within the legal documentation are adhered to.   

 There are added benefits to being in the partnership and the Business Plan is 
delivery focused.  This does not lose the flexibility of receiving services from the 
partnership as required and the ability to access additional property development 
expertise and skills efficiently. 

 Subject to the risks identified which continue to be monitored the overall return to 
the Council is still positive in terms of regeneration and financial outturn.   

 
 
4.0 EXPECTED BENEFITS 
 
4.1 The benefits from approving the updated Business Plan are:  

 

 The continuation of bringing the Council’s surplus land assets into a more 
valuable use creating enhanced financial returns to support the Council’s budget. 

 There is the potential to gain value from the Council’s assets to continue to 
generate cash returns through interest received on construction loans at market 
rates.  However, the Council will need to continue to commit significant temporary 
cash to the partnership on a rolling basis over the life of this arrangement to fund 
schemes on a loan basis which will then not be available for other opportunities 
should they arise.   

 It creates the capacity to deliver construction schemes. 

56



 It provides the skills and experience to deliver construction schemes and review 
assets. 

 It continues to gain regeneration outputs and economic benefits from housing 
and commercial schemes. 

 
 
5.0 IMPLICATIONS 
 
5.1  Constitution & Legal 
 
5.1.1   The Council as the shareholder is the entity that is responsible in the Shareholders 

Agreement to approve the Business Plans of Breckland Bridge Ltd and is therefore 
under a legal obligation to undertake the decision to approve the Business Plan as 
presented via this report.  This decision is a Cabinet resolution to Council. 

 
5.1.2 The Council recommendation in March 2015 (when the authority was provided to 

set up the Breckland Bridge partnership) was to ‘reserve the authorisation of the 
annual Business Plan for Full Council’. 

 
5.2  Contracts 
 
5.2.1 The Shareholders Agreement binds the Council legally into the partnership.  There 

are no proposed changes to that contractual agreement being proposed.  
 
5.3  Corporate Priorities  
 
5.3.1 This approach underpins the following corporate priorities: 
 

 Thriving Places 

 Working Smarter 
 

5.4 Financial 
  
5.4.1 Financial returns from the Business Plan are not fixed and are affected by 

individual project costs and the income from sales at the end of the developments.  
In addition, the Business Plan returns are impacted by any additional activity 
approved and corporate costs.  The current performance forecast for the company 
is currently requiring support from the shareholders.  Appendix C provides more 
detail on the financial information and budget.   

 
5.5 Risk Management  

 
5.5.1 The key risks are the monitoring of income and expenditure of the partnership as it 

undertakes the development schemes.  Financial returns are affected if risks occur 
outside of the forecast range.  Property development as an activity has a range of 
risks including: 
 Construction costs increase. 

 Sales income decreases. 

 Interest rates rise. 

 Ability to achieve change of use planning permission. 

 Delays. 

57



 One or both partners have insufficient cash to support the programme of 
works. 

 Partnership or contractual disagreements. 
 

5.5.2 The key controls in place to manage risks are: 
 Projects can be delivered in phases. 

 There is a two-stage project approval process before a project is started so 
there are checkpoints to confirm risks and financial exposure. 

 Land is valued independently before being sold and transferred to the joint 
venture company. 

 The company tender’s construction contracts. 

 There is a refresh of the Business Plan annually to review progress and 
outturn. 

 Each partner appoints Directors and there are quarterly company board 
meetings to review performance. 

 If the joint venture must pause activity for any reason, there are standstill 
overhead costs for the company and its subsidiaries – the costs of which 
would be shared 50/50 with the joint venture partner, Land Group. 

 Disputes are managed through the legal documentation. 

 Break clauses exists at the 10th (2025) and 15th (2030) anniversary. 
 
5.6 Staffing  
 
5.6.1 At this stage there are no implications for staffing other than the one staff member 

who is the Officer Director on behalf of the Council.  
   
5.7 Stakeholders / Consultation / Timescales 

 
5.7.1 All planning applications for individual projects will be subject to the usual separate 

consultation procedures. 
 
6.0 WARDS/COMMUNITIES AFFECTED 
 
6.1 All 

 
7.0 ACRONYMS  
 

LLP – Limited Liability Partnership 
 

Background papers: 
None 

 
Lead Contact Officer 
Name and Post:   Steve Gale, Land & Development Manager 
Telephone Number:  07920 087447 
Email:    steve.gale@breckland.gov.uk 
 
Director / Officer who will be attending the Meeting  
Name and Post:   Ralph Burton, Assistant Director 
 
Key Decision: No 

58



 
Exempt Decision: No 
 
This report refers to a Discretionary Service  
 
Appendices attached to this report:  
 
Appendix A  Breckland Bridge Business Plan 2022 – 2027 
Appendix B  Small Sites List 
Appendix C  Profoma B 
 

59



1 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 

Breckland Bridge Ltd 
 
 

Business Plan Update 
 

2022 – 2027 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
V2 09.12.21 

60



2 

CONTENTS             
 
1.0 Purpose 
 
Section A – Strategic Business Plan 
 
2.0 Strategic Aims and Objectives 
 
3.0 Partnership Scope 
 
4.0 BB Ltd Structure 

4.1 Commercial Structure 
4.2 Roles and Responsibilities 
4.3 Advisors and Consultants 
4.4 Board and Board Meetings 
4.5 Company Establishment 
4.6 Partner Resourcing 
4.7 Funding Structure and Dividend Policy 

 
5.0 Development Delivery Policies 

5.1 Design Policy 
5.2 Environmental & Sustainability Policy 
5.3 Third Party Partnerships 

 
6.0 Consultation and Communication 
 
7.0 Strategic Performance Monitoring 
 
8.0 Risk Management 
 
Section B – Delivery Plan 
 
9.0 Development Proposals 

9.1 Current Development Projects 
9.2 Proposed development Projects 
9.3 Development Programme 
9.4 Overall Delivery Programme 
9.5 Small Site Disposals 

 
10.0 Property Portfolio Management and Strategy 
 
11.0 Financial Information 

11.1 Funding Sources 
11.2 Development Finance 
11.3 Securing Third Party Finance 
11.4 Partner Funding 
11.5 Treatment of / Payment for Council Land 
11.6 Distribution Policy 
11.7 Budget  

 
12.0 Operational Performance Monitoring 
 
13.0 Day to Day Management 

 

 

61



3 

Appendices        
 
Appendix 1  Vision, Aims & Objectives  
Appendix 2  The Sites  
Appendix 3   Manager Services 
Appendix 4   Supply Chain 
Appendix 5   Personnel Resourcing 
Appendix 6  Funding Structure 
Appendix 7  Environment & Sustainability Policy 
Appendix 8   Communications Protocol and Communications Plan 
Appendix 9  Risk Register 
Appendix 10  Indicative Overall Delivery Programme 
Appendix 11  Small Sites – Summary Duties 
Appendix 12   Small Sites – Progress Summary 
Appendix 13  Deed of Priorities 
Appendix 14  Budget and Project cashflows for Breckland Bridge Ltd 
Appendix 15   Indicative Overall Financial Model at LABV Extension 
Appendix 16  Indicative Future Funding Requirements 
 
 
 

62



4 

1.0 PURPOSE 
 
1.1 The purpose of this document is to provide the business plan for Breckland Bridge 

Ltd (“BB Ltd”).   
 

1.2 In accordance with the joint venture agreements, the first business plan covered 
the period up to 31 March 2020.  This is identified as the Initial Business Plan 
within the various agreements. 

 

1.3 Following extension of the LABV in March 2020 in accordance with the 
Shareholders Agreement this Business Plan reflects the future activities of the 
company during the period April 2022 to March 2027. 

 

1.4 This document is in two parts.  Part (A) is the Strategic Business Plan and Part (B) 
is the Delivery Plan. 

 

1.5 Where appropriate the Business Plan refers to already agreed legal documentation 
but appendices are attached to this Business Plan to enable it to be a self-
contained document as much as possible.  In all circumstances behaviour within 
this Business Plan is governed by the Shareholders Agreement. 

 

1.6 In accordance with the Shareholders Agreement this Business Plan includes a 12 
month financial cash flow for the Company together with supporting development 
cash flows for each active scheme.  Financial projections will be provided on this 
cash flow basis in future years. 

 

 

63



5 

SECTION A – STRATEGIC BUSINESS PLAN 
 
 
2.0 STRATEGIC AIMS AND OBJECTIVES  
 
2.1 Breckland Bridge Limited’s overall vision was amended upon extension of 

the LABV in March 2020.  It can be summarised as follows:- 
To achieve financial returns with a view to maximising revenue for 
shareholders… 

 
2.3 The full Vision, Aims and Objectives are in Appendix 1 
 
2.4 Progress towards achieving the Vision, Aims and Objectives are to be reviewed 

annually via the review on this Business Plan. 
 
 
3.0 PARTNERSHIP SCOPE 
 
3.1 The extent of the land available to BB Ltd for its activities is set out in Appendix 2.  

The Council will make available to BB Ltd the identified land subject to the project 
approval process as set out in clause 28 of the Shareholders Agreement.   

 
3.2 Since its creation eight sites have been removed from the LABV project as follows:- 

 Victory Park, Attleborough – following sale to RG Carter 

 Fairfields, Thetford - plots 062b and southern part of 062c following their 
disposal to enable expansion of the school. 

 Oxwick Road, Horningtoft – land no longer in Council’s ownership 

 Chapel Road, Longham – land no longer in Council’s ownership 

 Bridge Street, Guist – Land no longer in Council’s ownership 

 Rougholme Close, Gressenhall – land no longer in Council’s ownership 

 Heath Road, Elsing – land no longer in Council’s ownership 

 Norman Close, Scarning – land no longer in Council’s ownership 
 
3.3 In addition one further site has been made available for certain activities to the 

LABV project as follows:- 

 Old Chapel Site, Shipdham – acquired to improve the existing Chapel Road 
site 

 
3.4 The partners have appointed Land Group (Breckland) Ltd (LGB) as Development 

Manager (the Manager) for BB Ltd.  LGB is responsible for all the day to day 
operations of the company and delivery of BB Ltd’s vision and aims, under the 
direction of the Board and will deliver the services as set out in Appendix 3.  The 
appointment of the Manager and the obligations and duties of the Manager are as 
set out in the Development Services and Management Agreement (DSMA) which is 
a schedule to the Shareholders Agreement 

 
3.5 Over the course of this Business Plan it is intended that BB Ltd will deliver the 

following projects: 

 Whissonsett Road, Colkirk 

 Weasenham and Wellingham Roads, Litcham  

 Gaymer Close, Banham 

 Chapel Street, Shipdham 

 Powell Close, Kenninghall  
     

64



6 

3.6 The programme for delivery of these schemes will be developed by LGB.  It is 

intended that this will maximise returns whilst managing and controlling development 

risk.  In this regard the shareholders have indicated that they wish development risk 

to be limited to a maximum of 2 schemes on site at any one time and that each 

shareholders maximum financial commitment will be circa £1m.  Phasing of schemes 

will be considered to meet these objectives and control development risks. 

3.7 In addition BB Ltd will:- 
 

 Plan and manage the disposal of those of the Council’s small sites as are 
notified by the Council to the Manager from time to time 
 

 As requested by the Council undertake reviews of the balance of Breckland’s 
land holdings with a view to identifying development options for this other land 
that can be brought forward in subsequent business plan periods. The 
methodology and payment arrangements for this review are set out in the 
Development Services Management Agreement.   

65



7 

4.0 BB LTD STRUCTURE  
 
 
4.1 Commercial Structure 
 
4.1.1 BB Ltd has two shareholders.  The Council as Shareholder (B)  owns 50% of the 

shares and Land Group Breckland Ltd as Shareholder A owns the remaining 50% 
of the shares.    

 
4.1.2 Breckland Bridge Limited will be the main holding company and will incorporate 

separate wholly owned subsidiary (“SPV”) companies.  These will be created for 
each property project as set out in the table below. 

 
 
 
                                           50%                                                   50% 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 

       Project Specific Delivery SPVs 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 To date four SPV’s, Breckland Riverside Ltd, Breckland Homes (Mileham) Ltd , 

Breckland Homes (Attleborough) Ltd and Breckland Homes (Colkirk) Ltd have been 
established.  Following completion of the works at Riverside this SPV has been 
disbanded.  The right to dividends from Breckland Homes (Mileham) Ltd and 
Breckland Homes (Attleborough) Ltd are to remain 90% to the Council and 10% to 
LGB reflecting the original shareholdings in those companies. 

 
4.1.4 BB Ltd’s (and its SPVs) registered address will be at Land Group’s head office at 1 

Quay Point, Station Road, Woodbridge, Suffolk, IP12 4AL.  
 
4.1.5 Further SPVs will be created and named for each property project.  At this stage it 

is envisaged naming will follow a standard format.   
 
4.1.6 Based on how projects will be structured and delivered in the first business plan, 

group relief for Stamp Duty Land tax will apply.  Other tax will need to be managed 
carefully to ensure compliance (VAT) and to ensure that the level of tax is managed 
(Corporation tax).  A key risk in the initial business plan is the management of tax 
payable and a key issue for future business planning is to ensure that the impact 
on taxation of changes in control and shareholding are fully assessed. 

 
 
 

Bridge Ltd 

(Holding 

Company)  

Breckland 

Council  

Land Group 

Breckland Ltd  

SPV 1 SPV 2 SPV 3 

66



8 

4.2 Roles and Responsibilities 
  
4.2.1 Manager  
 
4.2.2 BB Ltd has appointed Land Group (Breckland) Ltd (“LGB”) as Development 

Manager.  LGB is responsible for all the day to day operations of the company and 
delivery of BB Ltd’s vision, aims and objectives, under the direction of the Board of 
Directors.   

 
4.2.3 LGB provides services to Bridge Ltd as set out in Appendix 3.  LGB are, within 

agreed guidelines set out in the DSMA, able to appoint such professional advisors 
and contractors as appropriate to deliver BB Ltd’s vision, aims and objectives.     

  
4.2.4 LBG have established the operational bank accounts for BB Ltd and all its SPVs.  

Barclays Bank are to be the company’s bankers.  LGB are to be the signatories on 
all company payments.  Two signatories are to be required for each.  

 
 
4.3 Advisors / Consultants  
 
4.3.1 Professional advisors and consultants are to be drawn from either an agreed list of 

Market Tested Advisors or procured from LBG’s supply chain taking into 
consideration the agreed procurement principles as set out in the Shareholders 
Agreement.  The principles applying to the Market Tested Advisors and supply 
chain management are set out in Appendix 4.  Key principles to be applied include: 

 

 Market Tested Advisors will be utilised where possible subject to their fees 
being competitive. 

 Any other appointment is to be the subject of open market tender. 

 Tenders are to be assessed on the basis of overall offer not purely price. 

 If possible BB Ltd wishes to maintain and utilise a local supply chain In 
Norfolk. 

   
To date the following key advisors have been selected to work with Bridge and its 
subsidiaries:- 

 Accountant  Berringers LLP 

 Auditors – Ernst Young  

 Auditors – Scrutton Bland 

 Solicitors – Birketts 

 Lead Designer – Hoopers Architects Ltd 

 Cost Consultant – Potter Raper 

 Consultant – Chaplin Farrant 

 Planning Advisor – Ingleton Wood 

 Planning Advisor – Bidwells 

 Highways Engineers  – Richard Jackson Partnership 

 Structural and Drainage Engineers – Rossie Long 

 Surveyors and Valuers – Savills 

 Surveyors and Valuers – Roche 

 Structural, Highways and Drainage Engineers – Plandescil  

 Highways and Drainage Engineers - Create 

 Environmental Consultant  - Norfolk Wildlife 

 Site Surveyors – Survey Solutions  

 M&E Engineers – JSH Ltd 

 Architects – Barefoot Gilles 
 

67



9 

In addition full design teams and Building Contractors have been appointed for the 
various schemes. 
 

 
4.4 Board and Board Meetings 

 
4.4.1 BB Ltd’s Board is to comprise an equal number (maximum 3 each) of Directors 

nominated by each shareholder.  
 
4.4.2 Land Group will nominate the Company Secretary, who may also be a Director of 

BB Ltd.  
 
4.4.3 The Chairman of BB Ltd will be nominated alternately by the shareholders and 

serve for a period of one year.   Andrew Doyle is nominated by Land Group as 
Chairman for 2022/23.   

 
4.4.4 Formal Board meetings are to occur not less than quarterly and will be held at 

Breckland’s offices in Dereham unless otherwise agreed by the Directors. 
 
4.4.5 The Manager will, as required, set up different thematic groups such as Finance or 

Property with relevant advisors, consultants or shareholder representatives to 
facilitate day to day operations of the projects. 

 
 
4.5 Company Establishment 
 
4.5.1 The following companies have been established to date: 

 
Company Name Company Number  Purpose  

Breckland Bridge Ltd  9359161 
 

Holding Company 

Breckland Riverside Ltd 
 

Now dissolved Development SPV for 
Riverside, Thetford 
 

Breckland Homes 
(Mileham) Ltd 

9790983 Development SPV for 
Burghwood Drive, Mileham 
 

Breckland Homes 
(Attleborough) Ltd 

11330628 Development SPV for 
Chapel Road, Attleborough 

Breckland Homes (Colkirk) 
Ltd  

13525499 Development SPV for 
Whissonsett Road, Colkirk 

 
 
4.5.2 Any additional SPV’s will be established by LGB. 
 
4.5.3 As the development activities of the various SPV’s are completed dormant SPV’s 

will be dissolved.  It is envisaged that this process will commence approximately 12 
months after the final activity of an SPV.  Under this process Breckland Riverside 
Ltd was dissolved in 2019. 

  
 
4.6 Partner Resourcing 
 
4.6.1 Both shareholders will ensure that sufficient personnel resources are committed to 

BB Ltd to ensure fulfilment of their roles and responsibilities. 
  

68



10 

4.6.2 The resources available from both shareholders and their management is set out in 
Appendix 5. 

 
  
 
 
4.7 Funding Structure and Dividend Policy 

 
4.7.1 The shareholders will each provide finance to support BB Ltd in delivering its 

vision, aims and objectives.  Following extension of the LABV shareholder funding 
is to be on a 50:50 basis, unless specifically agreed between the shareholders for a 
particular project.  This contrasts with the initial phase projects which were funded 
90% by the Council and 10% by Land Group. 
 
Indicative details of the planned funding structure are set out in Appendix 6. This is 
based on the following key principles: 

 

 Partner funding will be provided at Bridge Ltd level.   
 

This funding will be introduced by way of loans BB Ltd will utilise these 
funds to support the activities of BB Ltd and its development subsidiaries.  
Loans between BB Ltd and its subsidiaries will be managed by promissory 
notes. 

 

 The Council will transfer its land to the relevant SPV in return for a loan 
from Bridge Ltd. 

 
The loan will reflect the open market value of the land. 
 
It is envisaged that BB Ltd will direct that the land is transferred direct to its 
subsidiary development SPV, rather than to BB Ltd itself. 

 

 Land Group will provide “match funding” in respect of the value of the land.   
 

The extent of the “match funding” will be in proportion to Land Group’s 
shareholding in BB Ltd. 

 

 3rd party construction debt will be secured at SPV level. 
 

This debt will be secured on open market terms and be secured as a first 
charge against the SPV 

 
The Council may choose to become the 3rd party debt funder as it has done 
for the previous schemes. 

 

 Additional funding will be provided by the shareholders as may be required. 
 

Authorisation of this additional funding will form part of the Stage 2 approval 
process for any scheme under the Shareholders Agreement.  Any such 
funding will be in proportion to the shareholder’s then shareholding in BB 
Ltd. 

 

 The proceeds of the SPV’s activities will be used to repay funding as set out 
in the Deed of Priority in Appendix 13. 

 
 

69



11 

4.7.2 As a result of adopting loans to provide the Company’s initial working capital and 
ongoing development expenditure it is anticipated that for periods BB Ltd may be a 
technically insolvent company.  This is recognised by the Directors who are content 
that with ongoing Shareholder support the company is a viable trading concern with 
anticipated development profits sufficient to repay the outstanding loans and 
generate a trading profit as demonstrated by the cash flow in Appendix 16.  It may, 
however, require formal letters of support from the Shareholders to enable the 
company’s Auditors to satisfy themselves that it is a going concern.  These will be 
requested, if required, by the Manager. 

 
4.7.3 During this business plan period shareholder dividends are anticipated with 

distributions to the shareholders as detailed in the Shareholders Agreement. 
 
 

   

70



12 

5.0 DEVELOPMENT DELIVERY POLICES 
 
 
5.1 Design Policy 
 
5.1.1 Working with its chosen lead designer, Bridge has developed a series of standard 

house type layouts.  These are to be adopted across all its schemes to maximise 
the cost benefit of this approach.  Elevational treatments will be developed, from a 
standard palate, to reflect each site’s characteristics and environment.  In this way 
it is anticipated that over time a Bridge home will become a sought after design 
standard in the market, attracting a premium price.   

 
 
5.2 Environmental Policy  
 
5.2.1 See Appendix 7.  This policy is kept under regular review by the Manager and will, 

where appropriate, reflect the Shareholders own policies in these important areas.  
The Company adopted an updated Environmental Policy during 2021.  

 
5.3 Third Party Partnerships 
 
5.3.1 In delivering the various residential schemes Affordable Housing is to be 

incorporated to meet the relevant planning policy requirements.  To date BB Ltd 
has not formed a strategic partnership with a registered housing provider (Housing 
Association) to assist in the delivery and disposal of the Affordable units.   

 
5.3.2 This approach will be kept under review with LGB responsible for recommending a 

suitable strategic Housing Association partner to BB Ltd Board if it believes such a 
partner will benefit the company.   

 
5.3.3 It is also envisaged that there may be other opportunities for third party 

partnerships, such as with adjoining landowners or known occupiers, where BB 
Ltd’s impact can be multiplied up through a joint approach.  Again LGB is to be 
responsible for identifying such opportunities and recommending joint approaches 
to BB Ltd Board. 

 
5.3.4 BB has entered into one such third party agreement with the adjoining landowner 

(G F Cole and Son Ltd) at Banham to take forward development of the site at 
Gaymer Close.  Under this agreement BB is responsible for securing planning 
permission across the combined land holding, which includes relocation of the 
exiting Public Open Space from BDC’s land to land owned by GF Cole and Sons.  
Following grant of planning approval BB has the option either to acquire the 
adjoining owners land or require a joint sale of the combined land holding. 

 
5.3.5 A similar agreement is currently being negotiated with two adjoining landowners 

(Messrs Gooderham and Barker) to take forward the development of BDC’s land at 
Kenninghall 

 
5.3.6 Other important third party relationships are external funding bodies and grant 

bodies such as the Anglia Local Economic Partnership which LGB will be 
responsible for bringing forward suggested grant applications to. 

71



13 

6.0 CONSULTATION AND COMMUNICATION 
 
6.1 Undertaking successful consultation and communication is of crucial importance to 

BB Ltd in terms of establishing awareness and support for its regeneration 
objectives.  The successful communication of BB Ltd’s activities is also important to 
the Council due to the range of outputs that the partnership provides. 

 
6.2 Whilst LGB will lead all communications on behalf of BB Ltd it will maintain close 

liaison with the Council’s communications and marketing team to ensure that the 
maximum benefit is derived.  A Communications Protocol and Communications 
Plan have been agreed and both are attached in Appendix 8.  The 
Communications Plan will be updated as required (anticipated to be at least 
quarterly) to reflect Bridge’s forthcoming activities.  It will be circulated to the 
Council’s own communications team so that it can (if desired) prepare its own 
communications for this future activity.   

 
6.3 BB operates a web site which it uses to provide background information on its 

projects to the general public.  It is envisaged that this web site will be maintained 
as an information source on the Company’s activities over the Business Plan 
period, with LGB responsible for ensuring its contents are updated regularly and 
remain relevant. 

  
 

 

72



14 

7.0  STRATEGIC PERFORMANCE MONITORING  
 
7.1 LGB are responsible for monitoring delivery of the business plan’s objectives in 

accordance its duties and responsibilities as set out in the Shareholders Agreement 
and DSMA. 

 
7.2 Whilst there will be regular and on-going communication between LBG and the 

shareholders as to progress in achieving BB Ltd’s objectives formal quarterly 
update reports to be provided for the shareholders (via the Directors) including: 

 
7.3 At strategic level: 
 

 Progress against programme (with RAG status) 

 Progress against an annual budget with forecast and variance 

 Development Cashflow forecasts for active schemes with forecast and 
variance 

 Future funding requirements 

 Updated Risk Register and a review of the risk profile 

 Health and Safety report 

 Payments to LGB for the forthcoming period 

 Any new or additional activity outside the scope of the business plan 
projects 

 
 
7.4 Section 12.2 below in Part (B) outlines what performance will be reported per 

project. 
 

7.5 In addition to enable BB Ltd Board of Directors to understand and where required 
approve future activity LGB will provide: 

 

 An update on possible Future Proposed Projects 

 Expenditure forecast for Future Proposed Projects 

 Key Programme dates for Future Proposed Projects 
 

7.6 Once the Directors are satisfied that it wishes to proceed with any additional 
projects, these will be designated as Proposed Projects (as defined in the 
Shareholders Agreement and DMSA) and advanced in accordance with the 
procedures set out therein. 

 
7.7 This activity will also support the development of the subsequent Business Plan. 

 

73



15 

8.0 RISK MANAGEMENT  
 
8.1 LBG will be responsible for identifying project risks and in order to protect BB Ltd’s 

interests administer, manage, communicate and co-ordinate the risks accordingly. 
By identifying, understanding and managing the unpredictable, the eventual 
residual risk will be substantially reduced. 

 
8.2 A “snowboard” approach to risk management will be utilised as outlined in the 

following diagram.  This depicts the project on a downhill run and looks to pre-plan 
and analyse where all the potential pitfalls are, identify the risks and take corrective 
actions before they are required.  Some things can be controlled, others cannot.  
By focusing on the actions needed to manage the risks throughout the run and 
arrive safely, the project wins through. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

8.3 LGB will maintain a ‘risk register” for BB Ltd. This is to set out all the potential risks 
identified by the risk analysis.  Particular areas of risk to be examined include: 

 

 time constraints  

 quality and cost issues 

 the probability and consequences of all potential problems 
 

Step 1  Definition of the objectives of the project, 

to set the scene for the Risk Management 

process 

Step 2 A plan outlining the Risk Management 

requirements for the project with roles and 

responsibilities of the team members  

Step 3 Identification and assessment of the 

project risks and potential benefits utilising 

probability/impact grid. 

Step 4 Allocation of risk ownership and prepare 

action plans to monitor and review 

progress and evaluate any changes. 

Step 5 Assess the effectiveness of processes and 

application and draw upon lessons for 

future projects. 

Define and Record 

Project Objectives 

Prepare 

Risk/Benefit 

Management Plan 

Identify and 

Assess 

Risk/Benefits 

Prepare 

Team/Individual 

Action Plans 

Review 

R
IS

K 
M

A
N

A
G

EM
EN

T 

M
P

 

74



16 

8.4 In addition a financial analysis of the risks identified in the Risk Register is to be 
utilised as a key to identifying those risks having the potentially greatest impact on 
BB Ltd.  

 
8.5 The Risk Register and financial analysis will be updated constantly throughout the 

duration of BB Ltd as new risks occur and others resolved.  This will be reviewed at 
each Board Meeting. 

 
8.6 BB Ltd’s current Risk Register is attached in Appendix 9.  
 

75



17 

SECTION B – DELIVERY PLAN  
 
 
9.0 DEVELOPMENT PROPOSALS 
 
9.1 Currently one development scheme has received final board approval This is at 

Whissonsett Road, Colkirk comprising 21 residential units  The scheme is to be built 
in two phases, starting in [February  2022] with completion anticipated in [February  
2024]. 

 
9.2 In addition to the above during the Business Plan it is anticipated that BB Ltd will 

focus on delivery of four further developments as follows: 
 

9.2.1 Weasenham and Wellingham Roads, Litcham – outline planning approval has been 
secured for the development of two 8 unit schemes.  Work is currently ongoing to 
submit a Reserved Matters application during Q1 2022, with a view to commencing 
development in Autumn 2022. 
 

9.3.2 Gaymer Close, Banham – a promotion agreement has been completed with the 
adjoining landowner to secure permission for circa 45 residential units.  A detailed 
planning application was lodged in January 2022.   
 

9.3.3 Chapel Street, Shipdham – Outline planning approval has been secured for the 
development of up to 36 residential units.  Detailed planning approval has also been 
secured for creation of a new access road junction onto Chapel Street, works which 
include relocation of a pedestrian crossing and construction of a new site access for 
land opposite.   

 
Commencement of the highway works was conditional upon the opposite landowner 
also obtaining approval for a revised version of his development proposals including 
this revised road junction.  This application was granted in October 2021. 
 

Detailed design for the highways junction were submitted to NCC Highways and a 

S278 Agreement covering the works was completed in [               ].  Following 

completion of this agreement highway works have commenced with completion due 

in March 2022. 

 

Tenders were received for the revised highway junction works in the sum of 
£354,390.39, including all design costs and fees incurred to date.  This cost is to be 
funded via a £300,000 grant from Central Governments Land Release Fund with the 
balance paid by BDC and LGB on a 50:50 basis.  The delays in obtaining the 
required planning and highways approvals mean that the works are now outside the 
original grant timescale.  An application to extend the permitted delivery timescales 
was been submitted and an extension secured.  This is conditional on The Council 
transferring the site to a separate delivery vehicle by end March 2022.  The Council 
are setting up a wholly owned SPV to satisfy this condition. 
 

9.3.4 Powell Close, Kenninghall – a site identified in the local plan for up to 15 residential 
units.  However, the adopted Local Plan identified a larger requirement of up to 35 
units for Kenninghall, with the balance unallocated to a specific site.  We therefore 
commenced discussions with the adjoining landowners who have agreed to enter into 
a promotion agreement to see if this larger allocation can be delivered through a joint 
scheme.  Solicitors are currently finalising this agreement, which once completed will 

76



18 

enable pre-planning design work and engagement with the planners regarding 
securing the full Local Plan allocation during 2022/23. 

 
9.4         Overall Delivery Programme 

 
9.4.1 We attach in Appendix 10 an indicative overall delivery programme for the remaining 

development schemes which is summarised in the table below.   
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
These dates remain largely as previously anticipated.  Some slippage has occurred 
in the anticipated construction start at Colkirk – now [January 2022], previously 
September 2021- due to issues in obtaining highways approvals to the S278 works.  
Similar reasons apply to the delays to the road junction works at Shipdham – now 
January 22 previously January 21.  In addition the development of this scheme has 
been pushed back to reflect the Shareholders requirement that only two schemes are 
on site at any time (see section 3.6).  Increasing the size of the Kenninghall scheme 
also adds an additional Phase. 
 
Overall, therefore the Company’s anticipated delivery programme now extends to 
2030.  As works progress and BB’s balance sheet increases, however, we anticipate 
that BB will build larger phases in these latter schemes and that this will enable the 
overall programme to be shortened.  The anticipated delivery programme also 
assumed the total sale of a phase before commencement of the subsequent one.  
Overlapping phases, subject to the Company’s financial position and risk exposure, 
also offers scope to shorten the overall programme. 
  
 9.4.2 Detailed programmes for each scheme will be brought forward as part of the 
shareholder approval process, reflecting the financial and development commitments 
of the company and the Shareholders development risk controls (see section 3.6). 

 

Scheme Size 
(units) 

Start 
Construction  

Complete 
Construction  

Complete Sale 

Colkirk 
• Phase 1  
• Phase 2 

 
11 
10 

 
Feb  2022 
Jan 2023 

 
Dec 2022 
Sept 2023 

 
June 2023 
Febl 2024 

Banham 
• Phase 1 
• Phase 2 
• Phase 3 

 
15 
15 
17 

 
Aug 2023 
Aug 2025 
May 2027 

 
Aug 2024 
Aug 2026 
April 2028 

 
Aug 2025 
May 2027 
Nov 2028 

Shipdham  
Road Junction  

• Phase 1  
• Phase 2 
• Phase 3 

 
 

12 
12 
12 

 
Jan 2022 
Jan 2025 
Oct2026 
June 2028 

 
Mar  2022 
Dec 2025 
Sept 2027 
June 2029 

 
 
Sept  2026 
June 2028 
Mar 2030 

Litcham 
• Phase 1 
• Phase 2 

 
8 
8 

 
Sept 2022 
April  2024 

 
Aug 2023 
Jan 2025 

 
April 2024 
Nov 2025 

Kenninghall 

 Phase 1 

 Phase 2 

 
17 
18 

 
Dec 2025 
Dec 2027 

 
Dec 2026 
Dec 2028 

 
Dec 2027 
Dec 2029 

77



19 

9.5      Small Site Disposals 
 
9.5.1 In addition to the development schemes outlined above BB Ltd is to arrange the 

timely disposal of the Small Sites for the Council. 
 

9.5.2 Given the range of sites it is anticipated that a range of different disposal strategies 
and procedures will be required, with some sites available for sale immediately, with 
others requiring approval of outline or detailed planning approval before a sale can 
be implemented. 
 

9.5.3 LGB will review the schedule of small sites and prepare a programme for their sale.  
It is anticipated that this will be a rolling programme based on one site being 
marketed, another being prepared for sale (including planning approval being sought 
if required) and another commencing the sale preparation process.  In this way there 
will always be three small sites actively under sales consideration at any one time.  
The target is to seek to dispose of 10 sites and achieve minimum sale proceeds 
(before costs) of £150,000 per annum. 

 

9.5.4 To date LGB have reviewed 15 sites.  Of these 3 have been identified as benefitting 
from planning approval prior to disposal.  A further 9 have been identified for 
immediate sale, with the balance to be held for the time being.  Progress on the 
planned planning applications and disposals is awaiting approval by the Council. 

 
In addition, LGB have commenced review on the next batch of 13 sites and have 
recently received initial feedback from the planners.   

 
9.5.5 We attach in Appendix 11 a summary of the duties to be undertaken in respect of the 

Small Site Sales and in Appendix 12 a Schedule showing progress to date. 
 

  

78



20 

10.0  PROPERTY PORTFOLIO MANAGEMENT AND STRATEGY 
 
10.1 In addition to delivery of the activity set out in Section 9.0 above BB Ltd is when 

requested by the Council to undertake a strategic review of all the Council sites to 
identify those suitable for bringing forward for development and/or where strategic 
planning activity is required to maximise their future development potential. 

 
10.2 For the A list sites this report will address any changes in the following: 
 

1. Relevant planning policy documents. 
2. Relevant planning policy strategy and review programme. 
3. The sites current use.  
4. The sites optimum use (if different). 
5. The options and timescales for achieving planning approval for the 

identified optimum and (if required) permitted uses. 
6. Outline development appraisal.  
7. Outline development cash flow. 
8. Anticipated third party input (architects, engineers etc). 
9. Opportunities for land acquisition / joint ventures. 
10. Key development constraints – infrastructure, flood risk, contamination 

etc. 
11. Market commentary for the proposed use. 
12. How the proposals for the site meet the Council’s objectives and 

priorities for its assets.  
 
10.3 For the B list sites a short form update will be provided covering any changes in the 

following: 
 

1 A site descriptive summary 
2 Current use 
3 Target development use 
4 Development constraints 
5 Actions proposed 
6 Proposed timescale for future review 

 
10.4 Outside of this formal reporting process if BB is aware of potential activity on or in 

connection with any site which should be undertaken to assist in achieving the 
Company’s overall vision this is to be brought to the attention of the Council. 

 
10.5 In addition to the above the Council has used the skills and expertise of BB Ltd to 

undertake miscellaneous advice (i.e. Barnham Broom Golf Club, Dereham Business 
Centre, Elizabeth House, Dereham, Lubeck Road, Kings Lynn and Rutherford Way 
Thetford) as part of this Property Portfolio Management work.  It is anticipated this 
miscellaneous advice will continue to be undertaken. 

 
10.6 Additional fees are payable to the Manager in respect of this work.  These are in turn 

re-chargeable from BB to BDC. 
 

  

79



21 

11.0 FINANCIAL  
 
11.1 Funding Sources  
 
11.1.1 The principles for all funding are set out in Part (A) of this Business Plan. 
 
11.1.2 BB Ltd is to be funded through two distinct streams as follows. 
 
11.1.3 Firstly, initial working capital for the company, to be used to support its day to day 

running costs and property portfolio management and strategic activities.   
  
11.1.4 The shareholders have agreed to provide initial equity to support these operations 

and an initial sum of £300,000 has been identified as required for the initial 
Business Plan period.  This has been introduced in proportion to the shareholders 
respective shareholdings by the shareholders.  As detailed in Section 11.6.2 the 
shareholders have agreed to waive interest charges on these initial loans from April 
2022. 

 
11.1.5 Secondly, finance required to support the development schemes undertaken by BB 

Ltd.  This is to be sourced and finalised on a project by project basis.  
 
11.1.6 In addition specific activity at Shipdham and Banham are being funded by the 

Council.  This also applied to obtaining planning approval at Litcham, work now 
completed. 

 
11.1.7 Third party costs and fees associated with disposal of the small sites are to be met 

by the Council.  LGB will self-fund its activities in connection with the small sites in 
return for a fee on site sale. 

 
11.2 Development Finance 
 
11.2.1 Development finance to support the Whissonsett Road, Colkirk development has 

been secured from the following sources:-  
 

Funding Source Sums Provided  

BDC Commercial Loan  

Phase 1 

Phase 2 

 

£2,609,524 

£1,083,525 

BDC Land Loan  £265,000 

Land Group Breckland Matched Land Loan  £265,000 

Shareholders Equity Loans   

          BDC                                      Phase 1 

                                                         Phase 2 

£737,341 

£361,175 

          Land Group Breckland           Phase 1 

                                                         Phase 2 

£737,341 

£361,175 

  
Detailed documentation as set out in the Shareholder Agreement has been entered 
into by the various parties to document these loans and associated obligations.   

80



22 

  
11.2.2 These sums are to be repaid through the planned residential sales. 
 
11.2.3 In addition Shareholders Loans have been agreed to take forward the following 

schemes:- 
 

Shareholder Scheme Agreed Loan 

          BDC  Litcham 

Shipdham  

Kenninghall 

£45,000 

£25,000 

£80,000 

          Land Group 

Breckland  

Litcham  

Banham  

Shipdham 

Kenninghall  

£45,000 

£60,000 

£25,000 

£80,000 

 
 These loans will form part of the schemes overall development funding.  Their 

reimbursement will be reflected in the detailed funding package finalised as part of 
the final development approval process, or, if the scheme does not progress, from 
sale of the site  

 
11.2.4 In addition funding will be required to advance the Reserved Matters application at 

Shipdham to preserve the current Outline Planning Consent.  Whilst funding for this 
work will form part of a formal Stage 1 Approval process at this stage it is 
anticipated that a budget of circa £100,000 will be required. 

 
11.2.5 As part of the Shareholder approval process for any scheme detailed funding 

strategies will be developed for each site.  At this stage, however, it is anticipated 
that similar funding sources will be used for all the schemes, but with Shareholder 
commitments reflecting the current 50:50 ownership of the company. 

 
11.3 Securing Third Party Finance 

 
11.3.1 LGB will be responsible for identifying, securing and managing all required third 

party finance and banking relationships. 
 
11.3.2 LGB will maintain close liaison with all funders and the wider funding market.  

Opportunities will be taken where available to refinance/reduce applicable interest 
rates/maximise funding benefits where available. 

 
11.4 Partner Funding 
 
11.4.1 As identified in Part (A) shareholder funding will be provided utilising loan 

structures 
 
11.4.2 The shareholders funding rates, repayment priorities and principles will be as per 

Appendix 6 and Appendix 13. 
 
 
 
 
 

81



23 

11.5 Treatment of / Payment for Council Land 
 

11.5.1 The arrangements for the draw down of Council land by BB Ltd is set out in the 
Shareholders Agreement. 

 
11.5.2 In summary the Council will transfer any sites direct to BB Ltd (anticipated to be direct 

to the individual project SPVs) at the point of the commencement of the construction 
at its full Open Market Value (OMV) at that point in time reflecting its actual planning 
consent.  Open Market Value of the land is recognised at the point of transfer through 
the creation of a loan between the Council and BB Ltd of the corresponding sum. 

 
11.5.3 In order to demonstrate best consideration each party will collaborate to agree an 

independent Valuer to undertake an open market valuation of the site in accordance 
with the RICS’ Red Book. If both parties cannot agree the nomination of a suitable 
Valuer it will be referred to the President of the Royal Institution of Chartered 
Surveyors. 

 
11.5.4 This methodology is robust and will demonstrate best consideration in a number of 

ways: 
 

a) Price is determined by independent professional valuation undertaken on 
behalf of each Partner. 
 

b) OMV is determined immediately upon transfer of the land to the project SPV 
immediately prior to commencement of the scheme and once all planning and 
other consents and approvals have been obtained, a point in time when the 
site’s value should be at its optimum. 

 
c) OMV will reflect the actual planning consent granted and therefore the benefit 

of any relaxation of Council Policy obtained though BB Ltd’s negotiation with 
the Local Planning Authority or others will be reflected in the value of the land 
and paid to the Council  

 
11.5.5 The Open Market Value of each site is considered both by the Company and 

subsequently independently by its Shareholders as part of the Stage 2 approval 
process for any scheme.  This provides the opportunity for the sum identified by the 
independent valuation to be reviewed and challenged if any party considers the 
proposed site value to be incorrectly assessed. 

 
11.5.6 These planned arrangements do not prevent the Council from disposing of its land 

to other third parties, either at the direction of BB Ltd, or for alternative Council 
reasons.  Where the land is to be sold directly to a third party where the Brdige has 
facilitated that sale the Council will receive the full price from the third party but will 
reimburse BB Ltd for any costs it has incurred in obtaining the consent or advancing 
the sites development potential which have contributed to the value of the land being 
sold.   The Council will also pay BB Ltd a fee equivalent to 10% of the Open Market 
Value reflecting that BB Ltd will not have an opportunity to participate in the future 
development profits from the land. 

 
 
11.6 Distribution Policy  
 
11.6.1 It is intended that any retained profits will be distributed as set out in the Deed of 

Priority (as amended by the LABV Extension Deed) at Appendix 12.   
 

82



24 

11.6.2 In this regard as part of the extension of the LABV all existing Working Capital 
Loans are being rolled forward and from April 2022 interest will no longer be 
payable by the Company.  Each Shareholder is to account for repayment of these 
loans out of the profit surplus they receive. 

 
11.6.3 If required to support the ongoing activities of BB the Shareholders will provide 

further (new) working capital loans.  These will be repaid by BB before any profit 
surplus is distributed to the Shareholders.   

 
11.6.4 Following completion of each Project the Manager will review the ability of the 

Company to make distributions to the Shareholders, based on its commitments at 
that time.   

 
 
11.7 Budget 
 
11.7.1 Attached in Appendix 14 is the projected budget for the first 12 months of the 

Business Plan period in accordance with the Shareholders Agreement.  Also 
attached is the detailed development cashflow for the Colkirk project. 

 
11.7.2 This budget and associated project cashflows will be updated quarterly for BB Ltd 

Board and will comprise the main financial monitoring tool for all BB Ltd’s activities. 
 
11.7.3 The definition of budget is as per the Shareholders Agreement repeated here: 
 

Budget means the financial projections and forecasts, including all anticipated 

expenditure, of the Company for each Financial Year, which shall be prepared in Agreed 

Form (and approved) and amended by the Board (as provided at Clause 27  of the 

Shareholders Agreement).  The Budget for the first Financial Year, or part Financial Year, 

from the date of this Agreement shall be prepared and brought forward to the first board 

meeting and references to Budget shall unless stated otherwise be references to the 

current Budget. 

11.7.4 As per 11.7.3 the Budget must be presented to the first Board meeting for 

authorisation and any subsequent years the annual budget must also be presented 

to the Board for authorisation as part of the business plan. 

11.7.5 Attached in Appendix 15 is a copy of the financial model prepared to illustrate the 

likely performance of the Company in delivering the 6 identified development projects 

at the date of its extension.  Inevitably the Company’s activities have moved on since 

this model was prepared with notable changes in the development programme used 

to calculate this model.  However, the predicted overall outturns and delivery 

timescales remain key targets for the Company.  Whilst the Company will not directly 

compare its actual performance against this model or look to update the model to 

reflect actual activity it nonetheless provides a useful reference for judging the 

success of the Company.  As part of future Stage 2 project approvals significant 

changes between the latest projected project outcome and those used in this model 

will be highlighted to assist the Company in understanding likely changes in its 

overall performance  

 

 

83



25 

11.8 Indicative Future Funding 

11.8.1 Attached in Appendix 16 are two schedules identifying future scheme funding.  

11.8.2 The first shows the agreed shareholder funding commitments over the period to 

March 2023. 

11.8.3 The second shows the anticipated capital commitments required to develop out all 

of the Company’s projects.  Given the long timescales that are involved this schedule 

is indicative with costs based on current construction costs of £2,500 per sq m plus 

8% for ancillary fees.  Site acquisition values are assumed at 4% of total costs – 

consistent with the Financial Viability Appraisals prepared for the Litcham and 

Banham schemes.   

  

84



26 

12.0  OPERATIONAL PERFORMANCE MONITORING  

 
12.1 LGB is responsible for monitoring delivery of the business plan’s objectives in 

accordance its duties and responsibilities as set out in the Shareholders Agreement 
and DSMA. 

 
12.2 Whilst there will be regular and on-going communication between LBG and the 

shareholders as to progress in achieving BB Ltd’s objectives formal quarterly 
update reports to be provided for the shareholders (via the Directors) including: 

   
On a Project by Project Basis: 

 Progress against project milestones 

 Expenditure versus budget  

 Significant changes to forecasts 

 Progress with disposals and variance of market prices with budgets 

 Construction Progress 

 Planning progress 

 Any additional funding requirements 

 Key milestones for the forthcoming quarter 

 Risk Log 

 Health & Safety Log 

 Any Identified issues 
 
12.3 In addition at Completion of each Project LGB will summarise the actual key outturns 

achieved versus those anticipated in both the financial model and the specific budget 
approved as part of the Stage 2 Project Approval process, utilising the following 
Performance Criteria Matrix :- 

 Commercial Residential Land Sale 

Floor space & 

Land Use 

Amount of additional 
new commercial floor 
space as per approved 

project proposals 

 

Number of net new 
homes built as per 
approved project 

proposals 

Change of land use 

achieved 

Value & 

Financial 

Outturn as per budget 
 
Finance secured as per 
agreed funding 
proposal 
 
Anticipated land value 

achieved 

Outturn as per budget 
 
Finance secured as per 
agreed funding 
proposal 
 
Achieve land value 

achieved 

Site preparation costs 
as per budget 
 
 
 
 
Anticipated land value 
received 

 

Timing & 

Delivery 

Project delivered on 
time according to start 
date, end date and 
practical completion 
 
 
No negative media and 

publicity or complaints 

Project delivered on 
time to start date, end 
date and practical 
completion 
 
 
No negative media and 

publicity or complaints 

Project delivered on 
time and sales 
completed according 
to agreed completion 
date 
 
No negative media 
and publicity or 

complaints 

 
  

85



27 

13.0  DAY TO DAY MANAGEMENT  
 
13.1 LGB will be responsible for the day to day management of the company and 

delivery of all Secretarial and Accountancy services.   
 
13.2 The full extent of LGB’s services are set out in the DMSA but will in particular 

include: 
 
13.2 Financial  

 

 Open and maintain required bank accounts, for both the LABV and all 
subsidiaries. 

 Prepare all cheques and payment transfers which will be forwarded to the 
Council for first signatory, together with suitable supporting information.  
Upon return LGB will sign as second signatory and dispatch  

 Maintain up to date management accounts and make timely submission of 
all company returns etc. 

 Liaise with the Companies Auditors as regards production of audited 
accounts. 

 Complete all company and VAT returns 
 

13.3 Marketing 
 

 Maintain the Company’s web site 

 Maintain the Company’s image, logo etc 

 Produce regular press releases and respond to press enquiries 

 Promote the objectives of BB Ltd 
 

13.4 Legal  
 

 Maintain suitable company insurances  

 Maintain and enforce the Company’s Health and Safety policy  
 

13.5 Suppliers  
 

 Establish and maintain an appropriate supply chain  

 Monitor supplier performance 

 Ensure prompt payment of supplier invoices in accordance with agreed 
payment terms 

 
13.6 The Development Management Services Agreement contains complete details as 

to the roles and responsibilities and details of the fees payable.  
 

86



Appendix B- Small Sites 

Small Sites 

 

Thetford Grenville Way  

Watton Bridle Road 

Watton Lovell Gardens  

Weeting Jubilee Close 

Whissonsett Church Close 

Ashill Swaffham Road 

Billingford Festival Way 

Great Cressingham Priory Drove 

Hockering Mattishall Lane 

Horningtoft Oxwick Road 

Little Cressingham  Pilgrims Way 

Little Dunham Necton Road 

Longham r/o 14 Chapel Road   

Longham Chapel Road 

Rocklands Wayland Road 

Stow Bedon The Close 

Weasenham St Peter School Road 

Attleborough Russet Close 

Attleborough Knevet Close 

Attleborough Atling Way/Plasset Drive  

Attleborough New Road  

Attleborough Yew Tree Road  

Dereham Oakwood Road  

Dereham Colin McClean Road  

Dereham Dale Road  

Dereham Eaton Gardens  

Dereham Elizabeth Close 

Dereham Farmway 

Dereham Farmway 

East Harling The Park  

East Harling Grigsons Wood  

Narborough Westfields  

Necton Elizabeth Drive 

Necton Jubilee Way 

Necton Jubilee Way 

Necton Folly View 

Scarning Allwood Avenue  

Shipdham Park Estate 

Sporle Newfields 

Sporle Newfields  

Swaffham Ormesby Drive 

87



Appendix B- Small Sites 

Swaffham Brancaster Way  

Swaffham Rockland Close 

Swaffham Wolfeton Drive  

Swaffham The Paddocks  

Swaffham The Paddocks  

Swaffham The Paddocks 

Thetford Tennyson Way 

Thetford Tennyson Way  

Thetford Woodlands Drive 

Thetford Burns Close 

Thetford Woodlands Drive 

Thetford Fairfields 

Thetford Fairfields 

Thetford Fairfields  

Thetford Pine Close 

Watton Langmere Road 

Watton Bridle Road 

Watton Mill Road  

Watton Heron Way  

Watton Jubilee Road  

Watton Lovell Gardens  

Weeting Angerstein Close 

Attleborough Horsepit (Car Park) 

Swaffham Lynn St (Car Park) 

Thetford Bury Road (Car Park) 

Thetford Castle Street (Car Park) 

Thetford Cluniac (Car Park) 

Thetford St Giles Lane (Car Park) 

Watton Thetford Road (Car Park) 

 

88



PROFORMA B 

This appraisal is valid for 1 month from issue date 
If there are changes to the original report it may invalidate this document & must be reviewed by Finance. 

 
14/09/2022 

 
Page 1 of 1 

D:\moderngov\Data\AgendaItemDocs\0\0\1\AI00035100\$ph
ui3igw.docx 

 

BRECKLAND COUNCIL FINANCIAL COMMENTS & APPRAISAL 
 

THIS DOCUMENT PROVIDES THE FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS 
 IN RESPECT OF THE ATTACHED REPORT 

     
FROM:  Alison Chubbock (Assistant Director Finance) 
REPORT: Breckland Bridge Business Plan 
REPORT DATE: September 2022 
 
Considered By: Cabinet 
Date: 19-09-22 

 
Financial Services Comments 
The Breckland Bridge business plan supports the delivery of building houses on Council owned 
land.  This land is valued at market values by an independent valuer at the time of transfer into 
the Breckland Bridge delivery scheme, this results in a one off capital receipt to the Council 
which gets included in our budgets, supporting delivery of other capital projects. 
 
Currently Breckland has a maximum limit within the Treasury Management Policy to provide up 
to £5 million of loans to Breckland Bridge companies.  Loans are provided to the Breckland 
Bridge companies for the land loan and shareholder loan and the Council earns interest on 
these loans at circa 8%-10%, which provides an income to the Councils revenue budgets.   
 
Where the Council chooses to (and within the financial limits set), we can provide construction 
loans for the companies, which also provides an income to the Councils revenue budgets.  If 
the Council does not provide these construction loans the Breckland Bridge companies would 
have to source loans externally at the best rates available. 
 
The ‘Small Sites’ work generates both capital and revenue one off income to the council, partly 
offset by the fees payable to The Land Group and the costs of sale. 
 
Financial Risk 
The key financial risks are highlighted below: 
 
If construction costs increase and/or sales income decreases there may be no profit generated 
by the development scheme.  This would lead to the Council having to cover the losses at their 
50% shareholding level.  This could also mean that loans and interest are not repaid and would 
need to be written off by the Council, resulting in additional unbudgeted costs.  There are no 
reserves set aside to protect against this eventuality.  Each scheme is considered and approved 
by the Breckland Bridge Board before the scheme is delivered, this process includes an up-to-
date assessment of costs and income and therefore scheme viability. 
 
If schemes are delayed and/or delivery of a scheme takes longer than planned, then the 
financial exposure to Breckland Bridge loans could result in shortfalls of available cash 
balances the Council and lead to a borrowing requirement.   
 
The running costs of £75k per year cannot always be met from the ongoing projects, in these 
circumstances the Council will have to provide 50% of any shortfall each year, which will create 
a cost pressure.  This is a particular risk whilst schemes are not progressing and there is no 
income into the companies, but less of a risk once schemes are in progress. 
 
Breckland Bridge have not yet tested the market for external loans as, to date, the Council has 
provided the construction loans.  The availability of external loans at market rates is dependent 
on the financial standing of Breckland Bridge. 

89



BRECKLAND DISTRICT 
COUNCIL 

 

Report of: Sarah Suggitt: Executive Member for Strategic & Operational Planning  

To: Cabinet: 19 September 2022 

Author: Simon Wood: Director of Planning and Building Control 
Andrew D’Arcy: Planning Policy Manager 

 
Subject: Breckland Local Plan: Partial Review 

 
Purpose: To seek Cabinet approval for an additional public consultation period for 

the Partial Update of the Local Plan, to revise the Local Development 
Scheme and seek delegated authority for agreement to any changes to 
the consultation documents following the current consultation period.  

 

 

1.0 BACKGROUND 

 
1.1 In July 2022 Cabinet agreed to undertake a Regulation 19 consultation on the Partial 

Update of the Local Plan.  That consultation commenced on 11 August 2022. 
 
1.2 During the consultation the Council was informally advised that a developer was 

querying the legal process that was being followed for the Partial Update as the Council 
had not carried out a formal Regulation 18 stage of consultation. 

 
1.3 In the context of a partial review, the Regulation 18 consultation would ask consultees 

what they think of the proposal to embark on a process of partial review and what the 
partial review ought to contain. Once the responses are to hand and considered, the 
LPA must then consider them in “preparing” the plan. Given the narrow focus of this 
partial review i.e. a single policy, this question was included as part of the current 
Regulation 19 consultation. 

 

 

Recommendation(s): 

THAT CABINET: 
 

1. Delegate to the Deputy Chief Executive in agreement with the Portfolio 
Holder:  

i. to make any changes to the proposed wording of the Partial 
Review consultation that may be considered necessary following 
the end of the current consultation and having regard to any 
representations received; 

ii. to approve and publish an updated Local Development Scheme;  
iii. to agree to publish and invite representations upon the Local Plan 

Partial Update document for a six week period in accordance with 
Regulation 19 of the Town and Country Planning (Local Planning) 
(England) regulations 2012; 

 

90

Agenda Item 12



 
1.4 As a result of the informal representation the Council immediately sought advice from 

both the Planning Inspectorate and external legal support. Following this it has been 
clarified that the current process being undertaken by the Council may not fully meet the 
regulations and in particular Regulation 18 of the Town and Country Planning (Local 
Planning) Regulations 2012 that requires that various bodies and stakeholders be 
notified that the council is preparing a plan. It invites them to comment about what that 
plan ought to contain. The Inspectorate considers that the Council should have clearly 
publicised its intentions, with appropriate supporting documentation to comply with 
Regulation 18.  

 
1.5 Previously it had been considered that the purpose of the overall Regulations had been 

met by virtue of the transparent decision making process on the approach taken by 
Cabinet in November 2021, the fact that the Partial Update is a very focused wording 
change to a single policy and that the questions set out in the consultation, that would 
be expected to form part of a Regulation 18 consultation, was set out at paragraph 3.2 
of the Partial Review Consultation Paper. That stated that: ‘We are asking for comments 
on our proposed approach, including the proposed wording to policy INF 03 and the 
Integrated Assessment’ were included within the Regulation 19 papers. The papers 
prepared for the Regulation 19 process were checked by the legal advisor and this issue 
was not raised at that time.  

 
1.6 A key test at examination will be an assessment as to whether the plan has been 

prepared in accordance with legal and procedural requirements. If the Plan were to fail 
this test then the Council could well be required to re-start the process.  

1.7 It should be noted that the advice from the Planning Inspectorate is not binding or part 
of the examination; but it can be considered as a robust guide as to the likely conclusion 
of the inspector who will be considering the plan at examination 

1.8 Given this advice it is considered prudent to correct this issue at this stage and reduce 
the risk of later failure at the examination and further delays. This reflects the 
commitment within the process to listen and respond to feedback.  

 

2.0 THE PARTIAL UPDATE: THE REVISED PROCESS  

 

2.1 The Consultation Paper attached to the Cabinet report of July 25th 2022 set out the 
Council’s preferred approach to the Update of the Local Plan as a twin tracked process 
of a Single Policy Review and Full Update.   It sets out the reasons for this approach and 
seeks views on whether this is a prudent approach or whether there are other 
approaches that the Council should consider. 

 

2.2 Delegated authority is sought to enable the Executive Director and Portfolio Holder for 
Strategic and Operational Planning to agree any revisions to the consultation papers 
that may be required following consideration of any responses received during the 
current consultation process without having to revert back to Cabinet and allow the new 
consultation round to commence promptly with minimum impact upon the timetable.   

 
2.3 The proposed revised procedure for the Partial update following independent legal 

advice is as follows: 91



 

 Continue with the current 6 week consultation that is scheduled to end on September 
23rd 2022; 

 Following the end of the consultation period produce a schedule of the responses 
received as part of this consultation (with the Council’s response to those 
representations) and consider whether any changes need to be made to the 
proposals currently set out in the Partial Update and agree these with the Deputy 
Chief Executive and Portfolio Holder; 

 Agree the content of, and timetable for, the further Regulation 19 public consultation 
with the Deputy Chief Executive and Portfolio Holder and publicise via emails and a 
press release that the previous Regulation 19 consultation (that had just ended) will 
now be regarded as the Regulation 18 consultation (as the Partial Review 
Consultation Paper included both Regulation18 and Regulation 19  questions) and 
that there will be an additional period of public consultation and give the dates of this 
consultation period; 

 Update the Local Development Scheme 

 Inform the Planning Inspectorate of the revised process and timetable  
 
2.4 Depending on the number of responses received to the Consultation it is anticipated that 

the new consultation period could start as early as September 30th 2022. A 6 week period 
means that this would end on November 11th 2022. But the start date of the next round 
of consultation will depend on the time needed to consider diligently the results of the 
current consultation. 

 
2.5  After this consultation the Plan, together with any responses received, will then be 

considered by Cabinet and, if approved, would be submitted to the Planning Inspectorate 
for Examination along with all the comments received at both consultation periods so as 
not to prejudice any respondents to the consultation process. The Planning Inspectorate 
will then arrange an examination, which is likely to be held in Spring 2023. At this stage 
an independent Planning Inspector will assess whether the Partial Update proposal is 
‘sound’  

 
2.6 This revised process has an impact on the timetable for the Plan by pushing it back a 

week. It was always the intention to present the Submission Version to Cabinet in 
November 2022. In order that the December 2024 date for the Submission of the Full 
Update  correlates with the date proposed in the change to Policy INF 03 , it is necessary 
to produce an updated version of the Local Development Scheme. Whilst this represents 
a streamlining of the timetable for preparation it is considered that the resources are 
available to meet the revised timescales. This would be approved by the Deputy Chief 
Executive and Portfolio Holder. The key milestones are as follows: 

 
 

Partial Update 

Cabinet approval of additional 
Consultation  

19 September 2022 

Regulation 19 Consultation 30 September 2022 – 11 November 2022 
(6 weeks) 

Cabinet consideration of responses and 
decision to submit Plan for examination 

November 2022 Cabinet (Date TBC) 

Submission for examination By end November 2022 92



Examination and Adoption January – April 2023 

 

Full Update 

Regulation 18 Consultation (issues and 
Draft Plan) 

June 2022 – January 2024 

Regulation 19 consultation (Pre-
Submission) 

June 2024 - September 2024 

Cabinet consideration of responses and 
decision to submit Plan for examination 

November 2024 

Submission for examination December 2024 

Examination and Adoption Q2 2025 – Q3 2026  

 

3.0 OPTIONS 

3.1 Do nothing: If the Council does not address this issue, then it runs the risk of the Plan 
being deemed to not be legally compliant with the Local Plan Regulations. The 
Inspector would not be able to address any flaws in process and therefore the plan 
would not be recommended for adoption. This would result in relevant policies within 
the existing local plan being reduced in weight as part of the decision making process.  

3.2 Accept the recommendations: This will enable the Council to ensure it complies with 
the Local Plan process and reduce the risk of the plan not being recommended for 
adoption by an Inspector and the subsequent risk to decision making.     

 

4.0 REASONS FOR RECOMMENDATION(S) 

4.1 The Preparation of a Local Plan is a statutory requirement and must follow a statutory 
procedure, including public consultation and examination. Although this additional 
consultation period slightly extends the timescale for the preparation of the Partial 
Update of the Plan it is considered to be the best approach as it would significantly 
reduce the risk of failure at Examination.  

4.2 It was not possible to place this matter on the Key Decision Register given the 
timetable for the Partial Review and the risks detailed above if that timetable was 
materially changed. Officers are responding to feedback received and therefore need 
a Cabinet decision urgently so as not to impact on the timetable.   

 
5.0 EXPECTED BENEFITS 

 
  5.1 The government expects local councils to have up-to-date Local Plans to guide 

development in their area. This plan means that the Council can retain control over 
where development should be located rather than unplanned speculative 
development, sometimes without sufficient benefit to local communities. Failure to 
have an up-to-date plan could risk government intervention and result in a loss of local 
control. 

 
  6.0 IMPLICATIONS 

 
6.1 In preparing this report, the report author has considered the likely implications of 

the decision - particularly in terms of Carbon Footprint / Environmental Issues; 93



Constitutional & Legal; Contracts; Corporate Priorities; Crime & Disorder; Data 
Protection; Equality & Diversity/Human Rights; Financial; Health & Wellbeing; 
Reputation; Risk Management; Safeguarding; Staffing; Stakeholders /Consultation, 
Timescales; Other. Where the report author considers that there may be 
implications under one or more of these headings, these are identified below. 

 

Corporate Priorities 
 

6.2 The Local Plan Review aligns with the following corporate priorities in the Breckland 
Corporate Plan 2020–2023. 

 

 To deliver substantial and continued growth as proposed through our Local Plan, 
in conjunction with our key partners. 

 Enable the effective planning and delivery of housing solutions to meet local needs 
and aspirations to ensure that our residents including veterans have access to a 
range of housing options in the district. 

 

Staffing and Financial 
 
6.3 None 

 
 

Risk Management 
 
6.4  If the partial review is not submitted in line with the timetable then the provisions of 

existing policy INF03 will technically “bite” and some policies in the Local Plan will be 
deemed to be out of date. The consequence of this is that decisions on planning 
applications must take into account, as a material consideration, the presumption in 
favour of sustainable development (“PIFSD”) set out at paragraph 11 of the NPPF. For 
an application which is contrary to the development plan, and where the application site 
is not protected and/or does not adversely affect protected assets, then paragraph 11d)ii 
of the NPPF is engaged. 

 
6.5  The starting point in deciding whether or not the most important policies are out of date 

is that it is a matter of planning judgment for the decision-taker. However, in decision-
taking on planning applications, the Council would be reasonably entitled, as a matter of 
planning judgment, to give little or no weight to INF03 on account of the very short delay 
that would be likely to result 

 
7.0 WARDS/COMMUNITIES AFFECTED 

 
7.1 All 

 
 

Background Papers:- 
 

 

Lead Contact Officer 
Name and Post: Simon Wood: Director of Planning and Building Control 

Andrew D’Arcy: Planning Policy Manager 
Telephone Number: 07775036582 
 

94



Email: Simon.wood@breckland.gov.uk 
Andrew.darcy@breckland.gov.uk 

 
Key Decision: Yes 

 
Exempt Decision: No 

 
This report refers to a Mandatory Service. 
 

95

mailto:Simon.wood@breckland.gov.uk
mailto:Andrew.darcy@breckland.gov.uk


BRECKLAND DISTRICT COUNCIL 
 
Report of:  The Leader Cllr Sam Chapman-Allen and Chief Executive Maxine O’Mahony 
 
To: Cabinet – 26 September 2022 
 
Author: Rob Walker - Deputy Chief Executive 
 
Subject:  Corporate Peer Challenge  
 
Purpose: For Members to receive and note the final report of the LGA Corporate Peer 

Challenge Review Team. 
 

 
Recommendation(s):  
 
1) That Cabinet note the contents of this report.  
 

 
1.0  BACKGROUND 
 
1.1 In June 2022, we were pleased to welcome a Peer Review Team from the Local Government 

Association to conduct a Corporate Peer Challenge. Corporate Peer Challenges are 
conducted by experienced Member and Office peers from across local government who are 
chosen to reflect the requirements and focus of the review. Peer Challenges are improvement 
focussed and tailored to meet individual councils’ needs. They are designed to complement 
and add value to a council’s own performance and improvement plans. 

1.2 The Peer Review Team spoke to councillors, officers, partners and stakeholders at Breckland 
over a period of four days to look at how we operate and report these findings back to 
Councillors and the Senior Leadership Team. 

1.3 The final report of the Review Team has now been received (Appendix A) and sets out a 
series of ten recommendations for action. Senior Officers will now develop an Action Plan to 
set out a pathway to delivering the Review Team’s recommendations. Progress of the Action 
Plan will be reported to Councillors later this calendar year. 

  Corporate Peer Challenge Process 
 
1.4 The make-up of the peer team reflected the focus of the peer challenge and peers were 

selected based on their relevant expertise. The lead peers were:  
 

 Lead Peer - Kevin Dicks, Chief Executive, Bromsgrove & Redditch Councils  

 Lead Member Peer – Cllr Peter Fleming, Leader, Sevenoaks Council  

 Member Peer – Cllr Darren Rodwell, Leader, Barking & Dagenham  

 
1.5 The peer team considered the following five themes which form the core components of all 

Corporate Peer Challenges. These areas are critical to councils’ performance and 
improvement and were: -  

 
1. Local priorities and outcomes  
2. Organisational and place leadership  
3. Governance and culture  
4. Financial planning and management  

96

Agenda Item 13



5. Capacity for improvement  
 
1.6 In addition to these questions, the Council asked the peer team to provide feedback on its 

established ‘Inspiring Communities’ Programme.  
 
  Summary Findings 
 
1.7 The peer team presented their findings on the last day of their visit in June and have now 

submitted their feedback report, attached at Appendix A. It is important to note that 
corporate peer challenges are improvement-focused, they are not inspections. The peer 
team provide feedback as critical friends, based on their experience and knowledge of local 
government. The process is not designed to provide an in-depth or technical assessment 
of plans and proposals. 

 
1.8 The peer team’s findings are clearly set out in the report and although the focus is on areas 

for development, they also highlight the areas in which the Council is performing strongly is 
making significant progress. 

 
1.9 For example, the peer team recognises the phenomenal physical and cultural change which 

has taken place at Breckland over the last two years. They were very much struck by the 
warm, genuine, and unified culture at Breckland Council, which is clearly at the start of an 
exciting period of change and transformation.  

 
1.10 The headlines from the feedback report are: - 
 

 Incredible physical and cultural change has taken place at Breckland over the last two years; 

 There is a warm, genuine, and unified culture at Breckland Council, which is clearly at the 
start of an exciting period of change and transformation; 

 The Council’s covid pandemic response was excellent, ensuring communities were protected 
and supported during a significantly challenging and unprecedented time; 

 The conclusion of the strategic partnership with South Holland District Council has been seen 
by staff and partners as positive with the transition managed sensitively ensuring the 
workforce risks were mitigated throughout and support to communities not adversely 
impacted; 

 There was an observable buzz and energy about the new work environment at Elizabeth 
House; 
 

 Most staff and members were able to talk about the Council’s priorities. Further embedding 
will ensure all staff and member contributions are fully aligned and working towards achieving 
the council’s required outcomes.  
 

 The Council’s programme to support climate change ‘Breckland 2035’ could be making faster 
progress and a collective organisational responsibility is suggested; 
 

 The Council is on a journey to operate from an evidence-based model. There are positive 
examples but more work to be done; 
 

 Strong ambition and leadership from the Council Leader in partnership with the Chief 
Executive.  The Leader and Chief Executive are both trusted and respected by staff and 
partners. 
 

 The ambition and aspiration for place needs further embedding across the organisation; 

97



 

 Further work is needed to ensure performance measures are effective and an appropriate 
narrative is required to ensure there is effective governance and staff and members are held 
to account; 
 

 The council’s delivery of extra temporary housing is excellent, however there is a need to go 
further to tackle the wider housing challenges; 
 

 The current financial position is sound in the short-term, although future years will become 
more challenging with significant budget gaps to close; 
 

 Staff are proud to work for the community and for Breckland which is captured in the Council’s 
progressive aspirations for work culture #TeamBreckland. 
 

 Next Steps 
 
1.11 Members and officers can now reflect on the Corporate Peer Challenge Review Team’s 

findings and recommendations. An action plan will be developed based on the 
recommendations and to bring this back to Members before the end of the calendar year.   

 
 1.12 The peer team and the LGA are keen to build on the relationships formed through the peer 

challenge process. The process includes a check-in session in six months’ time, which 
provides an opportunity for the Council’s senior leadership to update peers on its progress 
against the action plan and discuss next steps. 

 
 
2.0 OPTIONS 
 
2.1 To do nothing. 

 
2.2 To note the content of the report.  

 
 
3.0 REASONS FOR RECOMMENDATION(S) 
 
3.1 To receive the Review Report from the LGA peer team and commence production of an 

associated Action Plan.   
 
4.0 EXPECTED BENEFITS 
 
4.1 Peer Challenges are improvement focussed and will add value to the council’s own 

performance and improvement plans. 
 
5.0 IMPLICATIONS 
 
5.1 Carbon Footprint / Environmental Issues  
  

There are no implications arising directly from this report.  
 
5.2  Constitution & Legal 

 
 There are no implications arising directly from this report.  
  
5.3  Contracts 

 

98



 There are no implications arising directly from this report.  
 
5.4  Corporate Priorities 

 
 There are no implications arising directly from this report.  
 
5.5  Crime and Disorder  

 
 There are no implications arising directly from this report.  

 
5.6  Data Protection 

 
 There are no implications arising directly from this report.  

 
5.7 Equality and Diversity / Human Rights 

 
 There are no implications arising directly from this report.  
 
5.8 Financial  

 
 There are no implications arising directly from this report.  
 
5.9  Health & Wellbeing 

 
 There are no implications arising directly from this report.  
 
5.10 Reputation  

 
 Any external review will have impact on the reputation of the Council when published publicly.  

This review report is overwhelmingly positive and should therefore have a beneficial impact 
on reputation.   

 
5.11     Risk Management  

 
 There are no implications arising directly from this report.  
 
5.12 Safeguarding 
 
 There are no implications arising directly from this report. 
 
5.13 Staffing 
 
 There are no implications arising directly from this report.  
 
5.14    Stakeholders / Consultation / Timescales 

 
Commitment to the LGA to produce an Action plan within 6 weeks and invite the Lead Peers 
back for a visit in 6 months.   

 
5.15 Other  
 
 There are no implications arising directly from this report.  
 
 
6.0 WARDS/COMMUNITIES AFFECTED 

99



 
6.1 All. 
 
7.0 ACRONYMS  
 
7.1  Local Government Association - LGA 
 

Background papers:-  

 
Lead Contact Officer 
Name and Post:  Rob Walker 
Telephone Number: 07867 988826 
Email: Robert.walker@breckland.gov.uk 
 
Key Decision: No  
 
Exempt Decision: No  
 
This report refers to a Discretionary Service  
 
Appendices attached to this report:  
 
Appendix A Peer Review Report 
  
 

100



 

 

 

 

 

 

LGA Corporate Peer 
Challenge 
 

 

Breckland Council 
 
13 – 16 June 2022 

 
Feedback report 
 

 

 

 

  

 

 

101



 

2 
18 Smith Square, London, SW1P 3HZ     www.local.gov.uk      Telephone 020 7664 3000      Email info@local.gov.uk      Chief Executive: Mark Lloyd  

Local Government Association company number 11177145 Improvement and Development Agency for Local Government company number 03675577 

 

 
  

  

102

http://www.local.gov.uk/
mailto:info@local.gov.uk


 

3 
18 Smith Square, London, SW1P 3HZ     www.local.gov.uk      Telephone 020 7664 3000      Email info@local.gov.uk      Chief Executive: Mark Lloyd  

Local Government Association company number 11177145 Improvement and Development Agency for Local Government company number 03675577 

 

 
  

1. Executive summary .............................................................................................. 4 

2. Key recommendations ......................................................................................... 7 

3. Summary of the peer challenge approach ........................................................... 8 

4. Feedback ........................................................................................................... 10 

5. Next steps .......................................................................................................... 22 

 
 
 
  

103

http://www.local.gov.uk/
mailto:info@local.gov.uk


 

4 
18 Smith Square, London, SW1P 3HZ     www.local.gov.uk      Telephone 020 7664 3000      Email info@local.gov.uk      Chief Executive: Mark Lloyd  

Local Government Association company number 11177145 Improvement and Development Agency for Local Government company number 03675577 

 

 
  

1. Executive summary 
 

The peer team recognise the phenomenal physical and cultural change which has 

taken place at Breckland over the last two years. We were very much struck by the 

warm, genuine, and unified culture at Breckland Council, which is clearly at the start 

of an exciting period of change and transformation. As is later highlighted in the full 

report, this was evidenced by the modern new workspace at Elizabeth House, the 

agile working approach and the ‘do different ethos’ which came through in our 

conversations with officers and partners. 

Breckland Council is one of the fastest growing districts in the country with a 

population of 140,000 and shift to increased urbanisation. The districts ambition is 

encapsulated in ‘Future Breckland, thriving people & places’ a project started in early 

2021 which will provide an evidenced based approach to place shaping across the 

districts five market towns.  

The project will support strengthening the districts position for obtaining external 

funding and attracting inward investment.  The shared vision will support galvanising 

local partners around a common purpose to ensure effort and resources are focused 

on place shaping.  This approach characterises the strong ambition and leadership 

from the council Leader in partnership with the Chief Executive. The Leader and 

Chief Executive are both trusted and respected by staff and partners providing a 

positive basis for driving this agenda forward and taking an increased focus in the 

wider region. 

However, this approach is not unilateral and ambition and aspiration for place needs 

further embedding across the organisation, requiring more specialist resources, for 

example, programme and project capacity supported by wider member engagement. 

The council has been through significant change during the past few years with 

additional challenges including supporting communities with the covid pandemic and 

more recently the ending of a ten-year strategic relationship with South Holland 

District Council.  The decoupling from the partnership has been seen by staff and 

partners as positive with the transition managed sensitively ensuring the workforce 

risks were mitigated throughout and support to communities not adversely impacted.  

One notable outcome has been a greater focus on Breckland whilst achieving 

104

http://www.local.gov.uk/
mailto:info@local.gov.uk


 

5 
18 Smith Square, London, SW1P 3HZ     www.local.gov.uk      Telephone 020 7664 3000      Email info@local.gov.uk      Chief Executive: Mark Lloyd  

Local Government Association company number 11177145 Improvement and Development Agency for Local Government company number 03675577 

 

 
  

increased management resilience, all factors that positively support the councils’ 

priorities. 

The councils covid pandemic response was excellent, ensuring communities were 

protected and supported during a significantly challenging and unprecedented time.   

During the covid pandemic, the council took the opportunity and associated risks to 

refurbish their HQ building, Elizabeth House in Dereham.  The refurbishment is 

significantly more than an office refresh.  The design and space planning has 

successfully created a work environment that encourages collaboration and working 

together to support the council’s priorities.  There was an observable buzz and 

energy about the work environment. Staff are proud to work for the community and 

for Breckland which is captured in the council’s progressive aspirations for work 

culture #Teambreckland.   

The transition from the strategic partnership resulted in the recent appointments of a 

new Chief Executive, Deputy Chief Executive and two Executive Directors.  A team 

of Assistant Directors have been in post for just over twelve-months and there are 

still some transitional arrangements to work through as the organisation evolves and 

adjusts to best support the council’s priorities.  

The majority of staff and members were able to talk about the council’s priorities. The 

Deputy Chief Executive and Executive Directors each have allocated leadership 

responsibilities for the council’s priorities.  Further embedding will support greater 

understanding, ensuring staff and member contributions are fully aligned and working 

towards achieving the council’s required outcomes. The council’s programme to 

support climate change ‘Breckland 2035’ could be making faster progress. There is a 

need for a stronger climate focus to ensure all related aspirations and desired 

outcomes are supported throughout the organisation in policy making and 

operations. Peers strongly suggest Breckland 2035 is a collective organisational 

responsibility beyond the current leadership and portfolio arrangements 

The council is on a journey to operate from an evidence-based model.  There are 

positive examples of data and analytics being used to develop policy and work 

programmes designed to deliver aspects of the council’s priorities.  The ‘Inspiring 

Communities’ programme is a good example of this. It has been well received and 

supported by the community and partners and was informed from the outset by data 

105

http://www.local.gov.uk/
mailto:info@local.gov.uk


 

6 
18 Smith Square, London, SW1P 3HZ     www.local.gov.uk      Telephone 020 7664 3000      Email info@local.gov.uk      Chief Executive: Mark Lloyd  

Local Government Association company number 11177145 Improvement and Development Agency for Local Government company number 03675577 

 

 
  

and community needs. 

The council is working towards making improvements to data and performance 

measures to ensure there is a robust provision of evidence to support the council’s 

priorities.  Performance measures have recently been reviewed to better align to 

evidence performance and outcomes against the council priorities, although further 

work is needed to ensure this is effective, an appropriate narrative is required to 

ensure there is effective governance and staff and members are held to account.  

The council’s delivery of extra temporary housing is excellent, however there is a 

need to go further to tackle the wider housing challenges.  A flexible housing strategy 

aligned to the council’s priorities, underpinned through planning would deliver better 

outcomes.  

Viability of social housing has seen a reduction in planned outturn leading to a 

distinct lack of social housing in the system.   The council could play a role in 

increasing social housing availability, one way of doing this could be through its joint 

venture company, Breckland Bridge although the numbers would not be 

considerable. 

The current financial position is sound in the short-term, although future years will 

become more challenging with significant budget gaps to close. In previous years the 

council has used its excellent commercial acumen to generate income to balance the 

budget. Peers suggest a mix of more divergent strategies may be required to close 

the forecasted budget gaps and are pleased the emergent ‘Evolve’ programme will 

seek to address these challenges. The current and future financial challenges are not 

unilaterally recognised and are often seen through a historical perspective, an 

example of this is the council’s approach and perspective on risk management in 

relation to financial borrowing which seems to be inconsistent with the scale of 

ambition.  

There are some longstanding contracts coming to an end of the contractual period 

which should be subject to an options appraisal to determine in each case if an 

outsourced delivery model is the best outcome for cost efficiency, greater operational 

control and alignment to the council’s priorities. 

 

106

http://www.local.gov.uk/
mailto:info@local.gov.uk


 

7 
18 Smith Square, London, SW1P 3HZ     www.local.gov.uk      Telephone 020 7664 3000      Email info@local.gov.uk      Chief Executive: Mark Lloyd  

Local Government Association company number 11177145 Improvement and Development Agency for Local Government company number 03675577 

 

 
  

2. Key recommendations 
 

There are a number of observations and suggestions within the main section of the 

report. The following are the peer team’s key recommendations to the council: 

2.1. Recommendation 1 

There are financial challenges ahead; it should be the collective responsibility of all 

staff and members to ensure financial targets are met. 

2.2. Recommendation 2 

Consider whether the council needs to raise finance through borrowing in order to 
meet council priorities. 

2.3. Recommendation 3 

Align housing operation, housing strategy and strategic planning to achieve the 
desired outcomes. 

2.4. Recommendation 4 

Consider how to mobilise all members around developing and delivering the councils 
priorities.  

2.5. Recommendation 5 

Breckland 2035 – shared ownership to deliver and fully integrate across the 
organisation, including democratic decision-making. 

2.6. Recommendation 6 

Continue to gather and analyse data to inform evidence-based decisions and 
policies.  

2.7. Recommendation 7 

Ensure all your performance measures align with and demonstrate achievement of 
your priorities. 

2.8. Recommendation 8 

Building on the good relationships of the Leader and Chief Exec externally, continue 
to develop the role Breckland plays in the wider region / economy. 

107

http://www.local.gov.uk/
mailto:info@local.gov.uk


 

8 
18 Smith Square, London, SW1P 3HZ     www.local.gov.uk      Telephone 020 7664 3000      Email info@local.gov.uk      Chief Executive: Mark Lloyd  

Local Government Association company number 11177145 Improvement and Development Agency for Local Government company number 03675577 

 

 
  

2.9. Recommendation 9 

Increase programme and project management capabilities to deliver your projects 
and priorities.  

2.10. Recommendation 10 

Explore the opportunities that will arise in advance of contracts ending. 
 
 
 
 

3. Summary of the peer challenge approach 

3.1. The peer team 

Peer challenges are delivered by experienced elected member and officer peers. The 

make-up of the peer team reflected the focus of the peer challenge and peers were 

selected on the basis of their relevant expertise. The peers were: 

• Lead Peer - Kevin Dicks, Chief Executive, Bromsgrove & Redditch Councils 

• Lead Member Peer – Cllr Peter Fleming, Leader, Sevenoaks Council 

• Member Peer – Cllr Darren Rodwell, Leader, Barking & Dagenham 

• Officer Peer - Lisa Wills, Community Safety Strategy and Partnership Manager, 

Portsmouth Council 

• Officer Peer - Chris Brook, Director of Place and Enterprise, South Hams and 

West Devon Council 

• LGA Peer Challenge Manager – James Mehmed 

• LGA Advisor – Aimee Wittams-Smith  

 

 

 

 

 

 

108

http://www.local.gov.uk/
mailto:info@local.gov.uk


 

9 
18 Smith Square, London, SW1P 3HZ     www.local.gov.uk      Telephone 020 7664 3000      Email info@local.gov.uk      Chief Executive: Mark Lloyd  

Local Government Association company number 11177145 Improvement and Development Agency for Local Government company number 03675577 

 

 
  

3.2. Scope and focus 

The peer team considered the following five themes which form the core components 

of all Corporate Peer Challenges. These areas are critical to councils’ performance 

and improvement. 

1. Local priorities and outcomes - Are the council’s priorities clear and 

informed by the local context? Is the council delivering effectively on its 

priorities?  

2. Organisational and place leadership - Does the council provide effective 

local leadership? Are there good relationships with partner organisations 

and local communities? 

3. Governance and culture - Are there clear and robust governance 

arrangements? Is there a culture of challenge and scrutiny? 

4. Financial planning and management - Does the council have a grip on its 

current financial position? Does the council have a strategy and a plan to 

address its financial challenges? 

5. Capacity for improvement - Is the organisation able to support delivery of 

local priorities? Does the council have the capacity to improve? 

 

In addition to these questions, the council asked the peer team to provide feedback 

on its established ‘Inspiring Communities’ Programme. This programme was 

established in 2019 with the aim of reducing vulnerability within the district, either 

directly through the programme, improved partnership working, early intervention 

services and community funding. The council has committed £1 million of funding 

from reserves to support its delivery. After engaging with residents and partners the 

following four priorities have been identified to focus activities: - 

 
1. Domestic abuse 
2. Social isolation and loneliness 
3. Mental health 
4. County lines 

 
 
 
 

109

http://www.local.gov.uk/
mailto:info@local.gov.uk


 

10 
18 Smith Square, London, SW1P 3HZ     www.local.gov.uk      Telephone 020 7664 3000      Email info@local.gov.uk      Chief Executive: Mark Lloyd  

Local Government Association company number 11177145 Improvement and Development Agency for Local Government company number 03675577 

 

 
  

The Council asked peers to look at: - 
 

• Is the programme delivering its identified outcomes? 

• What next, is there any learning from the peer’s knowledge or experience that 
could shape the future direction of the programme? 

• Make suggestions on how the council could fund the programme in the long 
term as it is currently funded for a fixed term period through reserves? 

3.3. The peer challenge process 

Peer challenges are improvement focused; it is important to stress that this was not 

an inspection. The process is not designed to provide an in-depth or technical 

assessment of plans and proposals. The peer team used their experience and 

knowledge of local government to reflect on the information presented to them by 

people they met, things they saw and material that they read.  

The peer team prepared by reviewing a range of documents and information in order 

to ensure they were familiar with the council and the challenges it is facing. The team 

then spent four days onsite at Breckland Council, during which they: 

• Gathered information and views from more than 38 meetings, in addition to 

further research and reading. 

• Spoke to more than 90 people including a range of council staff together with 

members and external stakeholders. 

This report provides a summary of the peer team’s findings. In presenting feedback, 
they have done so as fellow local government officers and members. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

110

http://www.local.gov.uk/
mailto:info@local.gov.uk


 

11 
18 Smith Square, London, SW1P 3HZ     www.local.gov.uk      Telephone 020 7664 3000      Email info@local.gov.uk      Chief Executive: Mark Lloyd  

Local Government Association company number 11177145 Improvement and Development Agency for Local Government company number 03675577 

 

 
  

4. Feedback 

4.1. Local priorities and outcomes 

The council’s priorities are detailed in the corporate plan and are designed to ensure 

people and local businesses can thrive.  Local growth is set in balance with a strong 

commitment to influencing and delivering a greener future through the ‘Breckland 

2035’ priority. Although the Breckland 2035 priority is aspirational and has positive 

senior leadership, the delivery would benefit from being embedded throughout the 

organisation to ensure decision-making is integral to all areas of the council from 

policy making through to operational delivery. A decision wheel approach or similar 

may be appropriate to elevate Breckland 2035 in the minds of decision makers 

To ensure the ambition of Breckland 2035 is realised, the structure and delivery 

model would benefit from being reviewed. Aligning HR policies to incentivise 

electrical vehicle ownership is a noteworthy example of joining up policy whilst 

contributing to the achievement of the climate priority.  

Throughout the corporate peer challenge process, staff and members were able to 

talk about the priorities and make the connection with their work.  Further 

communication and support will help to fully embed them and ensure all effort is 

focussed on the shared ambition of the council.  Council priorities were less 

understood outside the organisation amongst the community with some external 

support not recognised as being delivered by the council.  Increased communication 

may help the community to understand the council’s priorities and how projects and 

delivery link up with the ambition for place. 

The council needs to be clearer on the vision for place and embed and communicate 

this widely to increase the understanding locally and ensure the community and 

partnership capacity is closely aligned.  

There was a positive link between data and evidence when informing policy making 

or underpinning the objectives of a project, for example, the ‘Inspiring Communities’ 

programme.  The council aspires to be an evidence-based organisation and is on a 

journey to improve local data and information to create insight to inform future work 

priorities. 

Further investment is required to ensure the provision of evidence and insight is 

111

http://www.local.gov.uk/
mailto:info@local.gov.uk


 

12 
18 Smith Square, London, SW1P 3HZ     www.local.gov.uk      Telephone 020 7664 3000      Email info@local.gov.uk      Chief Executive: Mark Lloyd  

Local Government Association company number 11177145 Improvement and Development Agency for Local Government company number 03675577 

 

 
  

congruent with the future aspirations for place and that priorities are informed by 

current and local data that look towards the future and shape decision-making.  The 

council has made excellent use of internal capability by seeking volunteers to join a 

self-selecting group referred to as the ‘Geek Squad’ to discuss how to improve data 

provision, as well as contacting other councils to learn from their experience.  

A positive example is the current housing needs assessment which will support 

informing the future housing and planning strategies. 

The performance management framework has been recently reviewed with revised 

performance metrics and is still work in progress.  Peers highlighted the need to 

ensure the performance metrics are complimented by appropriate narrative that 

explains further detail and provides a richer context to the performance outcomes.  

This will enable a more detailed follow up to allow learning to be extracted for future 

improvement.  There should be an explicit link between the metrics collected and the 

council priorities, ensuring the performance management system provides the most 

relevant information to inform decision-making and planning.  

The council’s medium term financial strategy (MTFS) and forward financial planning 

also needs to be aligned to the priorities and ambition, ensuring there is a positive 

flow of investment and available resources to achieve the desired outcomes.  This 

may require more divergent thinking around borrowing and risk taking which has not 

been a requirement in the past, due to projects being funded by alternative income 

sources. 

The councils covid pandemic response was excellent, ensuring communities were 

protected and supported during a significantly challenging and unprecedented time.  

As a result of the swift response peers were given many examples of how teams and 

individuals were able to work effectively across organisational structures and by 

embracing technology to work remotely.  The current working arrangements are 

positively supported by a redesigned workspace, ensuring the experienced 

collaboration and team working is further built on to support the council’s priorities. 

Peers were impressed by the leadership and risk exercised to invest in the physical 

work environment whilst the future views on work practises and working out the ‘new 

normal’ were emergent and open to debate. 

Upon peers arriving at Elizabeth House, Dereham (Council HQ) there was an explicit 

112

http://www.local.gov.uk/
mailto:info@local.gov.uk


 

13 
18 Smith Square, London, SW1P 3HZ     www.local.gov.uk      Telephone 020 7664 3000      Email info@local.gov.uk      Chief Executive: Mark Lloyd  

Local Government Association company number 11177145 Improvement and Development Agency for Local Government company number 03675577 

 

 
  

reference to diversity and inclusion through the physical display of posters, bunting 

and images supporting the ‘Norwich Pride’ month. Breckland is an official supporter 

of Norwich Pride month helping to raise awareness of LGBT+ issues in the region. 

The council has events and programmes planned throughout the year to raise 

awareness within the workplace and wider community of the district as being fully 

inclusive to everyone and the council as a welcoming employer for all staff.  Peers 

commended the senior management team on their equality, diversity and inclusion 

(EDI) working group that will further embed equality in the workplace and with 

communities through operational delivery. Peers were also pleased to hear policies 

will be reviewed and a positive push on collecting and using EDI data.  

4.2. Organisational and place leadership  

Throughout the many peer challenge meetings and focus groups there was a 

consistent message that the council has strong collaborative leadership from the 

Leader of the council and the Chief Executive, both are trusted and respected by 

partners.  

Partners speak positively about their engagement with the council and how working 

together has and continues to provide effective support to communities, for example 

the Daisy Project, the Charles Burrell Centre and the Riverside Leisure Complex.  

Peers found that there was often minimal recognition from the community for projects 

the council has supported or facilitated.  It may be the intention to work quietly behind 

the scenes to support partners fronting initiatives and delivery, however, peers 

suggest there is benefit in developing a corporate communication plan aligned to the 

corporate priorities.  

The future of Breckland is encapsulated in one of the council’s priorities ‘Future 

Breckland – Thriving People and Places.  The strategy for place will be underpinned 

and informed by a robust evidence base informing needs and aspiration that will be 

captured in a shared vision.  The strategy will have a focus on the five market towns 

detailing projects that deliver outcomes for each location and collectively for the 

Breckland district.  Peers were impressed with the level of engagement with 20,000 

people consulted so far in the development of place-based visions.  

Peers recommend building on the good relationships of the Leader and Chief 

113

http://www.local.gov.uk/
mailto:info@local.gov.uk
https://www.daisyprogramme.org.uk/
https://www.charlesburrellcentre.org.uk/
https://www.breckland.gov.uk/article/3970/Thetford-Riverside-Leisure-Complex


 

14 
18 Smith Square, London, SW1P 3HZ     www.local.gov.uk      Telephone 020 7664 3000      Email info@local.gov.uk      Chief Executive: Mark Lloyd  

Local Government Association company number 11177145 Improvement and Development Agency for Local Government company number 03675577 

 

 
  

Executive externally and continue to further develop the role Breckland plays in the 

wider region and economy, for example infrastructure and links with neighbouring 

Cambridgeshire and the tech corridor. 

Peers understand that a recent residents survey has been conducted with the 

responses and analytics currently being prepared.  The refreshed survey will provide 

the opportunity to cross-check against the current plans ensuring the council’s 

priorities are informed in an iterative way, ensuring latest community need can be 

considered and inform policy making.  

The end of the ten-year strategic partnership with South Holland District Council 

concluded over a year ago.  Reference to the ‘de-coupling’ from staff, members and 

partners is consistently positive.  The de-coupling has delivered notable increased 

management capacity and a refreshed and stronger focus on Breckland as a place.  

Staff and partners feel that the sole focus on Breckland has increased management 

resilience, as well as feedback that wellbeing is likely to have been improved. 

Staff referred to the de-coupling being managed very sensitively and praised 

management for handling the transition with respect and dignity.  Peers saw this as 

positive and consistent with the culture the council is seeking to nurture as part of the 

#Teambreckland way of working and behaving. 

Peers were informed that cabinet and senior management relationships are good 

and, in most cases, the agile working arrangements have not been a barrier to good 

communications and collaborative working. 

Cabinet is collegiate and in early stages of team development following a reallocation 

of roles and portfolios.  Council priorities are allocated to each cabinet member for 

leadership.  Resilience would be improved if the collective cabinet universally shared 

ownership for outcomes e.g. every cabinet member owns Breckland 2035.  Peers 

recognise the cabinet is in early stages of development and would expect increased 

collaboration and shared ownership over time and note this dynamic as a helpful 

observation.  

 

 

114

http://www.local.gov.uk/
mailto:info@local.gov.uk


 

15 
18 Smith Square, London, SW1P 3HZ     www.local.gov.uk      Telephone 020 7664 3000      Email info@local.gov.uk      Chief Executive: Mark Lloyd  

Local Government Association company number 11177145 Improvement and Development Agency for Local Government company number 03675577 

 

 
  

4.3. Governance and culture 

The relationships and working practices between officers and members were 

described as good and effective.  Staff spoke passionately about a culture of 

kindness.  People care about each other and staff feel supported, trusted, valued and 

empowered in their roles.  Staff specifically highlight how well they were supported 

through the pandemic.  

Peers were given multiple examples where the individual requirements from staff 

dealing with significantly personal challenges have been carefully considered with 

supportive interventions to enable them to continue at work and be productive whilst 

balancing the health and wellbeing implications.  #Teambreckland cannot always be 

described fluently by staff and members, however the behaviours and stories shared 

with peers clearly demonstrated the sentiment and willingness to create a work 

culture that allows staff to bring their whole selves to work and respect diversity.  

The design of the Headquarters office space has acted as a catalyst for improved 

working practices and stimulus for creating a new work culture and identity for the 

council.  Although many staff benefit from the new working environment some remain 

in the Thetford Office (Breckland House) and therefore do not experience the new 

working arrangements.  Staff based at Breckland House refer to themselves as being 

based a long way from the HQ building.   Peers were impressed with the design of 

the different work spaces and see and feel the notable ‘buzz’ around the building and 

see how the different zones were being used from team collaboration, quiet 

independent working, using touch down bench working and enjoying the social space 

for downtime over lunch.   

The council is open in sharing their learning and experiences within the sector by 

showcasing the work environment to multiple councils.  Peers saw this as positive 

support to sector led improvement.  

Staff and managers are clearly proud of their work environment and see it as their 

responsibility to drive further development and ensure staff have what they need to 

be most effective in their roles.  Peers were made aware of some plans to change 

the work environment, based on staff engagement and feedback.  A further example 

of the culture of empowerment and #Teambreckland, ensuring staff are supported to 

deliver the councils priorities. 

115

http://www.local.gov.uk/
mailto:info@local.gov.uk


 

16 
18 Smith Square, London, SW1P 3HZ     www.local.gov.uk      Telephone 020 7664 3000      Email info@local.gov.uk      Chief Executive: Mark Lloyd  

Local Government Association company number 11177145 Improvement and Development Agency for Local Government company number 03675577 

 

 
  

Culture development will be an iterative process and will also be underpinned by 

some of the policy, custom and practice exercised within the organisation.  New more 

unconventional policies will reinforce change and support the development of 

organisational culture.  Some historic views or practices may be holding the council 

back, serving as a corporate memory, for example there was repetitive reference to 

risk and financial borrowing which may have served you well for the past, however 

with fast changing external factors and with a high desire for place shaping through 

‘Future Breckland’ the approach to risk management and borrowing will need 

reviewing to ensure this is congruent with your direction of travel.  

More formal arrangements are in place for staff engagement through a staff forum, 

this was seen as effective and working well as the council continues with its 

transformation and organisational development. The forum serves as a consulting 

body, sounding board for policy development, testing concepts and planning social 

events.  

Peers were given many examples of how career development has been positively 

achieved through access to learning and development and involvement in projects 

and live work experiences. The opportunity to grow skills and experience was viewed 

as an important factor in staff engagement and the council was seen to be doing this 

well. The commitment to learning and development is further evidenced by the 

implementation of a new ‘General Purposes Committee’ which has oversight of all 

member and staff development.  

As the council works towards achieving the council priorities, peers feel it would be 

prudent for all members, including the opposition to have a stronger understanding of 

the roles and responsibilities within their communities to ensure improved 

engagement and in line with how the council wishes to operate. 

Communication with all members is critical to ensure there is a focus and clarity 

around priorities.  A clearly understood and repeated narrative should be considered 

to allow  all members to understand the current challenges and context for decision 

making. Finding new ways to communicate with members will support with 

engagement and drive an increased shared ownership e.g. Breckland 2035 and 

shared responsibility for the council’s financial transformation ‘Evolve’.  

The Governance and Audit Committee provides robust oversight on risk and has a 

116

http://www.local.gov.uk/
mailto:info@local.gov.uk


 

17 
18 Smith Square, London, SW1P 3HZ     www.local.gov.uk      Telephone 020 7664 3000      Email info@local.gov.uk      Chief Executive: Mark Lloyd  

Local Government Association company number 11177145 Improvement and Development Agency for Local Government company number 03675577 

 

 
  

forward programme running into 2023.  The risk appetite is heavily influenced by a 

historic narrative and past experiences which needs challenging to ensure there is 

more congruency with the council’s direction of travel and ambition.  The move 

towards social value in balance with commercial returns runs through to the 

committee and is consistent with the direction of the council.  

Businesses indicated that the current planning application process could be 

improved, citing the amount of time taken to review applications. Peers suggest 

further feedback from the business community may provide the opportunity for 

related process improvements. It is recognised that some of the challenges noted as 

part of the planning process are not just local to Breckland, they are national issues.  

4.4. Financial planning and management 

The council’s current financial position is sound and is well managed.  A balanced 

budget for 2022/23 was approved by full council in February 2022.  General fund 

reserves are maintained above the minimum level at £2.5m. The financial position 

has been positively supported by excellent commercial acumen and a historic track 

record of delivery to generate revenue income, this in turn has led to very low levels 

of council tax income.  There is also a notable shift from a full focus on commercial 

return to being balanced with social return.  

Over the duration of the current medium term strategic financial plan there are clear 

budget gaps that need closing with savings or income generation or a combination of 

both. £0.5m of savings are required this year, with further savings beyond the next 

two-years as documented in the council’s budget setting report 2022-23. The view 

from managers confirms the easier and less risky savings options have already been 

taken, leaving more complex decisions to be taken, for example, charging for 

services that are currently funded to off-set budget gaps with necessary new income.   

External financial pressures are evolving and changing at pace providing additional 

challenge to ensure those risks are managed, for example peers were informed that 

the cost pressure of inflation currently stands at circa £200k and increasing and 

contractual cost of living increases for staff pay will need to be funded whilst national 

negotiations are still live (circa £180k at 2%).   

The current custom and practice and shared views around financial borrowing 

117

http://www.local.gov.uk/
mailto:info@local.gov.uk


 

18 
18 Smith Square, London, SW1P 3HZ     www.local.gov.uk      Telephone 020 7664 3000      Email info@local.gov.uk      Chief Executive: Mark Lloyd  

Local Government Association company number 11177145 Improvement and Development Agency for Local Government company number 03675577 

 

 
  

appears to be incongruous with the scale of ambition.  There was a consistent sense 

of pride that the council does not have any financial borrowing and very low levels of 

council tax and historic investments may be adversely impacting approaches to risk 

taking.  Given the scale of ambition and focus on the five market towns, discussing 

the attributes such as risk appetite and approach to financing associated 

programmes and projects is advised to ensure those options are explored now in 

readiness to speed up decision-making and not adversely impact delivery.  

The council’s joint venture with the ‘Land Group’ referred to as ‘Breckland Bridge’ is 

well placed with a pipeline of projects which could reduce the costs associated with 

temporary accommodation as a vehicle for directly tackling social housing issues.  A 

review of governance arrangements is advised to ensure the joint venture continues 

to be fully aligned to the council’s priorities and outcomes with robust oversight and 

challenge, ensuring associated financial benefits are realised.   

The emerging housing strategy needs to be realised and funded and should be seen 

in the round, for example, in context to accessing investment funding, reducing 

temporary housing costs and the MTFS budget gaps.  

The ‘Inspiring Communities’ programme is embedded with the ability to extend 

through third sector partners.  The ongoing financial sustainability will be achieved 

through the partnership arrangements, having been initiated through council 

investment.  

The financial challenges and solutions need to be owned collectively by all officers 

and members.  The financial challenges were inconsistently understood, although 

peers understand the plans for closing the financial gaps are emergent and in early 

stages of development.  All staff and members need to be fully aware of the financial 

context, this will support a collective ownership and drive diversity and creativity in 

achieving the outcomes.  

The scheduled financial awareness training for non-finance officers will support 

greater ownership and understanding throughout the council.  

 

 

 

118

http://www.local.gov.uk/
mailto:info@local.gov.uk


 

19 
18 Smith Square, London, SW1P 3HZ     www.local.gov.uk      Telephone 020 7664 3000      Email info@local.gov.uk      Chief Executive: Mark Lloyd  

Local Government Association company number 11177145 Improvement and Development Agency for Local Government company number 03675577 

 

 
  

4.5. Capacity for improvement 

The transition from the strategic partnership with South Holland is seen as extremely 

positive and impactful with benefits throughout the council and has driven a more 

focused and stronger emphasis on place.  Staff describe working for the same goal 

and the organisation being more coherent. The structure feels more simplified with a 

stronger focus on Breckland, offering more breadth and depth.   

#Teambreckland lives throughout the organisation. Staff are talking and living 

#Teambreckland in their work behaviours.  The Leader, Chief Executive and senior 

team have been exemplar in role modelling new behaviours.  The culture is different 

and continues to evolve driven by high levels of empowerment, flexibility and being 

treated as individuals.  

The council is experiencing the same national trends concerning recruitment 

challenges, although the new work environment, organisational culture, progressive 

equality, diversity and inclusion is positively attracting candidates to apply for vacant 

roles.  Traditional approaches to attracting candidates have been replaced with more 

uplifting and inspiring personal recruitment videos and in person building tours which 

showcase the council and maximise the refreshed work environment.  Peers were 

impressed with the creativity and innovative approaches being taken and could see 

how empowerment is driving the workforce to think outside the box to overcome 

issues. 

The positive investment in the headquarters office environment is exemplary and is 

providing tangible return on investment with the workforce, morale, organisational 

culture, collaboration and recruitment.  

The council has invested in 10 apprentices, ensuring there is a good internal supply 

of skills and capacity contributing to the workforce plan.  A new CMT programme will 

support leadership with acquiring skills in leadership, coaching, mentoring, finance, 

governance and political awareness.   

There is a drive for efficiency through reviewing low level transactional activities to 

automate and to free up resource and capacity for value added work.  Managers can 

bid for investment to support processes improvement projects.  Peers were given 

examples of plans to automate payments and use chat bots with staff central to 

driving quality outcomes.  

119

http://www.local.gov.uk/
mailto:info@local.gov.uk


 

20 
18 Smith Square, London, SW1P 3HZ     www.local.gov.uk      Telephone 020 7664 3000      Email info@local.gov.uk      Chief Executive: Mark Lloyd  

Local Government Association company number 11177145 Improvement and Development Agency for Local Government company number 03675577 

 

 
  

Managers seek early engagement with HR on service changes and the relationship 

with Unison at local and regional level is positive. The council are evolving their work 

practices and there is a risk this will outpace or be limited by national terms and 

conditions. Members receive weekly reports on service reviews and policy changes 

providing oversight and for awareness.  

The councils ‘Inspiring Communities’ programme and external relationships are a 

springboard for positive change in the community.  The convening role played by the 

council has enabled partners to take forward their respective areas to protect and 

support the community. 

The council has strong place-based relationships and should pivot towards an 

increased outward focus and explore the opportunities outside of the Breckland 

district further within Norfolk and neighbouring geography, for example 

Cambridgeshire’s tech corridor. 

Investment is required in a place strategy with strong emphasis on housing and 

business growth opportunities. The council should consider how it can maximise the 

opportunity to use strategic planning levers to deliver the council’s priorities. 

There is an opportunity to strengthen alignment between the housing functions to 

ensure the housing system benefits from increased social housing output.  The 

council should review bringing housing operations, housing strategy and strategic 

planning together to support improved joined up working and development of shared 

performance objectives. The best way to embed positive strategic outcomes through 

development management should also be considered, when the contract with Capita 

comes up for renewal. . 

Increased capacity should be explored through extending the partner base providing 

more community insight and a broader platform for delivery. 

 

 

 

 

 

120

http://www.local.gov.uk/
mailto:info@local.gov.uk


 

21 
18 Smith Square, London, SW1P 3HZ     www.local.gov.uk      Telephone 020 7664 3000      Email info@local.gov.uk      Chief Executive: Mark Lloyd  

Local Government Association company number 11177145 Improvement and Development Agency for Local Government company number 03675577 

 

 
  

4.6. Inspiring Communities 

The council were keen to support the most vulnerable within the district and by 

facilitating a conversation with partners whilst investing £1m focused on protecting 

and supporting the community with a social return.  From the outset, the council was 

comfortable that not all benefits would directly be attributed the council for example 

prevention could influence reduction in demand for other partners in the system, 

saving money and delivering better health outcomes.  

The ‘Inspiring Communities’ programme is understood and well supported internally 

and externally with partners and the community.   

Inspiring Communities has realised its ambition to the extent that the programme 

seems to be self-sustaining. The council’s investment is delivering considerable 

social value and provides the opportunity for long-term benefits to health and social 

care with cost avoidance within the broader health system. 

The model was seen as positive by peers, with upfront start-up investment now 

sustained by voluntary and community resources. Opportunities for further funding, 

should they be needed, could be drawn down through UKSPF funding, if that was 

deemed a priority.  

The Charles Burrell Centre serves as a hub to many supportive community services 

and also hosts the districts first social supermarket.  Peers were impressed with the 

concept, designed to support low-income households with purchasing discounted 

food and household items with dignity and respect.  This is the same model applied 

to the rural food bus, ensuring food finds its way to those in need living within more 

rural settings.  

Although the performance metrics and evidence base for Inspiring Communities is 

still largely work-in-progress, there is evidence of the success through the domestic 

abuse support and social prescribing activity which alongside the anecdotal evidence 

suggests the programme is delivering.  Current performance measures require 

further development to determine successful delivery. 

The future of the programme could be improved through the provision of data from 

partners.  More local and detailed data may contribute towards more focused support 

and creating insight that informs planning and where best to target resource and 

interventions. 

121

http://www.local.gov.uk/
mailto:info@local.gov.uk
https://www.charlesburrellcentre.org.uk/


 

22 
18 Smith Square, London, SW1P 3HZ     www.local.gov.uk      Telephone 020 7664 3000      Email info@local.gov.uk      Chief Executive: Mark Lloyd  

Local Government Association company number 11177145 Improvement and Development Agency for Local Government company number 03675577 

 

 
  

Building on the positive relationship with the CCG would be helpful to increase the 

understanding and opportunities the Inspiring Communities model could provide to 

further prevention projects. 

The council should reflect on the next steps for the model, exploring how other health 

inequalities can be supported.  Working with the CCG and the community should 

inform the residents survey outcomes and contribute towards further planning and 

targeted activity. 

  

5. Next steps 
 

It is recognised that senior political and managerial leadership will want to consider, 

discuss and reflect on these findings. Both the peer team and LGA are keen to build 

on the relationships formed through the peer challenge. The CPC process includes a 

six-month check-in session, which provides space for the council’s senior leadership 

to update peers on its progress against the action plan and discuss next steps. 

In the meantime, Rachel Litherland, Principal Adviser (East of England Region) is the 

main contact between your authority and the Local Government Association. Rachel 

is available to discuss any further support the council requires. 

rachel.litherland@local.gov.uk, 07795 076834. 

122

http://www.local.gov.uk/
mailto:info@local.gov.uk
mailto:rachel.litherland@local.gov.uk

	Agenda
	1 Minutes
	8 Quarter 1 Performance Report
	Appendix 1 for Q1 performance report
	Appendix 2 for Q1 performance report

	9 Quarter 1 Financial Performance Report 2022-23
	Appendix 1 for Quarter 1 Financial Performance Report 2022-23

	10 Attleborough Leisure Project
	Appendix 1 for Attleborough Leisure Project
	Sheets
	010 - Proposed Ground Floor Plan - Option 1


	Appendix 2 for Attleborough Leisure Project
	Sheets
	101 - Sections


	Appendix 3 for Attleborough Leisure Project
	Sheets
	201 - Elevations


	Appendix 4 for Attleborough Leisure Project
	Sheets
	502 - Site Plan


	Appendix 5 for Attleborough Leisure Project

	11 Breckland Bridge Business Plan Report
	Appendix A 2022 Business Plan redcated for publication
	Appendix 1 for Breckland Bridge Business Plan Report
	Appendix 2 for Breckland Bridge Business Plan Report

	12 Breckland Local Plan: Partial Review
	13 Corporate Peer Challenge
	Appendix A


